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A Fish Story - Part 1

Circle of Friends




At a distance of half a kilometer, the Federation starship Banshee, under special detachment to the clandestine department known as Section 31, orbited a large asteroid research station by the undignified name of Rouge.


Rouge, as in the cosmetic. The choice had been purposeful and not an accidental letter transliteration of "Rogue".


Rouge had formerly been an AVON facility built to manufacture a line of blush; many high-powered defenses had been installed in the asteroid's crust to dissuade competitors in the cutthroat cosmetics business from undertaking "hostile takeovers." When it became clear the Sultry Klingon Warrior line of products was the newest of AVON's stars, a decision was made to construct a larger complex in the system. Starfleet was offered Rouge at a steep discount. Cash-strapped, Starfleet eagerly accepted.


"Sir," said Lieutenant Commander Vince DiSanto as he squinted at the latest tactical read-out from a skirmish occurring half-way across the star system, "looks like AVON facility Blush has beaten off the Mary-Kay aggressors."


Commander Charlotte Burns, absently toying with her nose ring as she watched the unexciting view of ultra-ultraviolet top secret Rouge on the main viewscreen grumbled wordlessly. "They going to make a swing by us as they leave the system?"


"Nope. After all, we don't carry a secret recipe to top-selling lipstick on board. Why would they bother?"


Charlotte replied darkly, "One of the most closely guarded Federation research stations in the galaxy..." The rest was unintelligible. Actually, the entire bridge crew had thoughts running in a direction counter to corporate squabbles four AU distant: what was happening in the ready room?


Several days prior, Banshee had received instructions to abort her mission of playing hide-and-seek behind the neutral zone and hightail it to these coordinates. The odd station, constructed intelligently and cheaply inside an asteroid instead of sitting in the open as millions of metric tons of easily targeted metal, had at first elicited much talk among the crew...until it was learned no one would beam down. Instead, a terse message from Admiral Jared Newman, head of Section 31, ordered Banshee's Betazoid Captain Jad Vorezze and Vulcan "experience" officer Captain Velorn to meet with him at 0900 in the starship's ready room. At the appropriate time, a security detachment had met the admiral and three aides in the transporter room, then escorted them to the bridge. The sixsome had been in the room for over an hour now.


"No! No! No! No! I'm not going to put myself, and this crew, through that hell again! Not even close! Not for the Federation, not for anybody!" The door to the ready room suddenly opened on Jad's shout, equal parts dismay and forced bravado. With eyes riveted on the viewscreen, the bridge crew attempted to listen without giving the impression of eavesdropping. The doors slid shut, cutting Admiral Newman's quiet response immediately following the first syllables.


Quiet reigned for several minutes during which not a breath was audibly drawn. The doors began to slide open and close, whooshing first one direction, then the other, as Jad was seen to pace within his own office. Open, close. Open, close. Open, close. A disjointed one-sided conversation heavy with overtones of pleading emerged.


Jad abruptly came to an unintentional stop in front of the doors, causing them to hold in the open position. With back to the bridge, he proceeded to reply to an unheard question from someone within the room.


"Why am I trying to refuse assignment? Why? You have the nerve to ask me that question? Well, let me tell you, in short sentences even an admiral can understand." Breath was held by the bridge crew; Charlotte not-so-secretly hoped Jad would be busted in rank for his uncharacteristically impertinent attitude to a superior officer. "Every time Starfleet has tested that insane BIC protocol - Borg Internment and Containment my a** - something has gone horribly wrong. It does not work...it does everything but work. It attracts cubes. It sends Starfleet personnel over into Borg clutches for a round of free assimilations. Who knows what will happen next? 


"And I had the hickey from Hell when the Banshee's doctor removed that damn Borg neural transceiver from my neck.


"Therefore, I adamantly will NOT allow myself or this crew participate in the insane plan Section 31 has cooked up. Absolutely not!!"


The door silently shut on the final word, exclamation points audible. Suddenly Charlotte didn't want control of Banshee. In fact, she, along with many others who had participated in an unanticipated trip to the Delta Quadrant last year, felt extremely nervous. Perhaps a suicide run on Blush or defection to Mary-Kay would be preferable.





*****





Many hundreds of light years from Rouge, Waystation, the colonization and exploration gateway to the newly opened Beta Quadrant, was under attack. The forces, however, were not foreign, not alien, not "hostile" in the traditional sense. However, Captain Lisa Beck was openly pissed, likening the descent of the black painted Federation ships and the stupid orders from on-high as an assault nonetheless. Why couldn't Starfleet at least have waited for the new-station smell to dissipate before turning her private world upside-down?


"Quarantine my a**," muttered Lisa to her second-in-command Lieutenant Commander Walter Morales as she stood near the center of the Starfleet Square Mall, next to a convenient column. "Have you ever heard such bulls**t in your life? 'Silicon-based space parasites have been detected in your area and all non-essential personnel must be evacuated; and no ships are allowed within twenty lights of the station.' What a freighter-load of targ crap."


Walter did not respond, not when Lisa was in this mood. Both silently watched as black clothed soldiers, supposedly not marines although they had the same bulldog look, attempted to herd a pair of Andorians out of their restaurant. By the noise coming from the area, they were not encountering success. Dillion had barricaded himself in his store behind an impressive array of high-level forcefields backed by a metal barrier constructed of material usually reserved for the plating of warship hulls. The not-quite-marines were similarly daunted there, weapons which would grant access normally mounted as primary offense on starships: hand-helds just didn't pack the oomph.


"I mean," continued Beck as yet another soldier was bodily thrown out of Ic'hasssssst V'kelsnet, liberally covered in a tangy red sauce, "I have never heard of 'Section 31'. Rumors, yes, about some covert-ops group, but I didn't truly believe it. And why would such an organization be performing prosaic duties such as evacuation, anyway? There are so many holes in the story I could drive a Galaxy-class ship through it. 'Special coating on the evacuation and inspection ships'? Sure, whatever. And why, if there is a danger of hull breech, don't they remove the command crew as well?"


Walter cleared his throat, "Sean just told me a short time ago our marine detachment aren't being evacuated with the rest. The commander of our new friends down there has also asked about billet space for his overeager team of thugs." Walter referred to Lieutenant Sean Russell, Waystation's chief of security.


One of Lisa's eyebrows rose, "Really? That's interesting. I hadn't heard that one, or else those-that-be haven't seen fit to inform me about the request yet. I've already seen space has been assigned to the multitudes of 'inspectors' we are about to be deluged with, as soon as unnecessaries are removed."


"Have you any idea on the time frame?"


An extremely loud noise from the direction of Dillon's Supply Depot interrupted the conversation. Three soldiers lay on the ground stunned, piece of mining equipment in the center of the trio a smoking ruin. It seemed Dillion had managed to smuggle a few illegal offensive weapons into the station to protect his stock. Lisa just shook her dark-haired head, expression turning black as she contemplated Walter's relevant question.


"No direct answer yet, although I will wring it out of the bastards eventually. Section 31, those people that I've talked to, keep reassuring me this supposed inspection and decontamination will only require a couple of weeks. However, one or two have hinted the actual time may be on the order of months."


Walter gave a low whistle. "That is a long time."


Lisa nodded. "And to top it off, when the so-called inspectors come, they will bring a load of classified equipment we on the station are not allowed to see. My understanding is that a significant portion of it will be installed onto the station."


A wince from Walter. "Craig is going to have kittens."


"Yup." Like any chief engineer, Lieutenant Craig Porter liked to know exactly what was being attached to his systems and how it would affect important things, like life support and replicators.


Another pair of bodies hurled out of Ic'hasssssst V'kelsnet, followed by a hailstorm of unidentified vegetables and one or two pieces of uncooked meat. Several soldiers loitered outside the eatery in a compact knot, obviously waiting for a superior officer to tell them how to proceed. A similar group was consolidating near Dillon's, carefully outside the range of the store's weaponry.


Lisa sighed, turning away from the scene. "At least the show is going to get on the road soon. After the station is evacuated and the 'quarantine' firmly set into place, after the decom/inspection teams and their classified equipment get here, several additional vessels will arrive. We get briefed then."


"Do you think they are going to tell us what it really happening?"


A snort. "No."





*****





"Are the sprinklers fixed yet?" asked Captain Andrew Baxter from his command chair in the center of the bridge. He was quite damp, although no longer dripping; a towel hung around his neck to prevent additional water from soaking his already drenched uniform. Aboard the Federation starship Explorer very few dry places remained since the back-up fire suppressant system went haywire, and the bridge was one of them. Unfortunately, Baxter's office wasn't, which is where he had been when the indoor shower had begun.


"No, sir," replied Lieutenant Megan Hartley. She was in charge of engineering while the chief, Lieutenant Commander Chris Richards, was away on the Klingon homeworld pursuing his dream of writing a network television series. Her enlarged head was on the main viewscreen, water streaming down her face. The background of main engineering sported many people frantically rushing from semi-dry spot to semi-dry spot, attempting to bring the problem under control. One nameless crewman, dressed in bright yellow rain gear with a festive miniature umbrella attached to his head, was busily hammering at a pipe exposed in the bulkhead.


Baxter frowned, "Well, hurry up, then. Do you know how bad wet animals smell?" He motioned for the screen to blank and be replaced with a view of stationary stars. Someone snickered behind Baxter's back. "Whoever that was, do that again and I'll put you on pet drying detail."


Momentary quiet reigned, broken seconds later as Lieutenant Commander Kristen Larkin, android, fielded an incoming transmission. "Starfleet is calling, sir. Priority transmission. Do you want to take it here or in your office."


"Is it still raining in there?"


Larken quickly linked to the computer and ran an internal environmental sweep of the ship. The process took milliseconds, and only that long because the height of water in the computer core was approaching two meters. She should probably report the latter to engineering before the Explorer short-circuited herself with the digital version of a lobotomy. "Yes, sir."


"Then put it on screen here."


A bored human dispatcher with ensign pips appeared on the viewscreen. He squinted at a display of words running below his end of the transmission, giving the impression of reading to someone located on the deckplates of the Explorer bridge. Regulation cut hair of bright purple - the cheap dye variety that cannot be washed out no matter what the manufacturer claims - enlivened the scene; his eyebrows were a more prosaic dark brown. "'Explorer. Priority. You are hereby ordered to break off your current assignment and travel to Waystation at top warp.'" The voice was the dull monotone of someone wishing they were elsewhere.


Baxter blinked. "Why?" It wasn't that the astrometric survey to chart dark matter was thrilling, but Starfleet was usually a bit more forthcoming when an assignment was interrupted.


The ensign shrugged, meeting the eyes of Explorer's captain for the first time. "I don't know. Wait, there's a bit more." He proceeded to read additional text. "'You will be briefed of your new assignment upon arrival. Inform engineering and security crew of prototype weaponry to be installed.'" Pause, eyes returning to the level. "That's all, sir."


Lieutenant J'hana, chief tactical officer, quietly began a small Andorian jig at the good news. Baxter sighed. "Fine, whatever. We'll get there as soon as we can. We've a tiny bit of maintenance to take care of first before we can get going."


"Yes, sir. I'll note that in my shift log, sir," said the ensign before he signed off.


Message received, Baxter returned his full attention to the very important task of air drying while waiting for the malfunctioning sprinklers to be fixed.





*****





Three heads of their personal domains - Waystation, Explorer, Banshee - sat in a conference room on Waystation. Baxter and Beck knew each other and had already exchanged greetings. Conversely, Vorezze remained silent, shaking his head at any friendly overture: he seemed to know what was about to occur, and his worried face was not reassuring. No aides nor security were present, only the three captains.


Jad occasionally rubbed the back of his neck. A nervous habit?


The door slid open, admitting an admiral and four "aides," the latter of which whom sported more than a passing resemblance to mastiffs. All carried miscellaneous PADDs and bits of paper; and all wore the black uniform Lisa and Baxter had learned to associate with the mysterious Section 31. Jad stood up.


"Admiral Newman, I'd like to get the full story in the open now. They," the Betazoid nodded his head at the only Starfleet in the room with normal uniforms, "have a right to know what is going on."


The admiral harrumphed, then brusquely told the aides to distribute PADDs. He himself instructed the computer to begin the visual presentation after inserting a data crystal into a port.


"Vorezze, you've already heard some of this, so sit down and shut up." Jad sat down. "You two, listen up. By now I'm sure you've figured out the quarantine is bogus." Lisa snorted. "The reasons are very good. Starfleet, specifically Section 31, is about to embark on a top-secret experiment to test new technology, and hopefully acquire even more advanced technologies in the process. The survival of the Federation is at stake. As you well know, the Dominion War drained our resources. While other powers in the Alpha Quadrant suffered similarly, spies have relayed information hinting ship depletion may not necessarily be what it seems. These are perilous times, when the fate of empires totter..." Admiral Newman began to ramble, invoking numerous cliches. One of the aides quietly fell asleep on his feet in the corner.


Baxter raised his hand. "Sir? What exactly is going on?"


Newman reawoke to the present. "Ahem. Computer, lambda one." On the screen, a crude ring appeared, nothing more than rocky pearls strung on wire. It seemed small, until one understood the specks flicking around the periphery were actually construction robots. Superimposed scale indicated the radius of the ring to be two kilometers. "Federation scientists have recently discovered a possible use for the lambda particles producing by bolonite ore: transporting objects over vast distances nearly instantaneously. While this would seem to be a godsend, a way around warp, it isn't. Not only does one need to make a terminus where you want to go, the process of linking two ends to make a tunnel able to transport something larger than a probe has been calculated to require the energy output of at least one yellow dwarf star. That is technology beyond our grasp, or that of anyone else we know about. Warp is still better. Besides, it took a lot of work to construct this one ring out of bolonite asteroids. Instead, we are going to use it to go fishing." Newman paused.


Lisa and Baxter looked at each other. The briefing thus far did not sound good. Usually when the Federation went fishing they caught something that was very difficult to throw back. Vorezze just stared straight ahead at a point one meter in front of his nose, face expressionless.


"Computer, BIC one." Scenes of starships shooting at unseen objects with modified deflector beams filled the screen. It appeared to be stock footage from classic adventure films like "Captain Marshall and his Rogue Fleet." Lisa frowned...she could have sworn one of the multitudes of ships which had flashed by was the Secondprize. The admiral continued.


"The BIC protocol has been in production for many years, refinement from theory to weapon a lengthy process. BIC stands for Borg Internment and Containment." Another shared glance between Baxter and Lisa: Borg was not a good thing. Fishing and Borg, two seemingly unrelated topics, was even worse. Starfleet was about to get their butts kicked, again, and they would be at the epicenter. "Experimentation indicates activation of bolonite ore by a low power burst from the BIC protocol may attract Borg cubes as a side-effect to the desired result of jamming their communication system. Our engineers conjecture it may be due to an inadvertent incorporation of a lambda particle attracting substance in their hulls. The actual reason is unknown, however, as we do not have a whole cube to study. Therefore, we are going to get one. Computer, Newman one."


Computer rendered diagrams and ships flashed upon the screen. There were at least five Federation ships involved, including three tugs and one vessel which looked disturbingly like the Explorer. The larger Banshee hung off to one side in a relatively safe position of observation. A ring, the blind lambda terminus, sat off-center; a broken arrow arced away towards a Borg cube. A large Borg cube. A large Borg cube with many weapons and methods to destroy small Federation starships.


"The plan is simple. One ship, the Explorer, will be outfitted with the modified BIC weaponry. The ring is being positioned as we speak. The Explorer will use the lambda activation protocol upon the ore and wait for a cube to appear. Once it arrives, the cube will then be targeted with BIC - which does work now - to sever its link with the Collective. Explorer will then retreat to a trap set up in these asteroids over here. The trap is a series of spun buckywire webs which will be electrified by special power plants both stationary and on the tugs once the cube is entangled. Enough current will be unleashed to fry the cube, killing the drones and any internal security systems, yet allowing plenty of intact technology to study. The cube will then be brought back to Waystation for initial dissection."


Baxter's jaw had dropped open at the description, eyes locked on the viewscreen with a hypothetical perfect netting of a Borg cube. So many things could go wrong...so many things! And all of them ended with the bait destroyed, else part of the Borg Collective. Lisa was in a similar state of shock after hearing how a supposedly dead cube would be parked outside her station for the Directors knew how long. What would guarantee it was truly expired? The admiral would surely evacuate himself at the first hint of trouble, leaving the mess behind for her to deal with.


Vorezze broke the stunned silence, turning sullen eyes to admiral Newman. "Tell them the rest."


"There's more?" Lisa regained voice first, incredulous surprise coloring her words. Baxter was still coming to grips that he and his crew were to be dangled like minnows on a hook in pike infested waters.


The admiral cleared his voice. "Computer, off." The screen went dark. "Although it is not widely known, Starfleet already employs a limited amount of Borg technology. However, as Section 31 is not an official part of the chain of command, and nor can it be for the good of the Federation, we cannot request samples for our engineers to study. And it isn't very good Borg tech, anyway." The last statement was waved off with a gesture of dismissal.


Baxter tore himself away from the vanished presentation. His face scrunched up in thought. "Borg technology...Borg technology. I've heard rumors through old contacts in Inventory that they got their hands on something. Only applicable to inventory, though. Can't use it in weapons, propulsion, or anything else." A horrible dawning crossed Andy's face. "You're jealous, aren't you?"


The admiral harrumphed, snapping back, "Don't be ridiculous, captain. Squabbling among Starfleet departments like children on the playground? That isn't dignified. No, we need samples of advanced technology, something with applications beyond tagging pieces of crap for the bean-counters." 


Baxter winced. They were jealous. He carefully set his face into a neutral expression.


Lisa had a more important question. "Excuse me for speaking frankly, sir, but this plan is idiotic, even for Starfleet. We are all going to die or be assimilated. Is there any way to refuse assignment?"


Jad answered before the admiral could, stare riveted on Newman, acid dripping heavily from the monosyllable word which spoke volumes. "No."





*****





Tens of thousands of light years distant from Starfleet plotting, Borg Exploratory-class Cube #347, ship of the imperfectly assimilated, found itself in orbit around a white dwarf. Borg-claimed territory held tens of millions of similar boring stars, outnumbered only by their red dwarf cousins. Little attention was attached to these slowly guttering stellar cores beyond logging them in navigational charts: life more complex the single-cell stage rarely occurred, much less assimilable civilizations, and material resources were generally greater elsewhere.


White dwarf catalogue number 8901763at.67j had been noted several thousand years prior (by an imperfectly assimilated sub-collective...fancy that) to be a the remnant of a low mass yellow dwarf, dead before its time despite the fact it appeared to have formed out of the same nebulous nursery as other stars in the vicinity. Within a span of one million years, give or take an eon in a time period representing a blink on the cosmic scale, eighteen stars ignited their solar furnaces, chasing off the gaseous remains of their birth. For some reason, 8901763at.67j had subsequently matured faster than its similar-mass siblings, evolving into the present-day stellar core at odds to its mates three billion-something youth. The Borg had subsequently dispatched probes to observe 8901763at.67j, replacing the simple robots every few centuries. The phenomenon was not studied out of curiosity, but instead based on a low probability chance the premature aging was not natural and might lead to military applications. For 2,386 Cycles 8901763at.67j remained quiescent.


Three cycles prior, 8901763at.67j had abruptly flared, momentarily peaking in luminosity and energy output alike a novae despite the lack of a companion star to trigger the outburst. The occurrence could not be examined in detail by the probes, themselves little more than a few sensors and a subspace transceiver bolted to a propulsion system. The primary fact gleaned out of the input of limited information was its unnatural origin, unexpected novae hinting at technology manipulating the stellar core. As a minor subset of ten thousand cerebrally-minded drones contemplated the steps necessary to strip a star of its atmosphere to expose the core, the Whole reached the conclusion that additional data was required for model construction. Unfortunately, Cube #347, forty light years away tracking the fading trail of an enigmatic ship from species #8511, was the sole vessel in the area. It was diverted, requiring one cycle to arrive in the system.


A flurry of initial scanning reported an anomaly, not from the star, but instead originating above 8901763at.67j's north pole amongst a cluster of precariously orbiting debris. The signature was of lambda-producing refined bolonite ore. Cube #347 had recently been on the nasty end of several incidents involving the odd material and was reluctant to closely examine the artifact. A mere sub-collective, however, is no match when it comes to the Will of the Greater Consciousness. Cube #347 cautiously approached to investigate.


{What is it?} asked Captain, primary consensus monitor and facilitator of Cube #347. He preferred 4 of 8, as that simple designation meant he was not the baby-sitter for an assignment, but as he was the current consensus node for the sub-collective, "Captain" it was. An obviously sentient-made object floated on the illicit nonBorgStandard viewscreen which hung on one bulkhead of the nodal intersection he frequented when not in his alcove.


Sensors, an insectoid with a radically different view of the universe which she often forced upon the rest of the sub-collective via custom sensor grid configurations, replied, {Sensors has no clue.} She also referred to herself in the third person, not unusual among a forcefully amalgamated civilization which spoke in a "This drone is..." manner, but disquieting when taken in context of drones who routinely used the pronoun "I".


{Well, make conjectures, then,} exasperatedly said Captain. Sensors' mental signature retreated to her own hierarchy for an in-depth examination of archival sensor and engineering profiles to determine possible technological matches or, more likely, near misses.


"It is an odd thing, isn't it?" Second, Captain's back-up, was in the same nodal intersection as Captain. He had been "convincing" the weapon hierarchy, mostly the hierarchy head Weapons, not to destroy the artifact. That particular matter was now contained. Captain sent a ping of assent, the Borg equivalent of a nod, towards Second in response to the verbal question.


The object was a giant ring of an unknown metal alloy, its primary constituent refined from the bolonite-bearing asteroids also found in the white dwarf's system. The radius stretched a massive five kilometers and was able to pass two Cargo-class cubes, the largest ship type in the Borg fleet, abreast with room to spare. Filling the interior, an odd sheet of liquid metal smoothly rippled to unseen disturbances. The material absorbed all scans directed at it, leaving its composition an unknown. Sensors was having fits on that respect as even her configurations, many of which did provide detailed data in most circumstances at the expense of hallucinations or headaches for the rest of her hierarchy, were useless.


Whatever it was, it had not been noted by automatic probes in over two thousand Cycles of observation. Initial hypothesis suggested the artifact had been dormant, camouflaged amid the junk which shared its tight polar orbit. The method of power, both initial start-up and continued operation, was a second mystery, no less important than identification of the object. A superficial scan of the stellar core indicated a second manufactured something embedded within in the top layers of degenerate matter of 8901763at.67j. Unfortunately, from the Collective's point of view, Cube #347 was not capable of descending for a closer look; the sub-collective of Cube #347, on the other hand, was quite relieved. The unknown ring was excitement enough.


Sensors interrupted Captain from his focused attention to the engineering hierarchy and routine reports therein about the minor stresses associated with close proximity to a white dwarf. {Analysis?} queried Captain.


{Insufficient information. Sensors needs more [lollipops] to provide a [dancing] archival search.}


Captain blinked. {You can't find close references to a large ring of bolonite alloy with an interior of scanner absorbing liquid metal, possibly powered by leeching energy from a stellar corpse?}


{Sensors just wants more [lollipops] for thorough research. This hierarchy needs to launch probes at the ring.}


Probes. Oh. Captain shifted his immediate focus to Weapons, who was becoming anxious at the slow pace of operations, and more specifically at the realization there was nothing to blow up. {Weapons, do as Sensors requires. All payloads will be sensory: NO explosive charges of any type unless specified.}


Weapons whined, {Not even a small one? Ten isotons? Five?}


{No. You can have target practice later when we leave. Destroy a few rocks in the main belt of this system.}


{But rocks don't shoot back, at least not usually,} darkly grumbled the head of the tactical hierarchy. Compared to the range of test of wills went normally occurred between Weapons and whomever was currently in charge, this one was won easily.


{Let the sensor hierarchy feed false grid data reporting the asteroids as ships, then.}


{Not the same.}


{Too bad. You will comply.} The final three words could have been posed as a question, an asking for confirmation. Many civilizations believed in polite orders to provide the illusion of choice, even when none existed. The Borg did not practice the irrelevancies of smaller beings. What was, was; and arguing was not acceptable, tendency towards dissension (usually) deprogrammed upon assimilation.


{We will comply.}






Tossing probes at the ring proved to be an exercise in futility. Pick a side, any side, and shoot a probe towards it. Wait. Wait. Watch/feel/listen as the device abruptly vanished, swallowed by the liquid metal. Careful measurements indicated the metallic sheet was a mere ten centimeters thick, but nothing visibly went in one side and out the other. Energy weapons produced a similar lack of response; and the one attempt to detonate a quantum torpedo just above the surface made nary a ripple, explosion absorbed as absolutely as a probe.


Captain drew the line at actually sending the entire cube through. For once the Collective agreed: the task of tracking species #8511 to its origin took precedence. A research platform with an escort of three Battle-class cubes plus an additional pair of Cargo-classes holding pre-fabricated construction material and an extra fifty thousand drone work force was being made ready for the trek to 8901763at.67j. Specialized drones and equipment would take over, cerebral power of two hundred assimilated Vulcans dedicated to compiling data gleaned from the effort. A few more probes and Cube #347 would return to its original assignment.


Just as the final series of probes were being programmed for their task, the white dwarf abruptly dimmed, luminosity cut to a third of its previous output, except at the poles. In these locations, magnetic field strength was building, had already passed beyond the upper limit of detection, as if in preparation for a massive solar event. At the same time, the liquid within the ring disappeared, replaced with...nothingness. It was an absence of everything and everytime, a peek into the unknown ether present before the Big Bang; peering into the ring was to gaze into infinity.


Cube #347 did not have time for more than the most cursory consideration of the unfolding situation. Part of, for lack of a better term, the cube's autonomic system always watched for danger, for cues which might lead to the immediate destruction of ship and sub-collective. The computer did not truly have a voice, was simply a collection of trinary quantum pulses, but if it was given tongue, the monotone pronouncement which flashed through the intranets would have translated thus: {WARNING! WARNING! CRITICAL STELLAR EVENT SENSED! SURVIVAL CUES TRIGGERED!}


Reflex in response to pain is an instinct inherent to all living creatures. For those with a complex nervous system, stimuli rarely make the long trip to the brain to be consciously processed. Receptors instead directly connect to motor nerves at the spinal column analogue to produce rapid removal of, say, one's hand from a hot stove. A Borg cube, immense and complex as it is, can be viewed as an organism; and preprogrammed "reflexes" in response to abruptly dangerous conditions often saved an otherwise doomed sub-collective. Sometimes the necessary millisecond to appraise a situation and decide how to act is not available. Therefore, as the star dimmed and polar magnetic field exponentially increased, thrusters along face #4 lit with violet-blue fury. As conditions did not allow a stable warp shell, impulse engines revved up.


All was in vain.


A collective blink. The cube was not moving. By all rights it should be accelerating rapidly, moving to a point either beyond danger, or where transwarp could be utilized. A deluge of data flooded the sensor hierarchy: the condition of the ring artifact, continuing changes in the dwarf, the slight hull distortion which signaled a tractor beam. Stop. Examine the final datum closely. Quickly reconfigure part of the grid even as engines unsuccessfully strained against an unknown pull.


Six tractor beams, emanating from the ring, firmly gripped Cube #347. No apertures, no lenses, no grooves marked beam origin; the six lances of focused gravitonic energy simply issued from the dull metallic surface. They were working in concert to align the cube with the middle of the ring, much like docking tractors precisely positioned Borg ships prior to berthing in dry-dock cradles. The view down the black throat was unsettling: according to the grid, nothing, no matter, no energy, no time!, existed in the area previously capped by liquid metal.


Cube #347 had once been transported to the Alpha Quadrant via a method known as "lambda tunneling." The tunneling had occurred quickly, unexpectedly; the ride back had been a product of uncontrolled guesswork to reopen the same rip, recently closed, in the space-time fabric. No time had been afforded to examine the phenomenon, although the sight now looming increasingly close as tractors pulled the cube towards seeming oblivion would have matched sensor profiles. None the Borg had encountered knew of controlled lambda tunneling, the method requiring at least two termini to be built and linked via the production of lambda particles derived from bolonite. Consequently, both places had to be visited before lambda tunneling could proceed. The ability for lambda particles to be employed thus was hinted several times in the research of five assimilated races, but warp variant transportation was more convenient and, most importantly, cost much less in terms of material and energy.


The species which had built this particular ring was long extinct and unknown even to the eldest of the current crop of sentients. Other similar artifacts existed, but all except for this one either orbited the drained husks of their stellar core power source or drifted in the gulf between stars. No mate remained functional which could act as a termini for the lambda gate and by all rights the vast ring should have never activated in the first place, and certainly never found a link.


By all rights...


However, the universe occasionally throws spit drenched curve balls with a bit of English spin. The ring had survived, had activated, had linked. The question now, as Cube #347 cut power to its overloaded engines and was drawn into the void, was where was the tunnel to end? And would the light be a welcoming lantern...or an oncoming train? 






The passage through the tunnel was quick, but not smooth. All exposed sensor and communication clusters extruding more than two meters beyond the hull surface were sheared, rendering them inoperable. The sensor grid was not adversely affected, most input originated from arrays set flush to or just within the hull proper. Conventional subspace communication, on the other hand, was degraded to a fraction of its normal functionality.


Cube #347 exited the lambda tunnel in a very confused state. As it reached to re-establish a link with the Collective, it simultaneously began searching for navigational pulsars and activating weapons. Before any of the above could be accomplished, the cube was enveloped with a wave of vaguely familiar energy. The overwhelming brightness at frequencies well beyond the visible forced "blinking" of the grid, a momentary shut-down, to prevent overload. The weapon energy profile was swiftly matched to that logged during an Alpha Quadrant skirmish with a Federation ship known as Secondprize.


As with the earlier brush with the BIC protocol, linkage with the Greater Consciousness became academic, majority of exposed cube surfaces rendered opaque to the fractal frequencies employed to keep the Collective as One. Unfortunately, upgrades had been made to the weapon, and the effect was no longer confined to the top molecular layer of the hull. Exterior hatches were wielded shut, preventing deployment of new subspace communication arrays; the sensor hierarchy squinted at the universe through smoky glasses. The fractal subspace reflection layer was a mere fraction of a millimeter thick, but it essentially made Cube #347 mute, hard of hearing, and partially blind.


The fearsome Borg weapons of the cube, however, worked perfectly, as did propulsion and shields; and enough of the grid remained functional to spot a Federation ship only ten kilometers distant. The sub-collective of Cube #347 was One in consensus, One in action, One in anger: terminate that f***ing Federation ship, ask questions later.





*****





The crew of the Explorer waited nervously. They had received an edited version of events-to-come during a mass briefing several days earlier while equipment was installed on the ship. The only crew member who was looking forward to the venture was J'hana, who had left the meeting at a run to sharpen all her edged weaponry and top off the power in her phaser rifles.


The system, or "fishing hole" as the Section 31 admiral insisted on calling it, was located five light years from Waystation. Orbiting around a cooling red dwarf was a myriad of asteroids and other cosmic debris. The system was unimportant with the exception of some rocks containing an unusually high percentage of bolonite ore. Much earlier, robotic drones, little more than thrusters attached to a simple computer following orders from a mother tug via subspace radio, had gathered eighteen easily accessible asteroids. They had been strung together with high tensile carbon monofilament into a vast ring, the same structure pictured in the initial briefing.


Baxter quietly watched the viewscreen, attempting to quell his nerves. The Borg were not something to blithely play with; and neither were new technologies. Starfleet, predictably, was attempting both at the same time. The eighteen rocks held formation in a rough circle two kilometers in diameter, connected by the unseen cables. Occasional bursts of light from drones embedded in each rock lit space as they made minute orbital adjustments. The contrivance had been ready when Explorer entered the system, confirming Section 31 plans had been percolating for quite some time.


In the dim light of the star, a metallic shimmer glinted within the ring structure. Sensors claimed nothing was there; Section 31 claimed nothing could be there. Baxter wasn't quite sure, but was not going to argue: the resources gathered by Section 31 hinted at Very Powerful People who would not be adverse to eliminating a captain...a crew...a ship. Baxter idly wondered how many "all hands lost due to unknown spatial anomaly" was a reality, then quickly quelled that line of thought.


"Status," ordered Baxter.


Larkin replied, not bothering to glance down at the console that, in truth, was useless to her, "All ready, sir."


Baxter nodded. "Bridge to Hartley and Tilleran. Everything okay down in engineering?"


"Not quite sure what these buttons are supposed to do, but they are all green," said Hartley's voice over internal communications. It was not a report to inspire confidence.


Tilleran's voice added, "Get away from that juncture, crewman! You saw what happened when Ensign K'lula tried to see what they soldered in there. Oh, are we ready? Am I on-line to Baxter? Guess I am. Yes, all read-outs give the go ahead." A pause. "Could someone give me that manual? I need to reread page seventy-four about..." The signal cut off.


Baxter sighed. Confidence. He glanced sideways at his second-in-command, David Conway. The commander was deep into his third cup of coffee this shift. Baxter wondered how the man ever held all that liquid in his bladder.


"J'hana, aim the deflector and be ready with all weapons, not that they will do much good if Section 31's house of cards falls apart. Ford," Lieutenant Zach Ford at helm glanced over his shoulder, "ready us for a very quick get away towards the trap.


"Let's go. Activate BIC protocol one."


Explorer lined herself up, deflector dish emitting an incandescent stream of energy. Under normal circumstances, the output would have seriously drained ship energy reserves, but a special generator had been installed solely to provide the necessary power. Ten kilometers away, the expanding cone of the beam bathed the asteroids. Baxter squinted as eighteen bursts of light shone so brightly automatic filters cut in.


Explorer waited. And waited. And waited. And waited. Larkin played 132 simultaneous games of solitaire while contemplating odd sensor data from the bolonite ring. Conway downed a forth cup of coffee. Ford stared at a bulkhead. Other minor crewmen on the bridge pretended to work at their stations even as they surfed the Quadrant Wide Web and participated in text-only chat rooms. A grinding sound echoed on the silent bridge as J'hana sharpened her already perfectly edged bat'lath.


Baxter sighed. "Well, we tried. Larkin, send a message in the supposed direction of Banshee and tell them the Borg are a no-show. They can power up and uncloak safely. Ford, plot us a direct path back to Waystation. J'hana..."


"Sir," said Larkin, "something has just appeared near the asteroids. It is in the shape of a large cube."


"Crud."


J'hana laughed with glee, eyes gleaming, antennae erect. "For the Hive Mother!" she shouted as her fingers played across her station, sending a second BIC burst towards the cube. 


The Borg vessel was squarely caught in the center of the beam's focus. Adverse effects were not noticeable. In fact, it was already rotating to target the much smaller Explorer in whatever sights it employed, engines and weapons gathering power.


"J'hana, make sure they follow us. Ford, don't run us into any rocks."


"Like getting them to follow us is going to be hard," muttered Conway. He cradled what was possibly his last cup of coffee.


Explorer pivoted, a quantum torpedo launched aft to slam into cube shields. That was not good. Borg usually required several volleys to adapt; to already be adapted meant the drones on board recognized Starfleet was responsible for their kidnapping and had already taken defensive precautions


Ford programmed several evasive maneuvers, jigging the Explorer sharply starboard, then back port. A fist came down in trademarked method, as taught to all helmsmen in the Academy. A couple of sparks flew, but nothing serious. In response, the ship sped up. The cube was close behind.


"Well," said Baxter under his breath, "let's just hope this works. Otherwise, escaping the Borg in the Delta quadrant is going to have been all for nothing."





*****





The sub-collective of Cube #347 was Pissed Off. Emotions are known to the Borg, feelings such as frustration and satisfaction felt in a communal manner. While "love" and "hate" are irrelevant, "desire" for perfection drives many an assimilation. The imperfectly assimilated of Cube #347 experienced the same collectively allowed emotions on the individual scale, unlike the rest of their civilization, but a strongly emoted feeling in one (or more) drones easily influenced all.


Deaf and partially blind, very few actions were available on for a decision tree cascade. The consensus was never formed in the first place, alternate avenues not examined, as the weapon hierarchy, led by Weapons, seized upon the overwhelming desire to punish those who had caused this predicament. The Federation was obviously responsible; and with that welcoming raspberry of a torpedo, the starship in view was going to die.


Captain was pulled along in the rip-tide of support for Weapons' actions, unable to capture control of propulsion back to himself, much less override weapon command codes. Too many of his hierarchy sided with the volatile head of the now controlling hierarchy. Cube #347 was reacting to the situation, not trying to determine the cause behind it.


Suddenly Captain did not care, the mental disciple necessary to those of the cube-controlling Hierarchy of Eight swept away by the vast majority. Phasers, cutting beams, disrupters, torpedoes, tractor beams all locked onto the Starfleet ship. The only important object within the universe of the united Cube #347 sub-collective was a blurry Federation vessel speeding away at high impulse.





*****





"Do you see the webbing? Do you?"


Ford looked over his shoulder at the captain. "Sir, please do not be a back-seat driver right now! This is hard enough as it is!"


A rattle of small boulders glanced off the shields, followed by a more concrete ringing as a torpedo exploded in a deliberate near-miss. Sparks cascaded from stations which had squeaked past quality control due to a hung-over inspector. A small fire began in one corner, quickly extinguished by a concurrently burst sprinkler pipe.


"Eyes on the road! Eyes on the road!" yelled Conway. He had spilled his coffee with the last shaking of the ship, very hot liquid missing his crotch by mere centimeters.


"I have the trap sighted, sir," calmly spoke Larkin. The forward view of the split main screen altered slightly, overlay of glowing red strands crisscrossing between several otherwise innocuous asteroids. The back view continued to show the rapidly gaining cube.


"Running is the coward's way out. We should stand and fight." J'hana had been chafing ever since Baxter had ordered her to not return the cube's fire. 


"I've already explained to you, J'hana: we need the cube intact, and us intact as well. We are to lead it to a trap." Baxter did not bother to look at his glaring tactical officer.


"Coward."


"You better believe it. I have a longer life expectancy that way. Bridge to engineering, how are things holding up down there?"


Hartley's voice: "I'd rather be transporting things around. Nice and boring. That second power plant has royally fried many of the deflector circuits; and the abuse the shields are taking isn't much help either. I quote the famous words, 'We can't take much more of this'."


"See! I told you we must stand and fight! Let our glorious deaths blaze a trail to the afterlife and let our exploits be sung of for generations!"


"J'hana!" cried Baxter with exasperation, adding, perhaps unwisely considering the state the Andorian was in, "Shut up!"


A crew member leapt forward to restrain J'hana as she drew her bat'lath, earning himself a fist to the face and bloody unconsciousness. J'hana slightly calmed, imagining the human's visage to be Borg...or the captain. She sheathed the deadly Klingon weapon.


"Here we go!" shouted Ford. He aligned the ship to pass between gaps in the strands anchored between massive rocks. The cube, even if it saw the trap, would have no way to follow the smaller Explorer's maneuvers, may not even have the time to stop. The conductive cables led back to three tugs shielded from sensors by the bulk of asteroid. Once the cube was entangled, they would direct the might of their large power core into the trap, frying whatever was caught. Not even a Borg ship was hardened against the massive electrical discharge posed to catch it unawares. However, if the Explorer through sheer bad luck or faulty driving managed to become trapped as well, they too would be shocked. Messily. Painfully. Terminally.


"First gap cleared," stated Larkin as the sensor-highlighted wire vanished from the viewscreen. "Second gap rapidly approaching. Three quantum torpedoes on an intercept vector. The Borg cube will be within effective energy weapon range in fifty seconds."





*****





{Phaser range!} gleefully announced Weapons over the intranet as he targeted the fleeing ship. The sensor grid had become increasingly degraded as the vessel had dodged between a mess of asteroids, each a third the mass of the cube itself. Propulsion was registering lessened performance, a dilemma quickly rectified by bringing an auxiliary core on-line to supplement power output from the primary core.


An exterior view of the charging Exploratory-class cube would reveal kilometers of superconducting carbon alloy cable wrapped securely around the cube, anchoring rocks swinging along behind for the ride. Once the strands had reached the same velocity as the cube, they had "melted" through the shields and contacted hull. Shields were designed to ward against high kinetic projectiles, protect from dust damage, and reflect (or absorb) energy naturally ambient and malevolently focused; low kinetic solid objects tended to be ignored. Three tugs frantically boosted away from former hiding places, unreeling lengths of the same material. The sub-collective, intent on its task, grid providing the sensor equivalent of non-prescription sunglasses on a near-sighted person during a cloudy dusk, did not notice. Did not care.


The dodging Starfleet ship would soon be carved into very small pieces.


A question suddenly broke the mood, one posed by Captain himself as he ripped himself from the mob, pulling a chunk of the command and control hierarchy with him: {Why does this vessel attempt to escape on impulse when warp would better serve?}


Why indeed?


The Federation ship dodged through another alley of asteroids, angling down the straight-away even as escape paths which would not easily allow pursuit by the cube presented themselves. A churning itch of paranoia surfaced, fed as the sensor hierarchy belatedly recognized the smack of cable across hull as not natural. A filtering overlay on the primary extended visual view brought a complex web wire into awareness. The target, putting on a burst of speed to edge just out of phaser range, cleared a final mass of webbing which would have done a spider proud.


<<TRAP!!>> exclaimed the sub-collective to itself. Captain abruptly seized full control of propulsion, frantically reversing impulse to bring the cube to a halt. However, even the smallest Borg vessels sport tens of thousands of metric tons if weighed in a one gravity environment, all of which adds to extreme amounts of mass at the mercy of the ultimate universal constant of inertia. Cube #347 could hardly stop on a dime.


Closer came the final web. Closer. Closer. The cube slowed. Closer. Closer. Laser range finders twinkled off black cables, kilometers diminishing. Closer. Closer. Almost stopped. Closer. Not good enough. At a speed of mere meters per second, one full face of Cube #347 hit the complexly crisscrossed superconducting
wires.


Elsewhere, three tugs and ten portable power plants bolted to anchor rocks fed immense amounts of energy into connecting cables. All Hell broke loose within the trussed Borg cube.


Shielding, propulsion, weaponry, transporter, sensor systems overloaded, conduits exploding in all subsections. Ambient lights vanished, replaced by showers of sparks as power nodes shattered. The dataspaces and intranet convulsed as computer relays fried, even those hardwired into the bulkheads themselves. Within the cores, power matrix crystals from which the energy was drawn to run both warp and transwarp spontaneously degraded. Drones went off-line.


The electrocution ceased. Starfleet sensors warily strained towards the now drifting Borg cube. Several cautious probes were sent, all of which settled on the exterior hull without hostile challenge. Federation personnel breathed a sigh of relief, followed by whoops of joy. Success!
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A Fish Story - Part 2

They




Slowly the drones of Cube #347 woke to darkness, confusion. The huge electrical surge caused by the Federation trap had knocked most major systems off-line. Even those systems not short circuited, burnt out, or simply fried lacked power: the crystalline hearts of the cube's primary and auxiliary cores had destabilized, and the matrices would require time to rebuild. Most frightening of all, from the perspective of a Borg drone, was the near lack of communication.


The fluidity which was the hallmark of the Borg Collective could be broken into three fundamental levels. The first, the most basic awareness of others, came when initially injected nanoprobes constructed an organic neural transceiver, connecting a new drone with others in the immediate surroundings. The organic transceiver had a range of a few kilometers. The second level of the Collective was attained with hardware-based transceivers, installed deep into the brain and powered with a biometric source. Effective range was approximately 34 light hours and served to connect sub-collectives within solar systems, be it a single cube or the tens of billions of a major industrial center. While the vinculum had other important tasks, it was also the foundation of the third level of the Collective, collecting local sub-collective transceiver signals and providing the external power boost to connect drones over thousands of light years into a workable whole.


The vinculum remained functional, able to continue its role as passive coordinator of the sub-collective even if it could not link with the Greater Consciousness due to the masking material coating the hull. Extreme redundancy, including a very compact emergency power source, did have advantages because spare parts for a vinculum were hard to manufacture and very difficult to obtain outside of a Borg shipyard. Removal of the fractal reflective substance on the hull would rectify the problem, as soon as more immediate concerns were attended. Lack of data due to computer damage, however, was swiftly to become a major headache.


Cube #347, like all Borg vessels, retained much information pertaining to operation, assignment, and pre-built solutions to a wide range of problems within its dataspaces. Sheer amount of knowledge approached the combined resources of Federation/Klingon/Romulan empires, yet was only a meager fraction of overall Collective knowings. Requests to Collective archives for additional data were routine, pathways handled as automatically as looking up a book in the library and not requiring the dangerous, possibly corruptive influence of imperfect assimilation which worried the Greater Consciousness. 


Despite the reams of data stored within Cube #347, only minute fractions could be held consciously at any one time within a state called "working memory." Working memory was as much information as could be uploaded to the organic brains - heavily modified with internal storage devices and crystalline data nodes - of the crew. Data always available might be navigational charts, transwarp core maintenance, and thirty-six ways to remove a mustard stain. On the other hand, detailed knowledge of a species, including resistance indexes and weapon adaptation profiles, had to be dredged up from local archives. At this point in time, Cube #347 knew much about the Alpha Quadrant, and Starfleet in particular, but if asked how to adapt to the phased shield photon torpedoes of species #8832, would not be able to answer.


Surprisingly, the electrocution had resulted in light injuries and no terminations - much of the trap's fury had expended itself on superstructure and systems, remainder shunted by personal exoplating. Organic bodies were not harmed...much. Some instances of nasty burns and spasming assemblies/prosthetics trickled into the drone maintenance dossier, but overall the hierarchies of Cube #347 reformed quickly upon wakening, limping into the inevitable argument upon what course of action to take and what to repair first.


{Weapons!} roared Weapons, his priorities firm. {Weapons! Tractor beams! Shields!}


Delta, head of the engineering hierarchy, snarled in return, {Ridiculous! We can't even see what we would be aiming at! Besides, there is barely enough power available to maintain what is left of our internal communication and regeneration systems, much less take an offensive posture. We must complete emergency construction of a power source, salvage the primary core, work on key environmental conditions, and then repair lower priority systems. It is only logical.} In fact, one hundred eighteen drones plus both of her bodies were currently in Bulk Cargo Hold #8 erecting fusion planets to supplement battery storage and the paltry trickle of energy flowing from the cores.


{Lower priority systems? Weapons are not lower priority!}


{I find the lack of gravity annoying,} commented Second. Ability to see in the infrared part of the spectrum was not useful if the things one was walking into were the same temperature as surrounding air. He had been forced to switch to a relative of echolocation after a pelting storm by loose bolts. A glance at the tiers beyond Captain's nodal intersection showed many flashlights in use by those drones without such hardware installed. Someone was making bunny shadow  on a wall. {Delta is quite logical.}


{See?} said Delta.


{See?} mimicked Weapons. His "voice" was the same, but he had purposely added a secondary harmonic to the overtone in imitation of Delta's double signature.


{Shut up, Weapons.}


{Shut up, Weapons.}


{Quiet!}


{Quiet!}


{If you don't stop, I'll make it very unpleasant for you.}


{If you don't stop, I'll make it very unpleasant for you.}


{Delta, Weapons, both of you cease your bickering,}cut Captain into the childish display. Weapons rarely got along with any of the engineering heads, but he and Delta were an extreme example of animosity. There were instances when the sub-collective had become paralyzed with indecision because of the two. Now was not a good time to repeat such a deadlock. An order echoed through the cramped dataspaces: {Consensus.}


Drones all over the cube came to a standstill, turning inward to lend their weight to the building decision matrix. Such an action normally did not occur, the halting of units on the move, but crippled resources were to blame.


Announced Captain, {The order of repair is as follows: immediate power needs, basic environmental systems, primary power core and sensors concurrently, propulsion, shields, and weapons. The link between the Greater Consciousness and local computer systems will be restored as time permits; for the former it will be necessary to wash down the hull and remove the scattering layer, which cannot occur until we find a secure place for ourselves where we are not Starfleet targets.}


Despite a few grumbles from Weapons, the sub-collective swung into coordinated action.






The establishment of fusion plants, camouflaged by devices which hid coherent energy readings as random output, was the first good news Captain received since the Starfleet trap. The second came from Sensors in the form of a perceptible, if fuzzy, image of space beyond the hull.


{Sensors has [shoed] a passive sensor grid,} the insectoid declared, {to avoid [fireworks] signs of our functionality. The [suck] on our available power resources is negligible. However, due to limitations imposed by the situation, Sensors will be unable to substantially increase [eyeglasses] beyond what Sensors can see now.} Members of the hierarchy had been forced to perform manual rewiring themselves, engineering busy with more important tasks. Scavenging the necessary tools, transporters and replicators unavailable and hierarchy members largely without appropriate specializations, had been the hard part. Sensors carefully lay her spanner on the ground before settling herself in her form-fitting alcove. {Observe.}


Captain could not use his viewscreen - not only was there not enough spare power, but it required extensive repair. Instead he turned inward, carefully allowing himself to accept the input. The grid had been configured to allow photons impacting sparsely protected sensor patches over an entire cube face to be extrapolated into a single image. Neutrinos striking buried, unaffected hull clusters designed to "see" them lent a static to the overall scene, a sense reinforced by Sensors' perception of the particles tasting like a carbonated orange drink. Manual realignment not up to the standards of the currently overworked engineering drones also added a touch of inconsistency to the final product.


Three stocky vessels with oversized nacelles led the small convoy through warp. They were obviously tugs; and even if tractor beams could be neither seen nor sensed, the technology was clearly in use. Estimates of red-shifting put velocity at warp three, the top speed possible by the trio of ships when towing the bulky mass represented by Cube #347. While a full sensor suite was presently unavailable to the sub-collective, focus upon neutrinos and other particles emitted by the tugboat drives produced an energy signature fingerprint. From that point it was a short step to cross-index the profiles with a copy of the most recent Federation ship list loaded into working memory to find identification strings. The vessels in question were Tugboat Johnny, Tugboat Willy, and Tugboat Sammy.


The tugs were not the only ships in view; two larger spacecraft matched pace. The first was identified as USS Explorer, an easy task as it trailed behind the cube by a good distance, saucer section with registration available for examination. The second vessel held position off face #2, only its profile visible. Sovereign-class was the first analysis; enhancement of the saucer section gave half a registration: "NCC-9" and "USS BAN". While the ship itself was labeled "destroyed" in the cube's Federation database, the sub-collective knew better.


NCC-9561-C, USS Banshee. Captain - Jad Vorezze, Betazoid. The ship may not be personally known, but its captain most certainly was.


Suddenly many possibilities, many doors, opened for the sub-collective of Cube #347. In the dark of his nodal intersection, Captain's face stretched into a half smile.






Some time ago Cube #347 had inadvertently been sent to the dawn of the Borg Collective, thanks to members of the Banshee crew who had managed to transport themselves to the cube and set events in motion through sheer ignorance. In a complicated series of incidents which had the sub-collective bending over backwards to not upset the timeline, thus wiping out the Collective before it was begun, those same Banshee personnel had been outfitted with exterior neural transceivers to provide secure communication (among other things) with the directing cube while chasing after a band of rogue drones. Eventually, after history turned out as was fated with initiation of the Greater Consciousness, the whole gaggle of imperfectly assimilated and nonassimilated returned to their native time. Neural transceivers were excised from all crew prior to their restoration to the Alpha Quadrant...all but for one - Captain Jad Vorezze. The final rush to rejoin Banshee was hurried at the last second due to an abrupt change in circumstances, thereby prohibiting the final physical removal.


The assumption by Captain, the sub-collective, was that Vorezze had demanded Starfleet medical practitioners to extract the transceiver at first possible chance. True removal was easier said than done.


The initial connection of the implant had been directed by a single-use variety of 5' nanites. 5' nanoprobes served as Borg repairmen and mechanics for both organic and inorganic components. On their own, they were unable to assimilate an orange, much less a sentient being, a different suite of nanites required for that function. However, unless a specific command was given for the implant to detach or the doctor had infinite patience to remove all hardware tendrils millimeter by millimeter (causing excruciating discomfort due to direct stimulus of brain pain centers), bits and pieces of the transceiver, and associated nanites, would remain.


Under normal circumstances this issue would not be a problem. The specialized nanites, which could only build one implant type, were dormant; the body of the transceiver was itself long removed, probably to a Federation science lab. Jad would live out his normal life, eventually dying due to natural causes. Well, as natural as could be expected when Section 31 didn't really like you, and kept you alive only because you captained a really nice ship.


However, a certain command, sent upon a certain fractal subspace frequency, could reactivate the nanoprobes. The submicroscopic machines would begin to rebuild the neural transceiver, following their encoded blueprint. While the vinculum required 87.8% of the offending subspace reflecting layer on the hull to be removed before a link with the Collective could be re-established, the single
unaffected face was more than sufficient for a connection to be forged with one Jad Vorezze. The Banshee captain was required to remain within one hundred light years of the cube for the transceiver link to work, but that detail would not be a problem.


Everything rested on the assumption the transceiver had been incorrectly removed, either the doctor not maintaining sufficient patience to properly complete the job or Jad unable to withstand several hours of unbelievable, unblockable pain, or both. If the nanites could not be activated, so be it, and other avenues of action would be considered. If they could...


If they could, Vorezze was about to experience one Hell of a surprise.





*****





Jad Vorezze nervously sat in his captain's chair. He occasionally fidgeted, trying to find a more comfortable position, but was not successful. He just did not trust the smoothly running operation; and from the heightened emotional tension rolling from the rest of the crew, neither did they. A message, laced with word codes based on archaic Terran idioms and recorded under the watchful eye of Vulcan "experience officer" Captain Velorn, had been dispatched to superiors back on Waystation upon capture of the Borg vessel.


Admiral Newman was not on Banshee, nor within range of any probable s**t and fan combination. The high ranking types didn't stick their butts on the line when lower peons would adequately serve. Jad knew this, as did everyone in Starfleet: the enlisted crewman and ensign population had to be controlled, after all. Still, observing the action from a cloaked overwatch position had not been fun.


Borg cubes were damn big; and records indicated this one was a rather small vessel for its type. Jad vaguely wondered how large the one to which he had been transported was, Cube #347 or some such boring Borg designation. It had seemed enormous from the inside, the little he had seen.


All of Banshee's sensors were trained on the cube, actively scanning every centimeter of its surface for deviations in energy emissions, watching for signs of activity. To remain within the warp shell produced by the three tugs without destabilizing the field meant the side of the cube loomed close, less than one hundred meters separating hulls. Explorer was to the rear of the convoy, taking advantage of its position to lag as much as possible.


"Any change?" asked Jad. He consciously suppressed any vocal waver which might indicate he was less than calm. He was not successful.


Doctor Liz Lang, chief science officer, looked up with annoyance from her station. Ever present Zeke the hamster gnashed his teeth together before leaving a small deposit on the chair he was loafing on. Liz utilized a miniature pooper scooper with plastic baggy before glancing at the appropriate readouts. "Nothing. Odd fluctuations here and there, but nothing that can't be explained as internal damage by the electrocution."


Jad lapsed into silence to reconsider worst case scenarios. He absently rubbing the back of his neck where the transceiver had been located before Brian Issac, Banshee's medical doctor, had yanked it out. The scratching was a bad habit he has picked up over the last several months, a nagging virtual itch when stress reached new levels of discomfort. This morning, while squinting in the bathroom mirror, he had caught the telltale signs of a developing rash. Perhaps a visit to Brian should be scheduled.


Stream of consciousness thoughts rambled on, tangenting from rashes to Ensign Tihara's notorious athlete's foot to what to replicate for dinner. Everyone knew their jobs - what good was a captain in times like these? Sure, the power trip was a good feeling, he would admit, but the pause between moments of action could be both nerve wracking and tedious. Jad reached a hand to scratch the back of his neck. Maybe he should end the yellow alert condition, or at least have someone dismantle the bothersome blinking yellow lights. Scratch. Unlike some people - glance to Burns - who can nap anywhere, Jad was unable to fall asleep on the bridge. Scratch, scratch, scratch.


Scratch?


"Oh, f..." squeaked Vorezze, the expletive cut off as pain suddenly split his head. It was the worse migraine he had ever experienced, including that time at eleven years he had tried to peek into the mind of his older cousin during her illicit liaison with the jewelry store clerk. He stood from his chair, tottered for a few agonizing seconds, then dropped to his knees. Charlotte snorted awake as the rest of the bridge crew stared.


"Are you okay, sir?" asked the commander. "Should I call the doctor, or simply hit Ford over the head?"


"It isn't me!" protested Ford at helm. "I'm not thinking of anything which should do that!"


Charlotte looked around, "Well, it is someone." She paused. "Computer, locate Ensign Holth and Lieutenant Japloh."


"Ensign Holth is in main engineering. Lieutenant Japloh is her quarters," stated the mildly feminine tones of the Banshee computer.


"Well, our two Klingon lovers aren't going at it, then. I've been told the deck practically shakes." Everyone was quiet. Charlotte turned red. "That's what I've been told, honest! I have not been spying on them. If you want that type of sick mind, look to Ford, not me!"


Meanwhile, Jad continued to writhe on the floor in front of his chair, hands clasped to the sides of his head. Suddenly he stopped. His breath came as ragged gasps.


"My brain feels like someone reached in with a hot poker and stirred," moaned Jad, eyes closed. "Someone help me up."


Charlotte assisted Vorezze to his feet. He wobbled back and forth, steadying himself with the command chair. "Are you okay, sir?"


"Do I look like I'm okay? Do I?"


"Frankly, no. You should go to sick bay. I can take care of things here. No need to bother the Vulcan with his meditations, or sleep, or whatever he does on his off hours."


Jad grumbled, "There isn't much happening, and I don't even think you could screw up being in charge. I will go to sick bay. Ford, don't let her tell you to steer us into the cube. DiSanto," Vince DiSanto peered from his station at tactical, "don't let her play with weapons." A hand was lifted to rub the back of the neck where it was suddenly very, very sore. Huh?


Jad's fingers played over the flattened, slick surface at the juncture of head and spinal cord, just under the fringes of his regulation cropped hair. It was skin temperature. A small trickle of wetness leaked down his back. It felt...it felt....


"Commander!" loudly demanded Jad. "Look at my neck...what do you see? Hurry!"


Ford snickered loudly.


Sensing herself to the butt of a possible prank, Charlotte careful craned her head to glance towards her superior officer's gesturing hand. She gasped. "It looks like one of those neural trans..." If Charlotte had anything more to say, it was drowned out in static.


{Testing, testing. Testing one, two, three. Testing. Can you hear me, Captain Jad Vorezze of the Federation starship Banshee? Aural is the second link established and we need you to respond. Pain center is the first. You know what will occur if you ignore us. Testing.}


Suddenly Jad knew exactly what cube the tugs were towing, and it was anything but dead. Worst case scenarios were suddenly looking downright cheery when faced with this unlikely possibility.





*****





The probe had the intelligence quotient of a dog. It could come; it could go; it could stay. The commands it responded to were basic, simple. Unlike a dog, however, its allegiance was absolute. They made it; They controlled it; They were Master; They were God. 


It was linked with They through telepathic imprint: whatever it saw or experienced, They saw and experienced. The probe's brain, buried at the center of its squid-like body, was conditioned to seek out certain patterns of stimuli, such as warp contrails and sentient-derived radio transmissions. When it found such nuggets it happily reported back to They. The reward with a burst of endorphins and pleasure. Misidentification brought failure, shame, and pain.


The probe liked to keep They happy.


Many such as the probe plied this region of interstellar space, tracking and watching the civilizations in what the denizens called Alpha Quadrant. They had come from far away, sailing the uncharted gravitonic currents and supraspace seas between galaxies. Tens of thousands of years in thought (supplemented by the ever more tenuous link to Home before the telepathic link to Chaos was finally lost) brought refinements to organic technology, to such a point the only manufactured, grafted part of the probe was its engine core. Eventually, someday, even that last appendage of Order would be replaced.


A sleek form was that of the probe, its twelve meter self unique from every other probe even as it shared the same general body plan. No obvious eyes or other organs marred the thick, chameleon skin. Rather, the entire epidermal surface was sensitive to the electromagnetic spectrum and particle clades rivaling anything merely silicon, ceramic, and metal. The ten trailing tentacles could delicately dissect a communication satellite for close study, or render a comet nucleus down to consumable chunks.


The expedition force of They was ready to move into this part of the galaxy, had found it suitable to establish a beachhead for the main force still in transit a thousand years out. The probe knew, in a fuzzy way, that a new Home was to be made, a new Chaos brought forth from order, the strongest of resistance absorbed into Chaos while the rest were exterminated as unsuitable. It was the way to Perfection. 


Before They could begin their mysterious programs, of which the probe could not begin to understand with its limited mental potential, the quadrant required certification it was clean of a particular taint, of the spoor of Order, of the presence of Borg. Borg were strong, the expedition had learned thus many millennia ago, the epitome of electronic and physical technologies upon which they relied - Order personified. Eventually, however, they would be brought into Chaos, else driven to extinction. They needed to get their foot in the door; the eons since initial retreat had been required to regroup, rebuild, move to a new vantage, and wait for the main force to catch up.


The probe simply scanned, searching for Borg. Singleton tracks and trails were closely monitored by more intelligent brethren. It saw nothing in its assigned sector and thusly reported each time it was directly ordered by They. 


They were happy. The probe was happy.





*****





"Sir," called the ensign who was monitoring communications this shift. Normally the position involved a complex weaving of frequencies, from ordering impatient captains regarding docking priorities to angry words directed at joyriders exceeding the station's well posted speed limit. The last week had been boring after Explorer and Banshee left, destination on a need-to-know basis which did not include station personnel.


"Yes?" asked Lisa. "What is it?" She glanced back at the two Section 31 observers lounging at the science consoles. They were talking quietly to each other. Although the black-op group's pervasiveness included the bridge, they had tactfully kept their presence at a minimum. The screaming fit Lisa had thrown in Admiral Newman's face had probably helped as well.


The primary viewscreen altered to show a volume inclusive to ten light years in all directions from the station. A yellow dot blinked insistently at the edge of the displayed space. "We are picking up a distress call, at least that is what I think it is."


"Think it is? Can't you tell?"


"Sorry, sir, but it is garbled beyond belief. Usually people don't drive their ships off the main lanes to sit and scream about their troubles, though."


"True, although I've been tempted at times, especially recently."


Silence on the bridge. The observers seemed greatly interested. Lisa came to an abrupt decision, one which would surely irk Those-In-Charge.


"Ensign Larson, go find Russel and tell him the situation. I want him to round up a rescue team, take the Wayward, and check it out. If anyone," directed over the shoulder at the alert duo, "gives you or him trouble, tell them Ih'mud and Baughb are my good friends and will be severely displeased if I can't follow Starfleet ethics and help someone in distress, bogus quarantine or no bogus quarantine. Oh yes, also tell the lieutenant it may be a first contact situation."


"Yes, sir!" The ensign leapt from her station, delighted to have something to do. Tonight there were sure to be juicy rumors concerning the inevitable squabble between captain and admiral.






"Say again? You are breaking up," said Lisa to the viewscreen. The visual from Wayward was clear enough, but the audio was terrible. Sean appeared to snap something to someone off-screen. Quickly the problem cleared.


"Sorry. Seems to be local interference, a pin-point anomaly by the computer's estimation. Harmless except to communications." Sean's head was larger than life, as befitted the cramped quarters of the scout's command area. "Anyway, we found what was yelping for help. Automated probe, we think. The distress call ended shortly before we arrived. By the condition of the probe, it has probably died."


"Died. That is not a word one usually assigns to a probe. What race?"


Sean looked sheepish. "Um, not really sure. Nothing Starfleet has records on, that is for sure, although we are just moving into the Beta Quadrant. Our scans indicate the probe is nearly all organic, except for what appears to be a miniature warp core and power unit. Died may very well be the relevant word, as it was probably quite alive up until a few hours ago. Difficult to tell since our scanners are calibrated to peer into the innards of ships, not what appears to be a large squid. Would you like a visual of the object?"


Lisa was intrigued. One could hardly perform first contact with a probe, be it dead or broken, but one might be able to prepare a bit better for the owners with technology examples in hand. "Yes, I do."


The screen split, upper pane displaying a squashed view of the security chief's head, lower the space-going organism. The hull (skin?) was dull black with tan mottling. As Sean indicated, it bore a definite resemblance to a Terran squid, down to the tentacles held stiffly behind the main body - rigor mortis? A superimposed ruler measured the probe at roughly fifteen meters long. Big squid.


"Sean, is there anyone non-Federation in the area?"


Sean's elongated face replied, "The Multiks definitely know, considering how loud the probe was broadcasting, but unless they have a patrol on top of us, they will require several days to get here. As far as cloaked ships such as Klingon or Romulan, who knows? They are probably spying on us because of all the activity at our 'quarantined' station. The Klingons are allies, but they wouldn't be above quietly taking this thing; and the Romulans you can make your own judgment about. I'm sure there are several other governments, including our own, with illicit cloaking devices around as well."


"You are sometimes incredibly paranoid, Russel."


Sean shrugged. "It's my job. What do you want done with it?"


Lisa hummed in thought. "Tractor and haul it back to the station. We'll deal with it here. I'll relay the matter through official channels to make it more difficult for Section 31 to claim the probe for themselves."






The Wayward and her tractored oddity were still half a day from Waystation when the recorded message hit Waystation's communication arrays. It was a burst transmission, flung equally to all parts of the galaxy to foil tracing back to its origin. As it was a simple matter to pick the message up, it had been encrypted based on a huge prime number, of which Section 31 held the only key.


After skipping over Admiral Newman's head considering the incoming probe, and enduring the tongue-lashing about quarantine procedures given by a Rear Admiral at Earth who appeared to believe Waystation's isolation was a real thing, Lisa felt lucky to be included in the party viewing the unscrambled message. Unfortunately, no one bothered to enlighten her as to what the code phrases meant, although those in the room seemed pleased.


Vorezze's bespeckled face appeared on screen. It because evident as the camera pulled back that he was sitting in his command chair on Banshee's bridge. He held up a PADD, glanced down at it, frowned, and began to read from its display: "Banshee reporting. Our fish has been caught. While not a whopper, it is definitely a keeper. Electroshocking has been successful. The package will arrive at dock in three shakes of a lamb's tail..."


Vorezze trailed off, looking at someone off-screen and to the left. "This is ridiculous. What does 'three shakes of a lamb's tail' mean, anyway? The universal translator can't be right, not with the image I'm getting."


"Just read it, Vorezze. It is an old Terran saying." The new voice had a certain dry and measured cadence to it which screamed Vulcan.


"Why Terran? Why not Klingon sayings, or Betazoid? Why always Terran?"


"Read it."


Vorezze scowled, clearly unhappy. He glanced once up to the camera pickup, then back to his PADD. "Where was I? Oh yes, that three shakes of a lamb's tail bit. Okay." He cleared his throat. "The steamboat trio have notified us we cannot move faster than three shakes due to the size of our catch. All hands are well and nary a scratch was taken." The recording continued from there, occasionally leaping off on a wild tangent as the Banshee's captain complained of the increasingly archaic Terran phrases, many of which had been out of date for five centuries.


"What the hell does 'boss, da plane, da plane' supposed to be? It sounds like pure= nonsense! Were the writers of this poor excuse for a code bored out of their skulls?" pretty much summed everything up.


An hour later Lisa held a clandestine meeting in her quarters. While she couldn't be absolutely sure her suite wasn't bugged - Section 31 personnel showed a disturbing lack of morals - it was less likely than other places on the station. In attendance were Morales, Porter, and the doctors Amedon Nelson and Janice Browning. The first was an integral part of station crew and had not been evacuated; the latter was on leave from the Explorer to compete head-to-antennae with Ic'hasssssst V'kelsnet in the literally cutthroat restaurant business. Lisa had found Browning hiding under her desk when Section 31 had descended, claiming that to abandon the station while Ih'mud and Baughb remained would be bad for her restaurateur image.


Lisa vaguely wondered how many other irregulars remained aboard. Better to not inquire too intently, but Admiral Newman would probably be very surprised.


"Okay," said Lisa after she rehashed the transmission she had watched, "it is obvious the mission was successful and a Borg cube is on its way here. Most of the bulls**t was for the sake of bulls**t, I think, but that 'three shakes' business is what has me interested."


They all mulled over the words. Answered Browning, "Might it mean they are three days out? By the way, remind me when this is all over to add gyros to my menu. I have this great cucumber sauce which would be perfect with lamb."


"It is as good a guess as any," supplied Morales, ignoring the doctor's comments about food.


Nelson shrugged. "Don't look at me! I'm not exactly a Terran scholar, and neither is Midon."


"Then we will call it three days." Lisa turned the conversation to a new direction. "Craig, have you seen the scaffolding yet? Are they doing anything to it?"


Craig Porter, as engineering chief of Waystation, had not been happy when two-thirds of his staff was shipped out. Section 31 subsequently went through all the station's systems, rewiring entire areas and installing new equipment. When all was done, and the black uniformed technicians vanished with their toys, it would take weeks to undo the damage and make sure everything was returned to standard specs. He knew, after inspecting the outer skin with a remote probe, at least some of the so-called sensor gear was actually weapons of a type he had never seen of before in his life. "Last I saw, the corners were 1.3 kilometers distant from each other and robots were beginning to spin cables between them."


The scaffolding was worrisome, for it implied Section 31 might be present for longer than a couple of weeks. Shortly after arrival of the first black ships, construction robots had begun to build eight large frames. A bit of puzzling, but a few well-placed questions (and bribes in the form of real alcohol or vouchers to Dillon's Supply Depot) to various people brought forth the revelation the scaffolding would fit at the corners of any cube caught, providing a snug cradle for dissecting equipment to dock. The final phase of linking the formerly separate pieces hinted at the size of the cube to come.


"Damn," spoke Lisa as she mentally envisioned the final product hanging less than five kilometers from her station, "that thing is going to be larger than Waystation."


It was a sobering thought to the fivesome. And this was a "keeper," not a "whopper."


Inserted Morales, "Perhaps we should look into tethering our probe out there as well. Get it close to that special scanning equipment." He paused. "It will also put all our troubles in one place."





*****





The bulk of Explorer's command staff sat in The Twilight Zone, nursing drinks of assorted sorts. Missing was Conway, who was pulling bridge duty, and Larkin, who was off doing whatever it was she did when she wasn't at Ops. The pair of tables the group was seated at seemed small, especially as Browning's replacement doctor, the Flarn Benzra, hulked over the group; and Charlie's exuberant tail wagging under Counselor Kelly Peterman's chair did not help either.


"This sucks!" exclaimed J'hana for the umpteenth time. "Big target like that sitting defenseless, and we can't even shoot at it! I'm sure there's at least one or two Borg wandering around clueless on that thing, begging for someone to put them out of their misery." Mirk, the bartender for The Twilight Zone, had begun carefully watering J'hana's drinks several glasses back.


Baxter looked into his drink, something called a Shirley Temple. "We follow orders, J'hana. Besides, if anything was alive over there I'm sure they would have repaired their ship enough by now to swat us back to the Delta Quadrant. I just want to get our 'fish' delivered so we can go back to our normal duties."


The Flarn lifted her drink, an evil green concoction resembling melted lime popsicles and called a Typhoon. Benzra wasn't sure why she liked it, except it bore a distinct resemblance to sour apple Jolly Rangers. That particular hard candy was the sole redeeming quality for humans, in her estimation. "Borg are a menace to the universe. I agree with J'hana: we should destroy the cube."


Various murmurs of assent echoed from various chairs. Mirk magically appeared with a fresh round, sweeping away the empties before vanishing again.


"I don't know," began Peterman, "maybe it is just that we don't really understand the Borg. Maybe if we tried to talk..."


Ford loudly interjected, "I bet you wouldn't say that if you'd ever been assimilated."


"Or had your homeworld decimated by them," slurred a knowing Benzra with a wide sweep of an arm. Mirk apparently wasn't watering her drinks, and whatever he used as an alcohol for the Flarn was beginning to affect her nervous system.


Baxter sighed, sipping at his pink drink. "Well, we'll be at Waystation shortly. Banshee hasn't radioed us with the end of the universe, so everything must be going according to plan."


"Then we'll go on to greater glories than looking at the butt end of a cube," darkly grumbled J'hana.





*****





"Are you absolutely sure everything is okay?" asked the Banshee's rather short chief medical officer. The view of the man was odd, washed-out, and the vocalization lacked a certain richness. Visual jiggled slightly, glance darting down the hallway to a door only ten meters distant.


{Say: "I'm perfectly functional. I continue to hypothesize some equipment was not rendered inoperational due to the electrical discharge, which was the most likely causation for implant rupture. It will keep until we arrive at Waystation. The station has a greater selection of medical equipment to assist in its removal." You know the appropriate words.}


A throat was cleared. "You worry too much, Brian. I'm fine. Something didn't get fried on the cube, and this happened. When we dock at Waystation in a couple hours you can play with their selection of devices to remove it. I'll keep. Just make sure any other crew on the ship who have had the misfortune of meeting the Borg don't similarly break out in unwanted implants."


If the doctor noticed the emphasis placed on the final two words, he did not show it. He simply nodded. "Liz has said she'd like to make you suff...er...said she'd like to help as well. You'll make a right good demonstration subject for several papers if we all play our cards right."


{Go to your regeneration chambers.}


"Joy. Well, I need to catch a quick nap before Waystation and the rigors of Admiral Newman and Section 31. Now is as good a time as any."


"See you later, then."


"Yah, later." Brian's back was watched to retreat down the hallway towards the turbolift.


{Go to your regeneration chambers now, or else.}


The point of view rapidly scurried towards the target door. It whooshed open.


{Enter and lock it. You are not available for the next several hours.}


"Computer, lock my door. If anyone calls for me, I'm not available unless it is a red alert."


The computer chirped in feminine tones, "Door is secured. Voice messaging system is activated."


Once again the visual altered as the owner of the eyes sat in a soft chair, changing the perspective of the room to a lower vantage point. Faintly red darkness descended as lids closed, turning black a moment later with a "Computer, dim lights. More. More. Stop." A groan. What began next, to an exterior and uninformed watcher, would appear to be a one-sided conversation. Brian would have taken one look and ran off for a straightjacket and several burly men in white.


"Okay, I'm here. What do you want of me now?"


{Careful. I can hear those "you bastard" undertones perfectly clear. My genealogical lineage is irrelevant. We need more data on Section 31, especially the weapons we may encounter when we arrive at our destination. You will return to the bookmarked file you began before your duty shift. Allow the documents to scroll at high speed. We will sort out the relevant information.}


"And if I don't, Captain Ahab?" No move was made to leave the chair. "I do need to sleep occasionally."


{You will feel pain. Your neural pathways are not sufficiently advanced to block the impulses. After all, those nerve clusters were among the first the implant reached towards when it regrew, assuming nanotendrils were properly removed from that cranial area in the first place.}


"So I have a primitive brain."


{Yes, Vorezze, you do. You even find it difficult to think your thoughts to me as opposed to your verbalizations. Unfortunately, it is the only brain we have to work with; and those nanites, as you well know, are not capable of assimilation, else this task would be much easier. We require communication beyond our hull and you provide it.}


"Great." A resigned sigh. "Computer, raise the light level. More. Stop." The body, point of view as from looking out of Captain Jad Vorezze's eyes, levered itself to a standing position. Ultimate destination was a desk covered with multitudes of PADDs.


Captain budded off a partition to capture and process the shortly incoming data, filing and sorting of a mundane type. The awareness of Vorezze was tucked to a small corner of his mind as other, more immediate, concerns demanded his attention. Banshee's captain only required direct coddling and not-so-subtle reminders of who was actually in charge when thoughts of rebellion began to swirl; otherwise he was quite tractable. Imagine, simple threat of pain goading compliance!


{Delta, report,} ordered Captain.


Replied Delta, accompanied by a secondary datastream of relevant schematics, {We are at a theoretical 85% functionality. However, several systems are unable to be tested due to internal power fluctuations which would render our attempt to play dead moot. We will be at 93% by the time this convoy reaches Waystation.}


{And that final 7% is?}


{Atmospheric life support, lighting, temperature control, gravity in a few places, standard subspace radio. On the latter, we can receive, but not broadcast.}


{Not important, then.}


{No.}


Captain spent a few minutes examining the latest engineering updates, sparing a second here or there to figuratively glance at Vorezze. He had replicated himself a cup of stimulant-enhanced liquid and was now busily reordering PADDs on his desk. A remote caressing of the Betazoid's pain centers ended procrastination as the correct PADD was suddenly unmisplaced.


{What is this?} asked Captain, interrupting Delta as she had her heads deep within auxiliary power cores at opposite sides of the cube.


{What is what? Tuning harmonics is a delicate process even when we aren't supposed to be nonfunctional.} Delta was a tad annoyed.


The appropriate sub-sub-sub-bullet was highlighted, an important kernel of data buried deeply in such a way as to try to avoid detection. It was as if the compiler of this section was purposefully trying to hide bad news on the theory the reader would grow bored reading tedious repeats of wire resistance checks and skip ahead.


{The statement about our fractal subspace communication readiness. The notation indicates that even if the crud on our hull is removed, we will be unable to contact the Collective because of faults within several thousand kilometers of wiring. Wiring which will have to be replaced by hand. What happened to our surge protectors!?}


Both of Delta's bodies extracted themselves from their respective cores, slack-jawed. She had grown bored reading tedious repeats of wire resistance checks and skipped ahead. Engineering calculations were flashing through her hierarchy. {We can still use the fractal bands, but our greatest range will be one hundred twenty-six light years, assuming all the jamming material is washed off.}


Captain groaned as he requested navigational data on Borg vessel locations. The information was several cycles outdated, but it was unlikely major changes had occurred between then and now. The closest cube was one of several Exploratory-class scouts lurking on the Federation's opposite Alpha Quadrant border and well over one hundred twenty-six light years away.


Delta had delved into the update to determine the drone responsible for hiding the bad news. 296 of 310 was swiftly located, quiescent in his regeneration phase, mind stilled.


{Wake up, you bloody idiot!} echoed in the intranet. Delta was on a rampage to combat criminal inefficiency.


Captain monitored the arousal of several hundred additional drones from regeneration, their task to begin the massive rewiring campaign. Knowing Delta, 296 of 310's negligence would be rewarded with a particularly nasty job.


Otherwise, all was going according to plan. Only 3.2 additional hours of playing possum left.





*****





Modifications were complete to allow drone-to-drone-to-cube communications despite the disrupter material coating all but one face of the ship. The several cycles in warp transit - so slow the tugs traveled! - allowed unobtrusive drilling to the hull surface and careful remote placement of new antennas and sensor clusters. True, the Collective would remain unreachable until the offending substance was dissolved with corrosive acids and rewiring was complete, but local interchanges on Borg channels to half a light year was now possible. Vorezze was not informed of a possible escape route involving the simple action of leaving the vicinity. 


All plans to gain a Borg toehold on this side of the Federation, or lacking that, escape, were abandoned as warp terminated. Passive visual scans examined the area, noting the large scaffold towards which the tugs were vectoring. A small object not of Federation manufacture, a fact obvious even with poor sensor acuity, caught the sensor hierarchy's attention. Curious, the hierarchy first pinpointed the location of potentially hazardous Starfleet ships before zooming in on the unknown thing, quickly identifying the configuration. An ancient root command, part of the prime Borg software code interlaced in the artificial instincts all drones were programmed with, leapt into sudden awareness:


<<Primal root command 004: They to be destroyed at all costs; presence of They to be recorded and reported. Secondary primal root command 004: if evidence of They intrusion into any volume with current Borg presence is ascertained, They will be eradicated at all costs by any means.>>


By any means...by any means...by any means....


Acting as One, ignoring the potential consequences, Cube #347 fully powered up, channeling all available energy to weapons, to shields, to propulsion. The three tugs suddenly found themselves flung around and dragged backwards as the unaffected face was spun towards the target to present the clearest possible picture, supposedly dead vessel lunging forward at high impulse. Shields snapped up, neither slicing the tugs in half nor severing tractor beams only because of the ships' close proximity to the hull. 


By any means...by any means...by any means....


{Kill it! Kill it! Kill it!} chanted Weapons within the dataspaces as he brought phasers, cutting beams, torpedoes of various flavors, and rail guns to bear. The quiescent probe exploded like a watermelon dropped from a great height; any piece larger than a fist was targeted for vaporization. Coincidentally, the scaffolding corner the organic ship had been docked at disintegrated, cables snapping with dangerous intent towards their opposite anchor.


By any means...by any means...by any means....


The decision tree was already producing fruit, although many were branches closed due to inability to contact the Collective and others required more resources than that immediately available. Captain slowed the cube to a halt, directing Second to restrain Weapons and his hierarchy from further rampage. The tractors of the still stunned tugs were broken and the ships tossed away with a pressor beam. Delta diverted additional power from non-essential systems to shields.


The few Starfleet ships in evidence would quickly become tired of lobbing ineffectual munitions against an unresponsive cube.





*****





The command deck of Waystation was busy, and sitting in the middle of the chaotic weave, happy as a fat spider, was Captain Lisa Beck. Gods, how she loved her rank at times like these: it was so much harder to leave her out of the loop by setting need-to-know on a Captain basis. If Admiral Newman tried that stunt, using his own rank as the qualifier, his little conspiracy circle would consist of one. Period.


Lisa was present when Banshee's hail came through. Explorer had called earlier, reporting several instances of crewmen requiring sedation and restraint when they began screaming about the "voices." Prior Borg contact did that to you. Sporadic reports of a similar nature continued to filter in from the marine contingents, although no one on Waystation's truncated staff had had the misfortune of meeting the Hive face-to-drone. Well, there was Ensign Jackal, but Dr. Nelson had yet to determine if it was a true reaction to the cube, or one of his infrequent attacks of multiple personality disorder.


"Put him on hold," snapped Lisa to the lieutenant manning communications. "Morales," this to her second-in-command, "has the cube done anything in the last couple minutes?"


The named looked up from his console. Several Section 31 uniforms scurried around the command area: Admiral Newman was on his way up. "No. That first damn weapon, cataclysm torpedo I've finally been told, did some surface damage, but that was all. Tri-cobalt devices are absolutely useless. Other than that, it has sat there passively, soaking up whatever the few ships out there throw at it, occasionally returning fire with disrupter or cutting beam. The attacks seem half-hearted, assuming Borg have hearts."


"Sir, Captain Vorezze is demanding to talk to us. He has hailed the Explorer, and they are waiting on the line as well," chirped the lieutenant. Of course, the lieutenant always chirped, universal translator not quite masking a native language which sounded like love-sick crickets on LSD.


"On screen."


The main viewscreen, formerly showing stationary cube and remains of scaffolding, split into two sections. On the right was a bespeckled Betazoid in black - Captain Vorezze; opposite was a very frazzled Captain Baxter. The former appeared to be in his ready room and the latter on his ship's bridge.


"Captain and Captain," nodded Lisa to the two. 


"Captain and Captain," echoed Baxter. Several faces usually on the bridge were very obviously absent.


Vorezze opened his mouth to say something, then abruptly snapped it shut.


Admiral Newman swept grandly onto the command deck, turbolift doors opening to disgorge the man. His gaze locked upon Jad. "Vorezze," he roared, "what is the meaning of this? This communication is not through proper channels! Who knows what black operations may slip from your lips, not that you know many of them, but it is the principle of the matter!"


The Betazoid opened his mouth again, closed it, winced, then began a conversation with himself. "I will not say that! Why? Because it sounds idiotic, like I was a drone or something. Well, I'm not!" Pause. "And I won't say that neither." Longer pause. "No, not that. That royally hurts. And don't you dare do that either, 'cause I'll get nauseous and puke all over the display. You wouldn't want that, would you?" Short pause. "It is not irrelevant, you Borg SOB. My 'weak body' will be incapacitated, and who will talk for you then, hmmm?" Very long pause. "Fine, I'll say that, word for word."


Vorezze shook his head back and forth, as if he were a dog shaking off water. "Sorry, Admiral, I had to do this. If I didn't, the consequences would be painful for me. Very painful. First a bit of background for Captains Beck and Baxter.


"Sometime back myself and one hundred seventy-four crewmembers from Banshee were involved in a little spatial rip accident originating in the Delta Quadrant. The specifics are unimportant, but we were all transported to a Borg cube. Through another set of coincidences, the cube and everyone on board was conveyed to the past.


"I won't relate the whole story, but in order to avoid assimilation, those that hadn't already been taken, had to be fitted with devices called external neural transceivers. The things act like internal comm badges with a few extra bells and whistles, like tendrils curled around your pain center for Pavlov dog conditioning. When all was said and done, most of the crew managed to be returned to Banshee, minus their transceivers. All except for me. Mine was removed, improperly I've now been informed, by people on my own ship.


"The Borg vessel we managed to catch is known as Cube #347; and it is the exact same one I had the misfortune to live on for several months. Yes, so you say it wasn't exactly a picnic for you either. I'm getting to the point, just give me a moment." That last bit was obviously directed at someone who wasn't present, who wasn't in Vorezze's empty ready room. He cleared his voice and continued.


"All you need to know is that the cube suffers from a problem called 'assimilation imperfection.' Don't let your guard down, though - OUCH! That was uncalled for! Sorry. Anyway, the drones aboard this ship are less connected with each other and the Collective than your normal group, and can function perfectly fine without constant input from the Hive. However, they are very much Borg, and all that the label implies.


"The one in charge would like to introduce himself. He is called 'Captain' or his designation '4 of 8.' Don't call him Captain Borg. He is very adamant about this point. He requests a face-to-face conference with those 'who speak for all', which is his term for myself, Admiral Newman, Captains Beck and Baxter, and whomever else would be appropriate. Okay, okay, I'll repeat what you have to say word for word."


Vorezze closed his eyes, rubbed fingers against temple, and began again. "'Federation, our subspace radio systems have been compromised, thanks to your trap. Melted is a better term. Cycles of repair will be required to allow ship-to-ship hailing. However, we are functional in all other ways, as demonstrated by our continued existence despite your actions. Your attacks are futile, and you do not have support vessels within range of sufficient quantity or firepower to destroy us. We wish you did.


"'The thing we destroyed was a They probe. All They incursions must be eradicated. By any means. They are extremely dangerous. I, 4 of 8, require a meeting with those who will speak for all. At 2100 by your time, this drone will be beamed to the airlock of the docking station nearest our position. Terminating this body is not an option, as 'Captain' is a term of convenience and another drone will assume my duties within seconds. I speak for all on Cube #347.


"'You will comply.'"


The Banshee's captain broke into a fit of coughing, quickly suppressed. The words which came next were delivered in a subdued manner, expression drained and tired. "Sorry, but I have a massive headache now. He's pulled back and expects you to be ready for his arrival. You three can discuss what course you are going to take, but for myself...I am going to find an analgesic, take a nap, and be at that location at 2100." The connection was ended.


Baxter, Newman, and Beck quietly regarded each other, eyes locked in speechless communication. Lesser ranked crewmen stood silently, pondering their dim future; and how much it might cost to buy one of Dillon's three "Colonial Scouts" (Slogan: "Find your next homeworld with ease!") parked in the station hanger he rented.





*****





It was 2100 hours, and the corridor outside the airlock was full.


"Transporter detected at docking station beta," calmly informed the computer. In response, thirty phaser rifles powered up, thirty muzzles aimed at the airlock door, thirty pairs of eyes (and two pair of antennae) under comm helmets waited in anticipated mayhem. The three ten-squads of soldiers were all that could fit in the hallway without getting in each other's way. More marines waited down the corridor.


"How many lifeforms and what species?" asked Lisa. It was her station, after all, no matter how outnumbered she was by black uniforms.


Responded the computer, "One lifeform, species unknown. Presence of cybernetic implants suggests a Borg drone."


"This is it," said Russel. After towing back the space squid, he had returned to his security duties overseeing the few people whom remained in his command. Baxter - not present due to difficulties on his ship involving the subduing of a Flarn medical-exchange officer who disagreed with the handling of the cube - had offered his own crew. One look at a glowering Andorian named J'hana had persuaded Sean to politely decline. He idly wondered if J'hana and Jaroch from Secondprize had ever met.


Lisa nodded. "It is. Computer, open the lock to docking station beta."


The large doors hissed as back-up hydraulics disengaged, allowing magnetic fasteners to detach. They were greeted with the back of a Borg. Its arms were crossed and it was tapping its right foot with an intensity approaching impatience. The head was panning slowly back and forth, obviously scanning something invisible to the mere humanoids awaiting outside.


"What took you so long?" it asked, not bothering to turn and meet ranks of phaser rifles. "I have analyzed a system of stress fractures ringing the outer door of this airlock. The next occurrence of a hard docking has a 72.4% chance of explosive decompression. With each subsequent docking, the chance of damage will rise another 7.8% until failure is inevitable. Very sloppy. Very inefficient."


Thirty index fingers caressed thirty "vaporize" buttons.


The drone swiveled on its heel to face the threat. If it (he?) was worried about addressing so much firepower, he did not show it, simply registering and dismissing the threat with nary a glance. Surprisingly, the eye opposite ocular implant which fell upon Beck and Russel, the only two authority figures in evidence, was a piercing blue.


"We will not talk to you in this unsuitable environment." An arm minus obvious prosthetics was waved vaguely at a group of marines. Sarcasm? "You will escort me to those who will speak for all. Now."






Captain looked in turn to each of the important beings in the predominantly human gathering. The soldier contingent did not count. He continued to be personally mystified why the Federation, a supposed benevolent hegemony containing several ancient races, was human-centric, especially as that race was relatively new to warp technologies. Borg archives held spotty records indicating a predecessor to the Federation, but it had abruptly disappeared. Perhaps if the conundrum was solved it might give a clue as to why the physically and mentally deficit human species had an anomalously high resistance quotient. The specimens present certainly did not solve that puzzle.


{Don't you dare get yourself terminated. I do not desire to be Captain.}


{You don't want to be Second, either,}


{True, but I'd rather be Second than Captain,} spoke Second to Captain. The communication link was solid, if a bit distant, the normal closeness of four thousand others held at arm's length. Delta preferred to begin washing the hull down with acidic substances, but the risk of losing a substantial number of her hierarchy was too great. Intense concentration continued to be focused on the wiring.


Captain spoke to the silently glowering faces. No introductions had been offered beyond the most basic upon his arrival and subsequent escort to this conference room. Introductions were irrelevant. "We can do this the easy way, or the hard way. You decide. We prefer the easy way, but we can adapt to the difficult track, should you decide to resist. This sub-collective must succeed, by any means."


"What the hell are you talking about?" demanded Beck, the most out-spoken of the group. Newman was close in seconding what was less question and more order for information. Captain could relate to that attitude. The thoughts in Vorezze's mind, those which weren't the incoherent babblings and nothings of a small being, centered around wishing the Waystation's commander would shut up before all were assimilated. Baxter was simply trying not to be noticed.


"They," flatly stated Captain. The graphic collective memories of They, stored within the permanent files of all sub-collectives, all drones, burned in his mind. They were terrible. "They. Tens of thousands of languages are known to the Borg, yet the self-designation of They remains an enigma. Most species designations translate to 'People', 'Us', or 'The People of' some planet. The best extrapolated approximation of their own name for themselves is 'They.' They are horrible. They are chaos. They are enemies of the Collective."


"Well, I'm liking them more and more," responded Beck, eyes flashing defiance. Maybe not all the specimens in the conference room were totally inept.


"You, Captain Lisa Beck, do not understand. Borg are order, the Federation is order, anything which uses non-organic technology is order. They despise order. They believe intelligently directed genetic evolution will lead to perfection and material technology detracts from perfection. The strongest species will win, bringing lesser intelligences into itself and eradicating sentient leftovers such that 'cleaned planets' may evolve a new species to claw its way to the stars and meet They in combat. They bring chaos to order. They are anti-Borg."


Baxter muttered under his breath, "If Borg and anti-Borg are brought together, will there be a large explosion?" All eyes, including the passive marines, riveted on Baxter. "What did I say? What?" he protested. He quieted with an eye-rolling "Geesh. I should have sent Conway to this thing. He's the one who loves conspiracies."


Captain continued where he left off, "They originate from a satellite galaxy Federation charts designate as M31. Several millennia ago, a force of They attempted to strike into territory held by the Collective. They failed. We discovered we could not assimilate They peons, and They found out They could not absorb drones into Chaos. They inflicted substantial losses in Our fleet before They retreated, which necessitated several centuries of absorbing species into perfection at an accelerated rate to offset the toll. They have obviously not given up their designs to bring this galaxy to chaos, simply moving to a different quadrant to prepare their assault. This cube must stop them."


"Is this where the easy way and hard way comes in?" asked Newman. He looked vaguely thoughtful. Captain supposed he was plotting in a small way to try to turn this problem to his advantage, or more specifically, Section 31's advantage. Neither Borg nor They technology could be allowed to fall into Federation hands. The consequence of raising the resistance quotient higher would put Cube #347 on duties fit for automated probes.


"We must convince They scouts Borg have a presence in this area large enough to defeat any probing attack. The easy way involves covert operations, carefully supervised modifications to all ships in the area to produce signatures as if they had been assimilated, as well as a limited drone presence on vessels as well to efficiently coordinate activities. This plan includes Waystation. We would lure scouts or battlers to traps and terminate them."


Beck frowned, "I don't like that plan."


Quiet Vorezze raised his voice, breaking his silence, "Fishing, Admiral...he wants to go fishing with us as bait. That sound familiar? And if the 'hard way' is as unsavory as the alternate option myself and my crew had in the Delta Quadrant, I'm sure you'll like it even less. Don't be fooled: he is a Borg."


Captain suppressed the ironic smile which threatened to cross his face. Anything other than deadpan was not good for the PR department. "The hard way involves Cube #347 assimilating every being in the immediate neighborhood. Initial losses from the sub-collective are estimated at five hundred eighteen drones, after which enough bodies will be processed to offset damage and continue to the inevitable end. The final result will be the same, namely convince They of Borg presence. In this case, however, it will not be trickery, but reality." Captain left out the bit where he would be forced to coordinate the whole, attempting to partition as many drones as possible from the corrupting influence of assimilation imperfection such that the fruit of the mass assimilation would be salvageable. Cube #347 was normally not allowed to process so many drones, but....


By any means.


Phaser rifles lifted at the threat, squad nervously pointing the weapons at Captain. He would undoubtedly terminate if they fired, frequency modulations likely all different and unadaptable until several drones sacrificed themselves to gain necessary weapon data. Captains, except for Vorezze, and admiral sat open mouthed at the threat. Banshee's commander simply murmured, "I told you so," and lapsed back into resigned silence. One last touch, rather frivolous and theatrical, was demanded. Captain yielded to the impulse, trying not to outwardly react to the howls of mental laughter at the faces of the Starfleeters.


The final uttered words were absolute, menacing: "You will comply."
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A Fish Story - Part 3

Tally-Ho!




They were not pleased. Their plan was disintegrating All had started well: presence of Order, presence of Borg, was determined to be negligible; major civilizations in the area were distrustful, one openly hostile to the aggressive colonization advancements of the other. Various alliances within the major power - Federation - were shaky, with the dominant species known as humans denying economic and materialistic set-backs caused by a recently concluded war. Theoretically, covert introduction of Chaos should have been easy, initiation of massive warfare to winnow the strongest from the pack inevitable.


The promise of new technologies in the form of a probe had been offered, placement of the tool careful and exact. The seeds of envy and mistrust already lay in fertile soil, and it was a prudent gardener who could coax the brightest, most deadly blossoms from a field of worthless weeds. The Federation had predictably responded, quickly acquiring the probe even as their competitors mobilized their military forces or prepared semi-polite requests to examine the booty.


They had not euthanized the probe, instead activating neural pathways to send it into catatonia. Such a state was usually reserved for major operations (chemical anesthesia a primitive and discarded tool) or to store units in minimum maintenance hibernation. At the center of space-adapted body a sleepy mind remained observant, passively passing information to They.


The They cerebrate masses pulsed, vast amounts of neural matter demanding additional sugars and carbohydrates from symbiont units to fuel massive parallel processing. Telepathic communication was maintained between all parts of They, They aboard the many motherships of the scouting expedition in perfect harmony with They still a thousand years distant in the main colonization/pacification convoy. The link with the scout had been terminated in a most disturbing manner - Borg disrupters.


The Borg should not be here! said They.


But Order is here, responded They.


What actions shall we take? questioned They.


Psychoactive substances bathed cerebrates, forcing new heights of cognition through multiple layered simulations examining every possible facet of the problem. Additional symbionts burrowed among neural strands, occasionally interjecting random pulses of painful electricity to generate novel thought patterns. When one cerebrate convulsed in the equivalent of an epileptic seizure, all shared in the sudden burst of chaotic images.


It is only one Borg vessel, small, informed They. An odd anomaly is associated with its appearance, signature of Order backtracked to a neighboring star system.


Agreed. It poses no threat. Although active, the small compliment of drones on the ship will be unable to assimilate and mount suitable resistance to the introduction of Chaos, noted They.


We will eradicate the threat and simply act in a more direct fashion, murmured They. A minimum of 2.1 Home years is estimated for Order to mount an effective offense. By then we will have our prey within our grasp. Proper propaganda, if necessary, will manipulate the prey to fight for us. We can gauge the strength of Federation, of Klingon, of Dominion, of Romulan, of Moltke, of many civilizations through this manner. Megapolitics in this galaxy are no different from the Home galaxy in its wild, preChaos state.


What shall we do about this ship, then? prudently questioned They.


Destruction. Eight medium tactical units plus assault compliment will be sufficient. The swarm will remain active to repulse additional cubes as they arrive. While the swarm is awakened, processed, and dispatched, we will engage with light tactical units already in area, ordered They. 


Yes, that course of action will be most suitable, confirmed They.


And if it doesn't work? And if Order successfully gains a foothold here to resist? quivered They.


The Federation will resist Borg advances. If anything, their fear of a proven hostile known will assist us. Our plan will prevail! trumpeted They.


Elsewhere, eight medium tactical units slowly regained awareness.





*****





"This is a light tactical unit."


Click.


"This is another light tactical unit."


Click.


"These are eight light tactical units acting in unison. The formation is called a 'swarm'."


Click.


A slide show was in progress, darkened conference room warm with equipment and multiple bodies. Still shots on the viewscreen showed a succession of black, vaguely winged objects looking somewhat like eyeless manta rays; a double row of clawed tentacles rested flush in grooves along the underside.


Click.


"Here are three swarms attacking a cube." Captain narrowed his eye, scanning into the dark. Most of those present, including soldiers, were either blatantly asleep or nodding. As he watched, one marine's head sunk forward, only to jerk upright seconds later. Captain frowned.


"This is a picture of Captain Jad Vorezze, shortly after he 'lost' his towel. Note Betazoid characteristics normally hidden by clothing." Attention was suddenly riveted on the screen and the most current slide. Vorezze protested weakly, trailing off as coarse laughter filled the air.


"Pay attention, small beings. We can see when you are entering organic regeneration mode." 


The next picture which filled the viewscreen was different from earlier slides, this one computer-enhanced footage of a dissection in progress. "While we were unable to assimilate They units, many were captured and subjected to examination," began Captain. "This is a typical light tactical unit, the average specimen of which is sixty-three meters long. However, size may range from forty to eighty meters. Light tactical units are the type most likely to be encountered and, thus, it is this type against which vessels will be modified.


"Note the overall shape. Muscular wings serve as airfoils for atmospheric work, be it that of a terrestrial planet, a gas giant, or stellar corona. Epidermis is both sensing surface and armor, a biological equivalent to technological systems." The skin of the specimen (still alive, but Captain was loath to volunteer such information) was peeled back to reveal shine of muscle underneath.


"A biometric energy source consisting of twitch muscles and organic capacitors fuels arc-discharge lasers. This medium distance weapon produces very powerful pulsed energy emissions, output of which is equivalent to Federation disrupter devices. Assuming high-yield torpedo units do not shred the integrity of your lightly armored vessels, shields should be adequate to deflect and dissipate this attack.


"Shield emitter modifications, among other necessary alterations, will provide a secondary electrostatic grid two centimeters from the hull. All space-faring tactical unit types can disgorge a very corrosive acid, produced by these glands." Captain indicated the appropriate organs on the They unit. Several members of the audience appeared very pale and distressed. "Without an electrostatic grid in place, a single light tactical unit is capable of physically ripping an opponent to debris if it can penetrate traditional shields. Acid will be repelled by the grid and rotating frequencies will dissuade, but not prevent, the unit from using clawed grapples. Be warned, if a They unit makes contact with an object, it can funnel high amounts of electricity into the target's superstructure." On the screen, the light tactical unit had been rolled over to display several pairs of clawed limbs tucked against the torso. Talons were tipped in metallic resin secreted by special glands; these powerful contact weapons could even rip through the duralloy metals Borg employed in their outer hulls.


"Many They tactical units display a modified telekinesis ability akin to a tractor beam in function. While not a primary weapon due to its weakness in comparison to the technological counterpart, it may be used in desperate situations." The dissection uncovered the brain mass at the center of the upside-down They unit, levering up a metal-encrusted bone shield. While this particular unit had terminated at this point, many others continued to function until rendering for trace elements and recoverable biomass. 


"Neural structure of all fifty-two catalogued unit types display traces of sentient ancestry. However, many of these organisms currently have the mental capability equivalent to a Terran dog, if that. Collective hypothesis postulates all They units are enslaved species, genetically altered and selectively bred for tens of thousands of years until a desired functional form and intellect level is achieved." Looks of disgust filled the room. Captain pounced on the PR opportunity. "Whereas Borg assimilations fit each race or individual carefully into the Whole where it will best serve, They literally butcher Their victims through eugenics to be less than what was evolved to be. Additionally, They units are engineered to suicide shortly after severance from Chaos."


Click. A still shot of a single light tactical unit filled the screen, replacing the dissection scene. It was stupidly advancing on a trio of cubes. "As with all unit types, this vessel is dangerous in swarms. However, units often display rash actions, as well as (click) moments of irrational viciousness." A video of a destroyed cube filled the screen, terminated drones floating within the debris. Several manta shapes swam among sundered metal, hunting for opportunities to slash at the dead bodies.


"So now we know how these things can kill us. What type of defenses do the, um, ships have?" The voice originated from Vorezze.


"Defense is epidermis and conventional shielding. The former has elements which equate it strengthwise with Federation battleship plating. The latter - at the time of They invasion into Borg-controlled space - is powered by a warp core, one of the few manufactured features of a They unit. The shield matrix itself is constructed along a metal-alloy laminated bone lattice. It is adaptable to phaser frequencies." Captain would not reveal dissections of They units had led to the adaptation and incorporation of personal shielding into drones. While They had not been and could not be assimilated, They were still a part of the Borg through their distinctiveness. They would throw a fit when They found out.


A hand rose. Captain ignored it, busy expounding tactics likely to be used by half-swarms of light tactical units. The hand began to wave frantically, beckoning for attention. Captain continued to not acknowledge the distraction. Finally Beck said, "Baxter obviously has something he wants to ask. Aren't you going to see what he wants?"


Captain queried the human database, discovering a raised had was a common method by which the species indicated a question. "Captain Andrew Baxter, state your inquiry."


"Can I go to the bathroom?"


"Yes."


Baxter levered himself out of his chair, as if to leave the conference room.


"You will not leave this space until we are finished."


"But...but you said I could go to the bathroom! And I really need to visit the head."


"Head? Where does a head fit into your actions? Assuming you are a biologically healthy specimen of your species, it is physiologically possible for you to eject waste."


Baxter grumbled, still standing, "Look, I had too much grapefruit juice with my cereal this morning and now I have to take a whiz. A pee. A potty break."


Captain digested the information, his hierarchy arriving at a decision. "The human male bladder is capable of retaining a large amount of liquid. You will hold it until we are done. Sit down."


Baxter returned to his seat. He squirmed. Half a minute later, hand rose to the air again.


"No, Captain Andrew Baxter, you may not use the bathroom."


"That isn't what I was going to ask. I have another question," said Explorer's captain. "You have alluded to other They ships besides light tactical units. Are there any? Will we encounter them?"


Captain mentally substituted his next two pictures with alternate still photos drawn from storage. He displayed the first on the screen. It looked like a large black water wiener with spikes studding its side.


"This is a heavy tactical unit. This specimen was approximately five kilometers in length. It is unknown if They retain or have produced additional units of this type since their retreat from BorgSpace. Our mission is to convince They there is a substantial Borg presence in this area, one which is too large to be dealt with by this unit. If we see a heavy, all of us here will shortly be terminated." Captain's conviction was absolute.


The second slide flashed onto the screen. These vessels were an unusual orange, smooth cylindrical stern tapering aft, only to explode into a complex, feathery organ. One school of thought might say it resembled a giant goose feather, another a Terran organism called a sea pen. Captain was about to name this unit when several marine voices interrupted.


"It's a flying Willie!"


"A big Johnson! A very big Johnson!"


"Sausages in space!"


"I wonder if Ferrengi are that color down below?"


"Desist!" roared Captain. "State the meaning of this outburst! These are medium tactical units. Units average two kilometers in length."


A low whistle was followed by the murmur, "A very big Johnson indeed." Silence. Baxter squirmed in his seat, legs crossing and uncrossing.


"Andrew Baxter. Explain."


 Baxter looked uncomfortable. "Um...the unit...it looks like a penis. An orange penis."


Captain considered the comments. Primitive innuendoes. "Irrelevant. Calculations indicate a 34.1% probability we will encounter at least one of this unit type. Mediums are most hazardous in swarms, where they display a pack mentality. However, singletons can be equally dangerous. Likelihood of a swarm is 1.9%. We will adapt our tactics appropriately if we find a medium attack unit. Probability of survival depends on many factors and cannot be computed unless one is located."


The rising mumble of reproductive organ related comments bade Captain to click past the slide, coming to the end of his show. He stood before the bright light, half-blinded and shadow looming behind. Self-modification of optic implant with a filter removed the annoyance from relevancy.


"Both medium and heavy tactical units carry subsets of themselves, individual creatures which serve as assault units in hand-to-hand conflict. They can, and will, assimilate you into They via tailored viruses; or terminate you in the process.


"We will again remind you that there is a hard way and an easy way in this endeavor. Depending on one's point of view, the easy way has been chosen. You will comply with our orders, else a different easy way will be initiated. This is not a threat. The Collective will assimilate your culture sooner or later. You decide the timetable. 


"Drones will arrive on Waystation at 0700 hours local time to begin modification of station systems. Additional units will board Explorer and Banshee at 0800 hours. Smaller vehicles will be similarly altered once the primary vessels are complete.


"We are done with this briefing."


Baxter leapt from his chair, pushing heavily armed marines twice as large as he out of the way in his haste to exit the conference room.





*****





It was 0700 hours and Tina was nervous: she had never been told to perform such a greeting before. When the bulk of the station staff was evacuated, somehow herself, obviously non-vital, had been overlooked. Scuttlebutt among the ranks as other crewmen and ensigns were packed away was that Starfleet had sprung for an all expense vacation to the resort of his or her choice. All except for Tina...and the custodial staff.


Crewman Hal "The Sweeper" Barley looked as if he would rather be dusting or mopping somewhere, or perhaps using a vacuum squeegee on the exterior windows. Tina, absolutely refusing to be the only official greeter to the initial Borg delegation, especially if they began to assimilate everyone, had pulled her mediocre rank (she was two weeks Hal's senior). Therefore, both herself and Barley were dressed in their cleanest service uniforms. Tina held her PADD close to her chest. No protocols covered this unprecedented-to-be occurrence.


Arrayed behind Tina and Hal in a rough arc was the command staff and two ten-squads of marines, one group in black and the other in dark khaki. Phaser rifles were trained on the cargo airlock to which the first ten Borg would beam.


"Transporter signature detected in cargo airlock delta. Ten lifeforms, all Borg," informed the computer. Tina wished she could sport such a calm voice.


"Computer, open the doors," brusquely ordered Captain Beck. Or Captain Beck's attitude, thought Tina, I could use that. Anything but boring, expendable Tina in her boring, expendable job. 


The large cargo doors slowly slid back to reveal ten pale-faced Borg. To the front of the evenly spaced group was one specimen, pair of optical implants of differing sorts obscuring half of four eyes. It took one step forward (phaser rifles quivered) and began to speak, "This drone is...." It spluttered to a halt, gaze riveted on Tina. With a start, Tina realized she knew the drone.


"Second!"


"26 of 152!"


The exclamations were spoken at the same time.


"3 of 8!"


"Crewman Tina Jones!"


Silence within the corridor. No one moved. Time stretched. Several drones surreptitiously shuffled their feet. A marine scratched his nose.


"This is ridiculous!" rang from the ranks of Borg behind the lead drone. The words originated from two different throats. The outspoken duo pushed their way to the forefront, where it became obvious they were perfectly alike, down to the various nicks and imperfections of exoplating. "Move out of the way, Second, some of us have work to do."


Second continued to regard Tina as Tina stared at Second. Without taking her eyes off of the Borg, she called to her commanding officers, "Excuse me, Captain Beck, but Hal will have to take over my duties for awhile. I have some...things...I need to take care of." She absently held out her PADD for Crewman Barley to claim. Within Borg communication pathways, a similar exchange, ending with {...so don't bother me for a bit, Captain, Delta, everyone,} took place.


Tina and Second moved off down the corridor, through the wall of soldiers as if they were not present. The two were silent as eyes reflecting dozens of emotions watched them. Borg and human, victims of pizza-technology gone horribly wrong and consequently inhabitants of the other's body, had much to talk about.





*****





They light tactical units were more intelligent than probes, had the distinction of self-proclaimed names. Names denoted individuality; and individuality, up to a point, was encouraged within Chaos. The intellect potential of Talon and Flare fell somewhere in the nebulous range between dog and dolphin: smart enough to improvise on the situation-as-was, yet requiring higher order units to plan for the dimly perceived concept of "future." In many ways, the mind-set of light tactical units could be described as vicious in the manner of falcon or eagles.


Flare was elder of the duo, seventy-six meter length crisscrossed by scars attesting to his battle prowess and survival. Talon, at forty-five meters, was only recently decanted from the creche chambers, his birth a short century in the past as the expedition began boosting unit numbers for an initial strike into this region of the target galaxy. Both units, grown in a form resembling the extinct Terran animal once known as a manta ray, had been lounging on a comet nucleus, feeding, when the directive from They had come.


We go! We go! chorused Talon and Flare together, reveling as endorphins were released into their systems. They were bred for battle, eager despite knowing it was a useless cause without readily available medium or heavy reserves. The pair, even cunning Flare, would die as they fulfilled their command; they would end their life in pleasure, rending Order, accepting their chemically-induced reward. Flare especially looked forward to the fight, ancient memories bright with youthful battlelust, focusing on the origin of his scars from Borg ships.


Talons and tail gouged comet nucleus as last bites were snatched, epidermal senses triangulating relative position in the quadrant. Additional contact with They brought forth detailed star charts, multiple courses to the target marked as well as current position of other units. The light tactical units were expected to determine the best method of approach, They, as always, in the background subtly pulling strings. Talon and Flare screamed telepathically to each other, hearing answering cries of encouragement from too-distant units. The battle against Order was once again joined!





*****





Ford stood at the juncture of two corridors, watching the Borg down the hallway. He was before an open access panel, all four arms (two artificial) within the workspace. Occasionally another drone would appear from around the corner carrying a piece of equipment or specialized tool. The two never talked to each other, neither a greeting nor an annoyed grunt, the former simply holding out a limb to receive what the latter had brought. Ford counted the arms again, noting, as he had multiple times, a characteristic mismatching section of armor over left shoulders. This drone had to be the one he had overheard Ensign Lowrey and Crewman Vinth talking about, in conjunction with their renewed love life, in the Twilight Zone. Nerving himself, Ford sucked in a deep breath and nonchalantly strolled forward.


"Um, hello? Have you a minute?"


"What do you want, human?" asked the drone in a monotone. "We are busy right now. Your presence lowers my efficiency."


Ford was silent for a moment. The Borg did not seem to have slowed his indefinable task. "I hear you can provide," lick of lips, "sex on the beach. The best."


Work within the bulkhead halted, head turning exorcist style to regard Ford. Slowly a close-mouthed smile crossed pale face. The expression was more parody than actual smile as unused facial muscles were exercised. Ford gulped.


Borg should not be allowed to smile, thought Ford to himself.


"Yes, I can provide excellent sex on the beach. Would you like it now? I can spare a few minutes."


By the Directors, panicked Ford, I didn't mean that! If this turns kinky, I am outta here! What have I gotten myself into? Images galloped through Ford's mind, none good. However, no protestations passed his frozen throat. The Borg took the silence as assent.


"Don't worry, we won't be disturbed. This task will not lower my efficiency, much. I actually enjoy requests like this. My designation is 2 of 240."


No, no, no, no, no, no, no!! Ford poised himself to sprint away and deny all accusations.


2 of 240 turned back to the workspace. His body blocked all view of proceedings, but the distinctive sound of a transporter sounded several times. "You don't know how long it has been since I have had an appreciative species. I am Borg, you know, and would not give it up. If it wasn't against orders, I'd happily add you into our perfection." He paused his unknown task to twist his head and look Ford up and down. Full attention was returned to the bulkhead. "Well, maybe not you in particular. Nonetheless, your species will know Oneness one day. Until then, I will spread what little perfection my imperfect self can." The gurgle of liquids was superseded by click of glass on glass, followed with distinctive ring of metal on glass. The Borg turned, presenting a tall tumbler of some concoction. "Here you go, your drink."


Ford tentatively took the glass. The liquid within was translucent pink with a squirt of white drifting down the volume's center. A pineapple wedge and machismo cherry under a parasol toothpick garnished the edge. "What is it?" asked Ford, eyes wide.


2 of 240 blinked. "Sex on the beach, as requested. My species profile clearly indicates not only proficiency at chemical engineering, but an excellence in the related bartending arts. I was a superb cruise ship bartender before my assimilation."


"Oh."





*****





"I wonder what they are talking about," murmured Lisa absently. "They" in question were Yeoman Jones and the Borg called Second. The pair had been nigh near inseparable since their initial scene at the airlock, trundling around the station together. No one was quite sure what was going on as they shut up when someone came within earshot, but from the distance it was obvious animated discussion was occurring. Currently it seemed Tina was giving the drone a thorough tour of the station.


Lisa's shadow halted, muscle-assisting biomotors in legs whining slightly. Ten additional shadows at a greater distance stopped as well, ever-present phaser rifles lifting. "The human designated Tina Jones is attempting to explain the concept of 'soup on a stick' to Second. Second is trying to understand, but our truncated archives do not contain mention of this substance." 


The drone commander - Lisa was not sure if that description was completely apt - had taken to following her around. He claimed his efficiency (at what, no one was quite sure) was greater when he was not on his cube; and he was unwelcome on both Explorer and Banshee for a myriad of reasons. That left Waystation as destination of choice. "How do you know that?" asked Lisa as she turned to stare.


"The same manner I know Doctor has broken into your station files to check the manifest for nonsentients, Delta A has accidentally wedged her leg in a hole, and 231 of 310 is peeping into Waystation's exterior windows. I know all that is going on; that is who I am."


"Who are you?"


"I am Captain. We are the sub-collective of Exploratory-class Cube #347."


Lisa sighed, turning on heel to continue her walk along the market level. Vorezze had warned her about those plurality changes. Just when you thought you had him figured, the "we"s came out. Lisa tried to ignore the noisy footfalls of the marine contingent.


"I'm just amazed there have not been any major confrontations as of yet." Captain remained silent. "There haven't been incidents, have there?"


"Nothing, as you say, major. All mishaps have been taken care of quietly," responded the drone. A glance backwards was rewarded with a face more blank than usual. Lisa frowned. Now what the hell was that comment supposed to mean?


She was about to pursue that troubling line of questioning when Captain's head snapped towards the direction of his cube, somewhere unseen beyond the station's hull. The three drones which had been in line-of-sight, each with suitable escort, had also halted. Lisa's comm badge chirped.


"What is it?" she asked after slapping the communicator.


"Don't bother," answered Captain before response was provided from the command deck. The various drones had returned to their tasks. "They have noticed us: two light tactical units have entered our sensor envelope. Second has returned to the cube while I coordinate us from here." He paused. "Explorer and Banshee are not quite ready, but we will take them out to meet with They. You are not equipped to observe the forthcoming battle. We should adjoin to your bridge or another suitable location."


Lisa nodded, leading the way towards the nearest turbolift.






{How many now?} sent Captain towards Doctor. His body was walking behind Beck, observing foibles of Federation behavior to add to Collective databases, while the majority of his mind was several kilometers distant. Neither soldiers nor station commander appeared to notice they were not the focus of his attention.


{Eighteen, not including bad-girl Lieutenant J'hana. Bad-girl has visited the vet office three times now.} Doctor was in the midst of deassimilating yet another Starfleeter, the victim of Borg reflexes when on the receiving end of an assault. Upper echelon officers had yet to hear about the incidents, fortunately; and those lower in the command ladder were keeping rumors (truth) from spreading. J'hana was another case all together as she continually tried to test her Andorian fighting skills against drones busy making modifications to the Explorer. She was worse than a Klingon!


{Well, clean up the human, wipe relevant memories, and send him back to his unit.}


{Okie-dokie.}


Beck was commenting on Yeoman Jones' fascination with Second, and visa versa. Captain tore his awareness away from a swearing Delta, one berating a work group for not using the proper thickness of metal in repairing a catwalk: one leg had gone through the floor, trapping body A. Concerning Second, Captain himself continued to be mystified as to why his backup consensus monitor spent so much time with the human, but as long as he maintained his efficiency, the reason was unimportant.


The irrelevant conversation turned towards the status of Borg-Starfleet relations, of which Captain did not want to respond. The art of deflecting questions from a topic was not his strong suit, however, and it quickly became apparent Beck was suspicious. The intrusion from Sensors in the form of four grid points-of-view (Cube #347, Waystation, and the two primary Starfleet battleships Explorer and Banshee) was welcome.


{Captain, Sensors [spouts] two light tactical They incoming at high [zoom].} The visual abruptly altered as Sensors altered the station datafeed. Captain would bet the Starfleeters were unaware exactly how compromised their systems were. The Federation computers resembled Swiss cheese as they leaked information out the holes. {Sensors likes all this grid area!}


By any means....by any means.... The root command began to echo once more.


{Stick to relevance, Sensors. Delta, report on modifications to station and local ships.}


Delta was still trying to extract body A from the hole. {Explorer and Banshee, as the most powerful Federation ships on site, are the closest to completion. However, several vital systems have yet to be installed. If we need to use them at this time, we will have to take direct control. As far as Cube #347, one face is now clean, but rewiring has slowed as other tasks take precedence.}


Very few options remained open. Captain initiated a decision cascade. The entire process, from sensing to final consensus, including all conversations and viewing of data, required mere seconds. A proper sub-collection would have ran the matrices in a third the time, which only highlighted Cube #347's imperfections. Sub-collective inefficiencies aside, They had to be eliminated.


{Second, take the cube. All engineering hierarchy will continue with their assigned tasks. The following from assimilation [designation list] will beam to Explorer and Banshee and assume computer control. An escort from weapon hierarchy [designation list] will also transport to protect assimilation members from overt hostilities...do not assimilate the crews, nor terminate/injure them if possible. Understand Weapons?} Captain did not wait for acknowledgment. {I will coordinate all from Waystation, as well as serve as liaison between us and the inevitable verbal explosions. Comply.}


{Compliance,} returned from all quarters.


Waystation personnel finally registered They on their grid, contacting Beck.


"Don't bother," said Captain. "They have noticed us: two light tactical units have entered our sensor envelope. Second has returned to the cube while I coordinate us from here." He paused. "Explorer and Banshee are not quite ready, but we will take them out to meet with They. You are not equipped to observe the forthcoming battle. We should adjoin to your bridge or another suitable location."


Beck led the way towards the nearest turbolift. Captain followed, soldiers nervously dogging his heels.






"Multiple Borg transporter signatures," reported J'hana. Baxter swiveled in his chair to look at the Andorian. People had lately reported her stalking Explorer's corridors with bat'lath in hand. That action in itself was not unusual, except J'hana did not normally dress up in full ceremonial attire fit for an Andorian hive function, which often included much hacking with sharp objects and capacious amounts of blood. Her occasional disappearances, no more than an hour, also vibrated the worry chords of Baxter's highly trained captain senses.


"They better not be messing with the replicator again," snarled Conway. Minor modifications by Borg to Explorer's computer code, completed under Larkin's watchful android sight, had accidentally corrupted coffee patterns. Baxter winced as he thought back on those very long thirty minutes; four security personnel had been required to restrain the irate commander from literally tearing apart the responsible parties.


Baxter shook his head at Conway's comment. "Where did this group go? And how many? Hartley is convinced there isn't a square millimeter these Borg haven't scanned or altered, all to the detriment of Explorer. Janice told me our former transporter chief is really picking up the engineering mindset, and all the paranoias that go with it." He paused. "Don't tell Hartley I said that. In fact, forget I said anything at all not related to our newest visitors." Several bridge crew discretely tucked away the information for future blackmail, except Larkin, who dutifully wiped all memory of the incident. 


J'hana frowned as she poked a button. "Ten Borg, all on our secondary bridge. Sir, there is no reason for them to go there."


"Incoming transmission from the cube," called Larkin.


Baxter's attention shifted from his security officer to ops. "On screen."


Catwalks filled the screen, devoid of life except for a hint of movement in the distance. Baxter wondered how they managed to pull off that "infinity" effect, and how long it had taken to design. The Borg definitely had ominous style, even if they lacked a winning personality.


"Explorer here," said Baxter. He wanted to add something else, but the surreal picture froze all thoughts of flippancy.


Spoke the multivoice: "Hang on...it's going to be a bumpy ride." The connection terminated.


"What the h-" began Conway. He was interrupted by J'hana's shout.


"By the Hive! A tractor beam has just locked onto us! And, most importantly, my weapon controls are gone!"


Ford, quiet unto this point, started to hit his console with a closed fist. "Sir, I've just lost helm." A couple of sparks flew in response to banging on the shoddily made station.


Larkin cleared her throat. "What?" asked Baxter. "Something's going on, and if you have anything to add to our crisis, just say it!"


"Captain, all computer functions have been rerouted to our secondary bridge and a Borg style forcefield erected around the area."


"We've been hijacked?"


"Affirmative, sir. I still retain sensors at my station and it appears Banshee has suffered a similar fate. We are leaving the station at high speed," Larkin said with typical android demeanor.


J'hana quivered in excitement before charging off the bridge for the turbolift, bat'lath already unsheathed.






{That must have hurt,} commented 118 of 300 as he watched the insane Andorian bounce off the forcefield yet again. The security parameter had been erected from a portable unit with its own power source; while not perfect, neither crews of Banshee nor Explorer could easily disable barrier from the outside. Upon discovery of this fact, J'hana had taken to bodily rushing the field, only to slump to the deck semi-conscious after each charge. Metal of the brandished bat'lath magnified the shock.


62 of 203, hand firmly placed on a console while assimilation tubules provided the sub-collective's link with the ship's computer, did not bother to turn to observe the sight. He was viewing the action through visual input from the alert tactical detachment. {Here comes the Flarn. It seems pissed.}


{She wassss not added to the Collective at the time of her planetary asssssault,} hissed 202 of 203 without audible vocalization. 202 of 203 was in fact of the Flarn species himself, the most recent addition to Cube #347's imperfectly assimilated sub-collective. He had been dispatched as one of the assimilation hierarchy trio tasked to control Explorer. {If she had, she wouldn't be in ssssssuch a mental sssssstate.} 202 of 203 towered over the other drones, his silhouette extremely obvious.


The Flarn, Doctor Benzra by the Explorer manifests, paled as much as her species could as she caught sight of 202 of 203's bulk. Physician duties forgotten, she dropped her hypospray, ignoring the slowly recovering J'hana. She charged the forcefield. The barrier shimmered as the large body impacted, but easily held.


{That must have hurt,} remarked 118 of 300 once again.






{Hang on...it's going to be a bumpy ride,} echoed in Vorezze's skull as Captain's single voice spoke in sync with the multivoice on the screen.


"I don't like the sound of that," said Charlotte.


Lieutenant Commander Ben Rachow at helm leered, "It seems like it would be just your thing."


"You are dead, helm-boy!" shouted Charlotte.






The ebb and flow of the datastreams was engrossing. Sensors coordinated three incoming sensor feeds, her hierarchy seamlessly manipulating them into a single unit. As she did not have fine control over the Federation ship systems, lacking were obvious distortions and hallucinations. Sensors expressed dissatisfaction over the perceived inefficiency, but no one else was complaining. The pair of light tactical units were pinpointed. Captain sent commands for transwarp engines to disengage.


{Weapons, you have provisional control, but don't abuse it. Act responsibly to terminate the They units. We coordinate Banshee and Explorer to follow your lead,} said Captain. Several working partitions of command and control assumed full mastery of Banshee and Explorer's systems, subsuming themselves to Weapons' guidance. The action resulted in a concurrent relaxation of dominance over general drone behavior. Captain internally winced as the number of inappropriate impulses battering sub-collective inhibition filters increased.


Wheedled Weapons, {We cannot blow up even one Starfleet vessel? Maybe moderate damage with light casualties?}


{Not a scratch on the paint, not an intentional bruise. Destroy They. That is the action which must be performed.}


Sensation of heaving sigh as various weapons were untargeted from unsuspecting Federation. {A few broken bones? At least the Flarn and the J'hana.} Several mentalities, those currently tasked to Explorer, weighted Weapons' proposition.


{Tempting, but no. You will comply.}


"My God, they look so alive! I've never seen anything move like that! Borg, Captain...are you listening?"


Captain heard the words, oddly removed even though they originated from a being physically much closer than the ten light year distant cube. He did not have time for such distractions! A battle was about to commence, one where wisdom of the Greater Consciousness would have no input, and he was required to coordinate three ships and four thousand drones diagnosed as psychotic by Borg standards. The continuing efforts by crews of the hijacked vessel pair to regain computer control did not help the situation.


"We are here, but we are busy," mouthed Captain in a low monotone. They units had spotted their adversaries and begun to shift into an offensive posture. While torpedo range remained five minutes away, a complex series of maneuvers was required to demonstrate to They that all members of the small fleet were firmly under Collective control. {Second, initiate pattern alpha; partitions one through four, swing Banshee and Explorer out wide.} 


Admiral Newmann pounded a fist on the console Captain was using as an interface to Waystation's computers and exterior senses. Discretely placed communication nodes kept him firmly linked with Cube #347 as well as the several dozen drones aboard the station. "I demand to know what is going on!"


Captain refused to move his hand, despite the fact the human's extremity had missed his own limb by mere centimeters. Primitive dominance displays of the unassimilated could be very trying. He suppressed the urge to slam the man against a bulkhead, recognizing the violent impulse as not his own. {Keep your hierarchy focused on the task, Weapons.} Captain directed the assimilation hierarchy to modify their computer control slightly.


"We will allow subspace access between those on the station and the Federation ships. However, the signal must be masked as a Borg tertiary carrier feed. Our control will be degraded 0.015% by this action, although the probability They will recognize the deception is calculated to be close to nil. Modifications are complete. We are rerouting the datastreams." Translation: one drone elsewhere on the station had to directly interface itself into station communication to serve as conduit for the humanoids to blithely blather at each other.


The admiral rubbed his hands together. "Finally. You, ensign at ops, open a channel to Banshee. I want to talk to someone, not just look at an exterior view."


The ensign flicked her eyes towards Beck. The station commander had yet to explode, which was a good thing; else stress was building to a critical point, which was very bad. "Do it," motioned Beck with a wave of her hand. "Let me remind you, Admiral, that you don't officially exist. And since you are not officially real, I would appreciate it if you would not go around ordering crew which are under my official authority."


"You are all to receive mindwipes when this is done, so I'll ignore that remark."


"Do so at your peril. The two Andorians your troops could not deport are very close acquaintances."


"Sirs,Captain Vorezze is answering," interrupted the ensign into the budding argument.


"On screen," ordered the two at the same time, glares of mutual open hostility exchanged.


"Vorezze," bellowed Newmann, "report! What in the seven hells is going on there? All we get are pretty pictures from Mister Untalkative here."


Captain withdrew a slice of his awareness back to his body, enough to look up from the uninteresting console. He was positioned at the back of the command deck and was momentarily not the center of attention. Seeing an excellent opportunity, he allowed a rather nasty smile to cross his face, directed at Vorezze. It was quickly erased. Taunting the Starfleet captain was fun...irrelevant, but enjoyable.


"You!" screamed Vorezze, ignoring Newmann. "You Borg SOB! We have no ship control and our communications have been blacked out since that cube of yours latched onto us with a tractor beam! What is the point of dragging us into this fight if you didn't need our crews anyway?"


{You are a redundant system,} calmly replied Captain, facial muscles now locked in a deadpan expression.


"Redundant? That's all we are?"


Demanded Newmann, "Who are you talking to?"


{Defensive and offensive modifications were incomplete at the time of They intrusion. We must act as One to keep your vessels in one piece, and our actions are the most efficient manner at this time. Your ship would not be a match alone against the They light tactical units. Cube #347 could dispatch the units one at a time, but together our overt theatrics will be more convincing.}


"That isn't a straight answer," sulked Vorezze as he relaxed slightly.


{It will make more sense if you survive the battle.}


"Survive? I may die in an engagement of three on two with one of those three being a Borg cube?"


"Who are you talking to?!"


Captain chose to speak aloud. "Human, Vorezze is conversing with me. I have just informed him of a 19.9% chance the Banshee may be destroyed in the upcoming dogfight. There is an additional 5% probability our control will slip and we may accidentally destroy one or both of the Starfleet ships."


"Damn," whistled Beck.


"However, we can only do our inefficient best. Twenty They torpedoes targeting Cube #347. We are now within torpedo range. Firing."


Vorezze's face went white as his tactical officer, DiSanto, informed him of Banshee deploying one of its cataclysm torpedoes without apparent authorization. The battle was begun.






Torpedoes, and their close cousin missiles, are a simple idea. The concept is to use an engine to send explosive payloads towards the enemy with the intent to damage, decimate, and/or destroy. The guidance system may be as simple as a metal detector which locks on the first thing it senses, be it friend or foe, to complex intellects that can not only track prey to a combustive finale, but hold up its side of a conversation on sub-nuclear dynamics at the same time. The latter is typically much more expensive than the former, thus rarely comprises the bulk of a ship's munitions locker.


Warfare in space has added a few extra frills the basic torpedo paradigm. Hulls highly resistant to radiation and concussive damage require payloads with a greater oomph; and electronic warfare devices constantly modify the torpedo's electromagnetic field to remove potentially damaging dust particles from the line of travel, as well as provide ability for warhead to burrow through protective shields of the target. Still, some things never change, and guidance system options are one of them.


They had their own version of the torpedo. Many organic processes substituted for metal and ceramic, but the end result was the same: a very fast body packing a large boom. Unlike mechanized civilizations, They torpedo units all had brains; and brains, even the simple kind represented by a torpedo, are more intelligent than any but the most expensive manufactured device. As a bonus, torpedo units were extremely cheap to grow.


Talon and Flare appraised the situation with their one-track minds, targeting the Borg cube with ten torpedoes apiece. To Flare's experienced senses, the smaller ships were acting in concert with the larger; and Talon felt the quaver of ephemeral subspace harmonics which represented the ebb and flow of Order communications. The conclusion was obvious: They had miscalculated - They could admit their mistakes, and learn from them - in Order's ability to assimilate more unto itself.


If Flare had eyes, they would have narrowed in thoughtful mental pause as he contemplated his forthcoming death. A minimum of two swarms of light attack units was required to rend the small Exploratory-class successfully; and with three vessels, two of unknown capability modified to Borg specifications, he and Talon were outmatched. No matter.


On the other side, the Borg sub-collective directed Banshee to fire a cataclysm torpedo set on area effect. Explorer was brought forward both to act as a target for any They torpedo units which were not destroyed and to function as an extension of the cube's still truncated sensor grid. Cube #347 began to rotate, sending out its own flock of torpedoes.


The battle was over before it had truly began, before medium range weapons such as phasers or disrupters could be deployed. Talon and Flare had barely begun powering twitch muscle capacitors in anticipation of unleashing their arc-dischargers when the cataclysm torpedo exploded. Both units had followed on the heels of their torpedo units, confident they would provide a living chaff to initial defenses. The tactic had been used by Flare several times, although he had always been part of a much larger swarming. The subspace shockwave from the cataclysm torpedo vaporized organic screen and buckled their own shields.


The torpedoes from Cube #347 bore in, locked on the temporarily dazed pair of light tactical units. Payload was small, only fifty isotons apiece. Talon and Flare disappeared in an orgy of explosions, leaving no trace of their existence behind.


{By any means...by any means...by any means...} echoed in the dataspaces of Exploratory-class Cube #347, through Vorezze's stunned brain as his crew watched the flurry of overkill on viewscreens, and over Captain's lips along with a wave of sub-collective satisfaction.





*****





Talon and Flare joyously met their demise, dying in a sea of pleasure as They released all endorphin blocks. They pulled back, focusing on aural/visual/electrical/magnetic and other senses without name, only knowing, through the skins of area probes. The loss of the light tactical units was not onerous and they had been released easily.


Unlike Order, which had a tendency to hold onto drones to the point of absurdity, not wanting to relinquish any piece of its machinery, the Chaos of true perfection was much more forgiving. A unit was bred to its position in the Whole, decanted into individuality and a desire to fulfill its genetic programming. A unit was not truly happy unless it was performing its duties, even if said duty included death as its ultimate destiny; and They endeavored to keep all of Theyself happy.


The passing of Talon and Flare was not without merit, for information had been gained. Somehow, someway, the Borg Exploratory-class ship had managed to assimilate the Federation outpost, thus raising the stakes. The odds describing that particular outcome were very long, but it had been done. No matter: the swarm of mediums, even now in transit towards the cube target, would suffice.


And if it doesn't? asked They.


It will work, soothed They.


We must not underestimate Order, for that is how we lost our initial toehold in this galaxy, reminded They.


Cerebrate masses separated by a thousand years and countless parsecs, yet as close as snail and shell due to telepathic contact, mulled over options. A symbiont belched a sugar-stimulant cocktail from genetically altered saliva glands. The organs bestowed the once benevolent dictator race the appearance of a goitered chipmunk with cheek pouches full of seeds; outlandishly long fingers and toes massaged gigantic neurons as a reward of pleasure caused its frog-like mouth to curl upwards in a smile of mindless delight. They were pleased with its actions.


We will wake two heavies, decided They.


The forward expedition part of Theyself only has two heavies, reminded They. Many were lost to Order and we had not planned to need such power for pacification on this side of the target galaxy.


Two heavies will guarantee destruction of this pocket of Order. We must cleanse the wound, or watch it fester, declared They. Three new heavy zygotes will be initiated, purpose to deal with future Borg incursions.


We agree, said They.





*****





Captain blinked to local awareness with a phaser rifle mere centimeters from his breast plate. Another hand canon targeted his skull. A third weapon, for some reason, was aimed at groin level. A mental check revealed all drones on Waystation similarly occupied. The lone exception was ex-chef 17 of 19, who had found refuge in Ic'hasssssst V'kelsnet with the Andorian owners whom he had struck up an earlier conversation concerning exotic recipes.


"What is the reason behind our apparent restraint?" asked Captain. Battle over, Cube #347 had abandoned Banshee and Explorer to their slower warp drive. Starfleeters could try to slaughter all the Borg on Waystation, but they would fail; the consequence would be total assimilation of all sophonts. The sub-collective would continue under Second's guidance, should he, 4 of 8, be terminated.


{Don't you dare form those thoughts. I am not going to be left with that mess,} berated Second.


"Go ahead drone, make my day," muttered the groin-directed phaser wielder. His eyes shone with dutiful homicidal fervor, or an illegal stimulant or two. "One move, and I bake the family jewels. Remove those assimilation thingies from the computer."


Captain regarded the marine, computing probable intellect to be just above a paramecium. "Human. One, your directives are contradictory: if I move, you shoot this body; and if I don't move, you shoot this body. Two, my species is humanoid, but obviously not human. How do you know where my gonads are located? Three, drones do not engage in procreation, therefore, why would any drone care if you damage that part of its body above others? Four, if you shoot this drone or any of us aboard, you will shortly thereafter be uttering the phrase 'We will comply'.


"Do We make ourselves clear?"


The marine swallowed heavily, raising the focus of his phaser to mid-torso. A glance was thrown to anyone of greater rank to 'please tell me what to do, now.' Captain panned across the command deck, locating the commanding officers.


"Captain Beck and Admiral Newmann. You will order our release and allow us to continue at our tasks. More They will be coming."


Beck glared. All action in the area had come to a halt. Quiet reigned. "Borg captain, I dislike the marines stationed here, but they are Starfleet. And while I know nothing about Section 31 and trust them about as far as I could throw a galaxy-class starship on a high gee world, they are also Starfleet. The truth is, Captain, I have far more faith in them telling the truth, eventually, to me than I have confidence in your plans. We only know one side of this They story, after all."


Captain glowered. "If you knew what the Borg knew...but for that, you would have to be assimilated and linked to the Collective." He looked at the black suited, slightly smiling Admiral Newmann. Time to shatter his obvious ambition for Borg technologies. "Admiral Newmann, inclusive among those Federation assimilated through the years by the Collective are several deep cover Section 31 operatives. We long knew of your department before Banshee crew inadvertently transported themselves to Cube #347. And while you have the stereotypical black attire mastered, your standard operating procedures are petty and your view of how to mold the Federation's future tasteless, even by our standards. And we have the experience of over ten thousand species. We also have detailed knowledge of some of Section 31's more...interesting...schemes. Irrelevant information is occasionally beneficial. Shall I illuminate Captain Beck and all within earshot?"


Admiral Newmann grew increasingly pale as Captain spoke, until Captain himself had more color in his cheeks than the admiral. Newmann whispered under his breath, "By the Directors, they'll have my job - my pips! - for this if word gets out." He ahemed and spoke in a loud theatrical tone, "You, um, bluff, drone."


"Let us go. We are committed to this path and must prepare for They. By any means. Our probability for success hovers around zero if we must take the time at this point to assimilate this station."


Beck looked thoughtful. "Marines, let the Borg go."


"But, sir!" protested groin-boy. "You earlier told Colonel Lazlo..."


"I change my mind. And I think the admiral has changed his, too."


"Capt..."


"Admiral, you have changed your mind, haven't you? Or should I ask this drone to continue his interesting tale?"


Eyes flicked back and forth between the two titans. Who would give? What manner of rumors could be fed to drunk mates tonight at the bar Dillon had opportunistically opened?


Newmann heaved a racking sigh. "Yes, Captain Beck, I have also changed my mind." His fixed stare never wavered from the other's face.


"Good. Marines, let Captain go, and tell the colonel and his Section 31 opposite to allow all drones free movement again. Borg, I suggest you leave the command deck for now. Marines, please escort Captain elsewhere. Anywhere but my sight."


A string of "yes, sirs" followed. Captain was relieved. A subpartition of command and control had devised one whopper of an emergency lie, but it had not been necessary. While proper Borg were programmed to tell the truth, those imperfectly assimilated could bend their compulsions a bit. Either way, tact was not a Borg imperative. He mentally reached out to push the cube into "bat-out-of-hell" transwarp.


{Second, when the cube gets here, you can take my place on the station. I need a few hours to regenerate.}






"Do you trust 'em?" asked Lisa's second-in-command of her. The two were strolling down the mall area. Both Ic'hasssssst V'kelsnet and Dillon's make-shift open-air bar, Warp Nine, were doing well. Personnel from the ranks of Section 31, marine contingents, and skeleton station crew mingled at eatery and bar. Given the choice between replicators and rations, a third option, real food, won out every time; and rumor was circulating Dillon sold real alcohol, not synthahol. Surprisingly, only a few brawls had occurred thus far.


"Trust whom? The Borg, or Admiral Newmann and his Section 31 bastards?" Lisa stopped. She could have sworn there was a drone mixing drinks behind the bar, and she was certain another had just ducked into Ic'hasssssst V'kelsnet. One Borg with its mandated escort of three marines came into view from a blind corner, the latter laughing with abandon as if at an off-color joke.


Walter shrugged, "The Borg, of course. I heard about the little scene on the command deck two days ago, but the admiral is Starfleet, not a pack of organic automatons with a twisted desire for perfection. I wonder how the Collective reconciled what I have always thought to be a hypocritical belief that stuffing distinctiveness into one, boring culture could be perfection."


Lisa squinted. Yes, that was a Borg shaking a tumbler at Warp Nine. Someone shouted for another 'sex on the beach.' "I'm sure there is a logical reason for the Collective's push for assimilation, but they are more a natural disaster that we will have to deal with when it comes. Admiral Newmann is human; and humanity scares the hell out of me sometimes. What if Q, in that whole Picard episode a while back, judged us wrong? What if the universe would be better off without us?"


Walter was silent.


The crowd at Warp Nine cheered as a round was bought by the house.






{Delta, engineering update,} ordered Captain. His body had remained absent from Waystation for several time periods, although his awareness via the perceptions of other drones remained close. For some reason, the various commanding officers considered him to be the entity responsible. Captain didn't really understand why they singled him out for a grudge that in reality should be divided among four thousand.


Delta hummed in stereo, {And what other kind of report would my hierarchy provide? Weapon readiness and supply?}


{Don't you dare! Weaponry belongs to me!} came the predictable reply. Delta's passing satisfaction showed she had been angling to needle 45 of 300 and was pleased with her success. Weapons, meanwhile, turned inward with paranoia, initiating an inventory of his own. At least that effort would keep him and his hierarchy busy for a while.


{Why do you continue to provoke him?} No answer. {It detracts from the high efficiency you wish to maintain.} Silence. {No matter. Update.}


To command and control flowed the most recent compilation of engineering activities, both within and beyond the confines of the hull. It was swiftly sorted, ordered, copied in triplicate, resorted, reordered, and finally filed into the cube's bulging maintenance datastacks. The assimilation of species #5999, a race dedicated to the twin deities Bureaucracy and Red Tape, a thousand years prior had been a mistake; the gain of new methods for miniaturized high-density data storage was not worth the resulting bureaucratic irrelevancies which had yet to be completely purged.


The appended summary, which Captain dragged from the general mess, noted final modifications were complete on Banshee and Explorer. Six drones, two each from the hierarchies of engineering, weapons, and assimilation, remained behind to make sure Federation crews didn't become too feisty poking at contraptions they did not understand. The primary work crews had shifted to modifying smaller, less powerful vessels such as tugs, scouts, and runabouts. While the lesser ships were not as capable as their larger cousins, if They attacked the station all resources would be needed.


As far as Cube #347, communication repairs continued at a very slow pace. Three faces were now clear of the jamming material, leaving two more to wash down. Internal rewiring crawled, ever more faults discovered as testing equipment was set to wire. A link to the Collective would not be possible for another week, assuming the current rate of work remained constant.


{Delta, transmit the first part of the update to Waystation and all relevant recipients. Remove our status: the Starfleeters do not need to know our crippled state. The knowledge might make them bold and we do not need such complications at this time.}


{I comply,} returned Delta.


Captain turned to other duties, watching with a sliver of his awareness that the assigned task was performed correctly. No drone altered the final package as the message was relayed to the station. Idle musings originating elsewhere in command and control, the Borg equivalent of random thought, noted Explorer and Banshee were not in use. Inaction of serviceable tools was not Borg. Captain opened a communications link with Banshee and Explorer bridges, setting the Collective Voice option; he also awoke Vorezze. An announcement was to be made.


"Starfleet crews. A list of sectors has been downloaded to your computers. You will proceed to the designated coordinates and scan for They. They will be destroyed. If you do not leave Waystation docking arms in ten minutes, we will take your ships out for you.


"You will comply."






"We are Borg. Your biological and technological perverseness will be terminated. Lower your shields and prepare to be destroyed. Resistance is futile," boomed over Banshee's bridge loudspeakers. A visual feed directed towards the They probe upheld the fiction of an assimilated Federation starship, complete with menacing drones moving about on Banshee's bridge. Three excited crewmen had won a lottery to be made up (by Dr. Issac and the ship's chief cosmetic consultant - why can't Starfleet bureaucracy just call him a barber?) to look like half-processed victims. Vorezze had subsequently been locked out of his own bridge for five hours while a drone sporting camcorder, backwards baseball cap, and the words "Executive Director" stenciled on his back, proceeded to film thirty minutes of perfection.


Beyond the modified Collective pronouncement of doom, Banshee was not allowed to contact any They units with subspace radio, that being an unBorglike action. At the start of the patrol the chief engineer, Lieutenant Commander David Riley, had attempted to circumspect the blockage, to no avail. He and his engineering crew's actions had garnered a stern warning from one of the drones still on board that further tampering would result in punishment. At the same time, Vorezze had received a nasty shock from the neural transceiver for not keeping closer tabs on his people.


On screen, the They probe was arcing away, fleeing the only prudent option open to it. It was the third probe thus far encountered by Banshee. "Damn it," swore Charlotte. "I wish we could know Their side of the story. The Borg aren't notoriously truthful, especially when they have something to gain."


"Shush," countered Vorezze, "or you'll get me in trouble."


Charlotte shot the captain a look which plainly said, 'Good. If you die and I can manage to get Velorn confined to quarters, I'll be in charge. Which is how things should be, anyway.'


"Shall I get it?" asked DiSanto at tactical.


Vorezze nodded. "Yes. The Borg captain is becoming antsy over the fact we didn't instantly destroy it the second it was sensed. 'Inefficient, small beings,' are his exact words." Several crew nodded: the phrase was a familiar one from their time aboard Cube #347. "If we're not careful, they might hijack us again." 


DiSanto tapped a few buttons as Rachow ordered the helm to pursue. A special mine exploded off the port, one which scrambled the underprotected circuits of the probe's engine core and denied it a chance to escape into warp. It was quickly overtaken. A torpedo placed in the middle of the space squid converted it to galactic sushi.


"Slow to impulse. You all know the drill," said Jad.


The drill was simple. Banshee (and Explorer, which was currently located in another sector) sat for ten minutes in one spot, carefully scanning for traces of They. What these traces were was unknown, information from the sensor grid funneled through the Borg onboard back to their sub-collective for processing. If no spoor was detected, the ship traveled in a random vector for one light year, then scanned again. When a unit - all probes thus far - was discovered, the sub-collective pinpointed it through Banshee's scanners, then expected the crew to kill it.


Two long boring hours passed with nothing more exciting than a swarm of extrasolar comet nuclei. Vorezze began to nod off in his chair, aware that the action wasn't necessarily safe due to the predilection of his crew to play practical jokes on him, but unable to keep his eyes open despite the danger. Vivid daydreams washed over his mind: a certain ensign new to Banshee, curves in all the right places, asking him to help her on the holodeck. She wanted to try out a new mud-wrestling program.


Sarah was explaining how her colony traditionally mud-wrestled in the nude when discordant feedback shattered the scene. {Now is not the time to regenerate, Betazoid. We detected eight signatures on the last sweep, but resolution was not high enough to determine their status. Move three light years to the following coordinates and provide us with additional data.}


"No, no, no," moaned Vorezze. "It isn't fair!" No answer was forthcoming. He sighed and directed Ben to move Banshee to the demanded coordinates.


Banshee dropped out of warp in yet another empty area of space. Less than five minutes into the scan, a {Crap} resounded in Vorezze's skull. It was not Captain's voice, but the Borg multivoice. "Crap," echoed Jad, feeling the blood drain from his face. All eyes focused upon their suddenly alert captain and his sickly expression.


At ops, Commander Tagel Axik said, "We've mandates from the lords below. They are directing something into our communication feed." The term 'lords below' referred to the half dozen Borg who kept to themselves in a well-shielded secondary bridge. The viewscreen flickered, view of distant stars disappearing. In its place popped up a fuzzy image of cylindrical orange things, sea pen quality apparent to those versed in aquatic biology. "They Medium Tactical Units - Eight (swarm)" blinked in green at the bottom of the picture.


"My god!" spoke Rachow, jaw dropping - he was no ocean biologist. "Those are the biggest penises I have ever seen!"






"Cloak!" screamed Vorezze. "Cloak! Cloak us!""


Several They torpedoes impacted on an asteroid, one of millions in the system. The tumbling rock shattered into hundreds of pieces. By coincidence (or a twisted communal mind congratulating itself on a sick joke only it could understand), the system happened to be the same one the Borg cube had been originally hijacked to. 


"We must remind you that maneuver will not work," stated 81 of 203 with outward calm. Internally, he was nervous to be alone on the Banshee's bridge, surrounded by unassimilated lifeforms. His compatriots in the dataspaces remained close, but he had become unhealthily attached to this body. It was time to schedule a mental purge to erase the most recent clutter of unBorg attitudes. On the down side and the reason for his hesitancy, many of the barriers he had erected to shield himself from Assimilation's terminal depression would disappear, thus subjecting him to near full force personality memes originating from his hierarchy head.


"I don't care! Those last torpedoes were not potshots! Someone, cloak us, already!"


{You are panicking, Vorezze. They units have displayed an unusual affinity for all cloaking devices known to the Borg, including types native to this Quadrant. If anything, you are making yourself a better target.}


"Shut up, shut up, shut up! Get out of my mind! And get that drone off my bridge while you are at it!"


{Calm, Vorezze.}


"Shut up!!"


Captain distanced himself from the distasteful display of Vorezze's frustration and fear. The view from 81 of 203, whom he bade remain, showed any iota of respect the Banshee's captain may have gained since previous disgrace was fading fast. Still, the rigors of Starfleet academy had drilled into them ship operations. The inadequate attempt at coordination made Cube #347 look like an epitome of Borg efficiency.


The sub-collective worried They might notice the lack of perfection, rendering all plans of subterfuge obsolete. Perhaps the total assimilation option should have been followed, despite lack of resources and minimum projected loss of one eighth of sub-collective drones.


Banshee's role in the most current move against They's advancing chessboard army was to serve as bait. The idea bore an ironic similarity to Cube #347's original entrapment, only this snare was much larger. One medium tactical unit was a near match for a single Battle-class cube with full munitions and linked Collective tactical resources. Eight medium tactical units would chew through a less-than-perfect Exploratory-class vessel severed from the Greater Consciousness and two Federation battleships like wet tissue paper. Although subtlety was required, it would be implemented on a scale befitting Borg.


The asteroids required They units to dodge, to veer around what Banshee could go through. Heavy concentrations of radioactive ores in this portion of the belt confused torpedo unit senses. Given time, Banshee would be hunted down and destroyed, as would Explorer or Cube #347 if they dared to expose themselves by powering up. Currently the pair hid in the sensor grid shadow cast an exceedingly large nickel-iron rock.


{First target entering the trap,} sent Captain to the five drones waiting on asteroid beta-three. 


{Acknowledged.}


In all, over five hundred of the engineering hierarchy was scattered on temporarily designated rocks roughly lining a tunnel Banshee would lead the swarm through. Small power plants of efficient Borg design had been constructed on the asteroids; hundreds of kilometers of wire originally meant to repair the cube's communication systems had been sacrificed to weave long metallic ropes of a highly superconductive nature. This trap was not designed to net fish, but harpoon whales.


Captain examined his now-working viewscreen. It displayed forty-eight green specks representing forty-eight modified asteroids, each with a small compliment of drones. Weapons was having a fit his hierarchy was not to be performing the actual harpooning, but consensus had overruled him: transportations beyond initial beamings of work groups might be noticed. To an uninformed observer able to hear subsequent directives from Captain, it would appear he was making all tactical decisions related to the closing snare. Actuality was quite different as Captain merely served as a switch board operator directing outcomes of deeper sub-collective consensus to its appropriate destination.


{Subunit #21, target #8 passing your position now.}


{Acknowledged.}


All members of the They swarm, the least of which was two kilometers of orange fierceness able to kick Cube #347's collective butt, entered the tunnel. Their silent focus remained on Banshee, wolves coursing for the kill. Vorezze adamantly refused to uncloak his ship.


{Lance them,} commanded Captain. Forty-eight chemically powered spears rose from forty-eight asteroids, each unraveling a cable behind it. At six per medium tactical unit, forty-eight harpoons bit into thick epidermal hide. {Energize plants.} Forty-eight fusion plants originally of species #45 flared into incandescent life. Five hundred Borg signatures reported success, then demanded to be beamed away from their posts as eight giant organic bodies began to thrash.


Captain's next words, set to suitable multivoice, boomed over Explorer, Banshee, and Waystation intercoms: "Fish on."





*****





Brawn and brains are two traits humans rarely associate together. When effort is spent developing one quality, the other often suffers. Not true of the juggernaut pair boosting away from pulsating mothership complexes.


Heavy tactical units were very large creatures; a typical specimen measured five kilometers in length with a girth of two kilometers. The biological form heavies were based upon had no counterpart in Terran seas, although knowledgeable aquatic scientists might claim the giant mass to resemble a sea cucumber. Any similarity was purely cosmetic.


The relative rarity of heavies in the active navies of They was not a product of the relatively easy process of growing the massive bodies to term, nor outfitting them with the necessary evils of Order, but with the mentality which was an integral part of any individual. The brain that developed in a heavy tactical unit was one step below a primary cerebrate mass; and the proper nurturing of such an immense intellectual potential required centuries of education and conditioning. Whereas probes and even light tactical units required only a few short months to go from cell to decanted adult, a properly produced heavy represented exponentially more in time and expedition resources.


The cost was worth the expense. Skirmishes with Order had proven the capability of a single They heavy to outfight anything less than twenty Battle-class cubes, and higher odds produced atrocious casualties for the Borg at the very least. In the end, the expedition had run out of heavies and become seriously depleted in mediums, necessitating the retreat. The primary colonization force, when it arrived a thousand Home years hence, would contribute ten times more heavies and twenty times the mediums as the forward expedition had lost to Order.


Our target is the Order-ridden station, informed Atom, one of the heavies, to They. My companion and I will eradicate the rot at its core before it can spread.


We are now engaging the Borg cube and its assimilated fleet, purred They, acting as a relay for Themselves as the medium swarm.


Excellent, intoned They. The roving strike force will be terminated. Prepare the assault force: we must gain drone specimens to determine the level of technological advance Order has gained since we last battled with them. 


Atom and Nova formed their agreement, very much a part of decision making in the overall scheme of They. It would be very simple to destroy everything related to the Borg-assimilated Waystation, but a delicate touch was required to retrieve and process biological samples. The multitudes of assault unit types held in biostasis and directed by the heavies would assist in that endeavor. If They were very lucky, unaltered native humanoid specimens may be secured; unfortunately, the Borg tended to be efficient at converting their victims to Order. At the very least, the Federation would be thankful to They for ending an immediate Borg threat, which was a situation that could be built upon.


As the heavy tactical units faded into suprawarp, as genetic manipulators finished modifying the next generation of heavies and delivered the three engineered ovum to incubator units, They performed the unusual and allowed the expedition cerebrates access to endorphins. A little celebration was in store.
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A Fish Story - Part 4

The One That Got Away




{I want off this rock!} wailed 119 of 230. {I want off this rock! I want off this rock!}


{So do we,} interjected five drones in the same predicament, but on a different asteroid.


{Second, take care of them,} snapped Captain to the drone so named. After the They medium attack units had been harpooned and the power plants activated, only four-fifths of the engineering detachments were able to be retrieved. The remaining one hundred and four drones were left to cling to their posts as the mediums convulsed.


Sensors added her contribution to the on-going internal chaos of normal operations. {Sensors sees shields have [eroded] on all eight units. The [bolo] has disrupted defensive [carbon].} She had been waiting for a particular cue which would allow the cube to order itself and its two vessel "armada" into action. Whereas Cube #347 might eventually batter its way through the shields of a single swarm member, the Federation ships were doomed to failure if extreme measures were not taken, hence the trap.


{This is not fun!} yelped 216 of 230, a drone whom the process of assimilation had not dampened a rather twisted sense of humor. He blanketed sub-collective visual input with a first-person view of an orange wall looming close, a tooth-shattering quake, followed by a retreat of the They unit's hide. While someone with a functioning stomach would consider the sight nauseating, or others exhilarating if the sensation were captured in an amusement park ride, in-your-face reality was much less delightful.


Second cut the visual. {Stop that. We are working on the problem.} 


{We are ready,} stated Captain. The knowledge was internal, immediate, innate. Captain articulated orders as consensus was formed in the deeper sub-collective subconscious, a nebulous area part instinct and part the combined will of four thousand drones. At the edge of all actions lurked Primal Root Command 004 and its demand to eradicate They by any means. {Auxiliaries #1 and #2,} sent Captain to the drones (chosen by the Borg version of short straws) on Banshee and Explorer, {order Starfleet to attack. If they falter, or are overly inefficient, we will take command of the ships.} The demand was acknowledged.


Cube #347 completed reactivation of its major systems, rising from the sensor shadow of the asteroid it had been hiding behind. Eight large orange targets - none of which would die easily, shields or no shields - writhed under the unabated assault of electricity. As the lead They assault unit was targeted, the cube rotated until a corner was leading. A brutally direct method of killing large They had been developed by the Collective a millennium prior. Like a giant spearhead, Cube #347 charged forward at the stationary unit, quarter impulse.






Assault units ready, spoke Jackie Chan. The unusual self-designation had come about when, several centuries earlier, the unit had tapped into overflow from a probe sampling Terran television broadcasts two hundred light years from the Federation capital world. Although she did not understand the actions of the biped - contemplation of racial history and its meaning in the greater scheme of Chaos was left to cerebrates and those units bred to such work - in the broadcast, its fighting skills had been engaging. It was an honor to the long dead warrior that its name had been appropriated by a newly decanted They medium attack unit.


Jackie Chan had thrown off two of the six harpoons embedded in her epidermal structure. While the remaining four continued to pump electricity into her body, causing subdermal muscles to spasm, her mind was the only one of the swarm clear enough to allow transportation of assault units. 


Target two shows fluctuating shields, noted Jackie Chan, therefore I am transporting.


Tactical units such as mediums and heavies were large enough to support parasitic biostasis chambers grafted to their internal body cavities. Assault units hibernated until needed, drawing upon nutrients supplied by the metahost. Once awakened and prepared for battle, the humanoid units were beamed to targets via the Order mechanism of a transporter. Genetic-specialist cerebrates continued to mull over a method to breed or gene-splice true teleportation, but at this point only certain neural masses specifically bred to the task could perform such tasks. Unfortunately, said neural masses also required many resources to maintain, could move only one object at a time over relatively short distances, and were otherwise less-endowed than a probe or symbiont in the intellect department. Therefore, the Order evil of transporters, along with that of the warp drive, had to be tolerated.


Ko was one of fifty assault units transported to target two before the latter hardened its defensive shield. Ko was proud of his one syllable name, for it demonstrated his mental potential was enough to support abstract thought. While the name was the limit of his abstract capability, it was more than a probe or a symbiont; thinking was better left to They bred to the task. His metahost had directed him to destroy the Borg units, and that was what he would do.


"Ko," rasped Ko, asserting his individuality among the eleven additional units transported to these coordinates within target two. His unit subtype retained the ability for limited vocalization; he could not, and had no desire, to say anything more complicated. The pleasure associated with his name was enough.


A medium sung its death, followed quickly by a second, their bodies wracked with pain from the trap. The units had failed in their duties, and They declined the pleasure reward, allowing the mediums to drift to the afterlife and final chaos of Entropy unfulfilled. Ko would do better.


Chaos units come, informed Ty from his point position of the assault group. Approximately twenty drones were advancing along the corridor. Yes, Ko thought, I will do better.






"We've lost control of the transporters," said Larkin as she absently punched a few buttons at Ops. She didn't really need the console, but since human(oid)s ran the ship, she had to at least maintain appearances. She tried to circumvent the attack, but was unsuccessful. "There has been an influx of one hundred and four Borg. They are scattered all over our lower decks."


"As if I don't have enough trouble already," muttered Baxter. Explorer shook as an arc-disrupter glanced off the shields. Stars in the forward-looking viewscreen spun as Ford curved the ship back towards the action. J'hana whooped as a volley of torpedoes impacted against organic hull, spurting large globules of a red substance - blood? - to vacuum. The mid-body of the same creature suddenly exploded as the Borg cube tunneled directly through layers of living flesh. Baxter swore he could hear the wet noise of tearing muscles. Amazingly, the medium unit continued to live.


Conway flinched as a large hunk of gore smooshed against the camera, leaving a long streak of dark red across the field of view, "Oh, gross! Ford, don't steer us through the crud. Do you know how long it is going to take to wash this ship? Try to go around the chunks." He made veering motions with his hand, ignoring the fact a starship did not support speedster agility.


Tilleran braced herself at her station, then spoke as the ride momentarily smoothed, "Lords below demanding your attention, sir."


"J'hana, try aiming at the...feathery end. Audio only on the Borg."


The Collective Voice boomed on the bridge: "Explorer, our cube was unable to retrieve drones from the ambush points. They will remain on your vessel until after the battle. You will comply." The speakers hissed off before Baxter could form a reply.


"Hitchhikers!" spat J'hana. She coordinated another round of torpedoes, adding phaser shots as Explorer swooped close. "Shall I evict them?"


"No!" shouted Baxter. If she left her station.... And she was entirely too eager as well. "I mean no. I need you at tactical doing tactical things. Um...Conway...go round up a security team and see if you can herd the Borg somewhere. And try not to get assimilated. They may be trying to take advantage of the situation."


"But, sir..." began Conway.


"No buts. We have one hundred plus wandering around doing who knows what." The ship rocked again, this time as an organic torpedo sneaking up behind Explorer was dispatched by phaser fire from Banshee. "Go!"


"Yes, sir," sulked Baxter's second-in-command as he levered himself up from his comfy chair. He wondered what the ancient writer Tom Clancy would have made of all the intrigue and paranoia flying around. The answer was clear - write a three thousand page discourse as to why Soviet-era Russians were ultimately responsible.






Conway's face met the hallway wall at a high rate of speed as Explorer viciously shook. A series of thumps informed him his fifteen body security detachment had undergone similar fates. The inertial dampers were enduring extreme hardware abuse either from Ford's maneuvers or enemy munitions...or both. If Richards was on board instead of at Q'onos, he would be certainly giving birth to the mother of all cows in his haste to keep Explorer in one piece. The last Conway had heard, Hartley was performing credibly in the bovine department.


"Computer, damage report," barked Conway as he regained his balance. One of the phaser-wielding crewmen had neglected to set his weapon's safety. A large black scar slashed across the ceiling.


The smooth tones of the computer responded, "Minor damage to inertial dampers." Pause. "Five cases of Romulan Ale spilt in storage area two." Pause. "Damage to plasma conduit 47a." Pause. "Shields are collapsing." Pause. "Shields at zero percent."


'Damn,' thought Conway, 'I knew I should have insisted Mirk not use that utility closet as an extra place to store liquor, no matter if it was a perfect place to chill beverages.' Aloud: "Conway to all security details. Continue to advance on your Borg group, but be ready for anything." 


"J'hana to Conway," called the Andorian, "are you listening?"


"Yes. We are nearing the Borg now. They are only a couple of corners away."


"For your information, we have shields back, but during the few seconds they were down we registered fifty signatures beamed aboard. They originated from one of our orange enemies. Internal sensors show a dozen unknowns between you and your Borg targets...and the Borg are moving at a high rate of speed towards the unknowns. Since I am not allowed to leave the bridge, my honor and that of my hive falls upon you. If you screw up, it will be my sacred duty to kill you; and if you are already dead, I will desecrate your remains and make sure your soul goes to Hell. Andorian Hell."


Conway sighed, "Understood, Lieutenant J'hana. You don't have to be so dramatic."


"Who is being dramatic? Bridge out."


The fifteen security crew edged away from Conway, as if they were afraid association with him might lead to J'hana's displeasure transferring itself to them. Conway frowned, gripping his phaser rifle tighter. "Well, come on then. Let's go see what's happening."


Conway led the detachment down the corridor and around two corners. The second turning revealed an odd battle, one raged in near silence but for occasional scrape of metal or thump of body. The lone exception was a sporadic "Ko" which rose from the middle of the struggling knot. The twenty Borg and twelve "unknowns" had been found.


The opponents to the drones - They assault units, Conway remembered from a quick multimedia briefing he had received prior to the trapping mission - were of multiple forms, the only commonality a bipedal stance. The impression of spikes and claws was strong, along with an odor of cooked flesh. Conway watched as two drones hung on one assault unit, literally beating its head to pulp. The not-so-victim responded by flailing one limb, finally making contact with an assailant. With a sizzle, one drone backed off, pale skin of exposed arm crisped black.


One crewman raised his rifle, obviously of the opinion "shoot to kill first, ask questions later" was a sound policy. He fired. The setting might as well as been a tickle, for all the attention it gained. The beam shimmered off one drone's personal shielding, eliciting a very dirty look and an upraised middle finger. Then, suddenly, it was over.


Twelve assault units, and pieces of assault units, lay all over the deck. The splattered outline of a body decorated one bulkhead. The Borg had not emerged unscathed: four bodies joined the units on the deck in termination. Those drones still upright sported an uncomfortable number of rips, tears, gouges, acid and electrical burns, and maimings; one individual held a severed prosthetic with its still functional arm. Despite the prominent death of the They units, drones stamped the remaining bits into bloody footprints.


An ensign turned and was noisily sick; several others appeared to be in a similar state of queasiness. Conway's stomach began to rumble in warning. Dignity and officership aside, he joined other vomiting crewmen in adding to the future duty of Explorer's custodian.






Fragments of muscle, epidermal tissue, and internal organs draped Cube #347's exterior surface; several long bone structures lay wedged among damaged sensor clusters, with one silvered ivory spear impaled at an angle to a depth of twenty meters. Vacuum-dried gore and dehydrated fluids streaked gunmetal gray sides in gruesome parody of racing stripes.


A single They medium tactical unit endured. Although its comrades floated as bits and pieces, it fought on, weakly discharging arc-disrupters at its tormentors, unleashing quarter-sized torpedo units as quickly as they could be force grown, which was not very fast. Four of the original six harpoons had been shaken, to no avail: defiance is difficult when one has a large hole punched through one's side, especially when it exposes one's power core. Cube #347 held position, ravaging the insides with raking cutting beams and the occasional torpedo. Finally a quantum struck something vital. The unit died as its core imploded, shredding all remaining functional systems. 


By any means...by any means...by any means....


A command was sent to forty-eight transceivers located in forty-eight rock-encased independent fusion plants. Forty-eight brilliant displays of pyrotechnic fury momentarily brightened the asteroid field, reducing Borg technology to molten slag. No inadvertent opportunities could be given to the Federation to examine Borg handiwork. The chunks of They units not cremated by the explosions were subjected to controlled phaser blasts until all was dispersing vapor and sterile ash.


The sub-collective of Cube #347 paused to examine itself, to listen to damage reports submitted both by computer and engineering hierarchy. A large tear rent through face #5, exposing Bulk Cargo Hold #8 and several surrounding submatrices to vacuum. Numerous acid and arc-disrupter scars crisscrossed hull plates; relatively minor cosmetic damage except where newly reinstalled sensor clusters and antennae were destroyed, lowering the cube's already crippled sensor ability. Deeper, Auxiliary Cores #4 and #5 were nonfunctional, and warp nacelle tri-segments under three edges had shut-down. Miscellaneous power outages, blown conduits, and fluid/gas leaks completed the self-analysis. Numerous designations were entered on the drone maintenance roster.


The status of Banshee and Explorer was unknown, although superficial scans of both ships showed extensive damage. Drones whom Second contrived to send to the latter had found themselves in pitched battle with They assault units. It was surprising the ill-equipped engineering drones had not sustained greater losses; the Starfleet security details proved themselves to be less than useless. Currently, Explorer limped on its own propulsion, but Banshee hung motionless except for the occasional violet cone of a firing thruster.


It was time to clean up. Cube #347 pivoted, lancing out tractor beams to capture first Banshee, then Explorer. The former had to be browbeat to lower shields for a good lock, bridge crew appearing stunned. The sub-collective, damn surprised all three vessels had survived a swarm of medium tactical units, turned thoughts towards calculating the probability of They's retracting of resources. They had to believe the ruse of firm Collective control by now. The chance of surviving a second swarm, a swarm expecting a trap, was negligible.
 




*****





Our swarm is shattered, stated They with disbelief.


The universal truth of Chaos decrees anything is possible. We have underestimated Order, responded They.


There is no excuse. Ancient adages are impertinent, silly! Borg have advanced technologically, raged They, and one of those technologies is of They! Personal shielding of drones encountered was originally They!


As predicted by Captain, a part of They was having a royal cow. More importantly, They were divided upon what action to take.


Order obviously has a firm foothold in this sector of the quadrant, moaned They. We must either retreat and wait for the main colonization force, or concentrate our scouts in preparation to strike elsewhere.


A third option of media deception remains, reminded They.


Hopeless! wailed They. That particular voice abruptly died as its nutrient flow ceased, as symbionts were ordered to tear the living mass of jellied brain apart. Now was neither the time for active dissent nor for cerebrates bred to espouse caution. Rationalization of conscious, moral or otherwise, was easy when disapproving individuals could be removed at will from Chaos. They called it an advanced form of (un)natural selection.


Atom and Nova flew through the radiation hell which was suprawarp, listening to They cerebrates as They argued among Theyself. The Order defenders are heavily damaged, indicated Atom as he replayed pertinent memory engrams captured from the medium swarm, and we will not fall to a similar trap. If we allow the Borg units time to repair, then decoy them away from the station with probes or light tactical units, we could strike...


And destroy Order's heart, finished They's thought. A station is a vulnerable thing. Our dispatched heavy tactical units will destroy the assimilated Waystation, if necessary, but preference is to leave it intact for PR purposes.


They was forming a grand plan.


Nova concurred: Atom and I hold enough assault units to overwhelm drones on the station. We will also attempt to capture Borg to determine the method of their personal shielding. It may be possible to readapt it to our assault units, minus the intrusive bit of Order, of course.


Of course, agreed They. The irony is fitting. Make it so.


Yes, replied Atom and Nova together. They would drop to normal space within the same sensor-disrupting system the medium swarm had died. Stealth was a sword which cut two ways. Probes would act as visual relays, watching for the three vessel fleet to disperse; and then, waiting over, They would attack.





*****





Sensors was bored. The majority of the engineering hierarchy was either in regeneration, undergoing repairs, or putting the cube back together to reach the state it had been at before the battle with They. Since the Starfleeters could not identify outwardly similar Borg apart, much less distinguish the subtle line which delineated hierarchies on Cube #347, randomly chosen drones had been assigned to inspect damage to Explorer and Banshee. Thereby, Sensors found herself among the group beamed to Explorer.


Inspecting Borg components installed on Explorer for functionality had been a minor adventure, one which involved maps and schematics in a type of scavenger hunt. The Starfleeters which escorted her assigned subunit, as well as those encountered within corridors, seemed taken aback by her form. The holy Borg were an equal opportunity Collective; the quest towards perfection and Oneness in the sacred Choir was blind to shape.


Hours later, Sensors found herself on the bridge, along with two drones from command and control. 18 of 31 was describing the condition of Borg hardware (decent) in conjunction with surrounding Federation components (shoddy, inefficient, and nearing failure). Explorer's engineering chief, Lieutenant Hartley, was becoming increasingly red in the face as 18 of 31 detailed his report.


"Plasma conduit 18c exhibits an unacceptable number of stress fractures and must be replaced. Our shield node at juncture 18c-3 is unable to draw full power and is consequentially operating at less than full efficiency."


"Do it yourself, you slave-driving automaton, if you want 'full efficiency.' A conduit with stress fractures is quite low on my priority list when I'm having plenty of trouble just getting propulsion back on-line. As is, my engineering teams are working double shifts, which gives my people just enough time off to grab a bite to eat and a quick nap."


18 of 31 blinked. "Irrelevant. The humanoids aboard this vessel have the physical ability to work more than a Federation standard day of twenty-four Terran hours without sleep. Additionally, the proper chemical stimulants can boost most sophonts on Explorer without adverse hallucinogenic effects or loss of coordination." 18 of 31 paused as he accepted a series of numbers from the dataspaces. "Probability calculation complete. If plasma conduit 18c is not replaced in five hours, likelihood of irreversible core breech explosion rises to 85.1%." Another pause. "All drones will be evacuated before that time. We will not lose units due to inefficient Starfleet technicians."


Hartley flushed a flaming red with anger. All three drones present watched somewhat curiously as bets raged in the intranet background over the odds she would burst a capillary in her brain; heart attack and seizure were additional favorites. Finally the engineering chief turned away to reorder the list of maintenance priorities, placing plasma conduit 18c at the top.


Captain Baxter began to speak, "Hartley, they are only trying to help, I think. There is an agenda somewhere, but leave it for now. And you three," Baxter shifted his focus, "if you and your circus are done crawling over my ship, I want..."


The doors to the turbolift split apart, revealing a woman dressed in black with blue turtleneck. Slightly behind her was a human male in a soft velvet blue jumpsuit. A happy smile was plastered on his face as his eyes roamed around the bridge.


"Come along, Dean, come on out," coaxed the woman. She gently took one of the man's hands and tugged him into the open. Baxter sputtered to a halt as he saw the pair.


"Nurse Holly! I told you not to bring Wilcox up here! The man is a walking corpse, for Pete's sake!"


Holly snorted defensively, "The latest medical journals say 'total sensory immersion' is the best way to rehabilitate extreme cases such as Dean. I expect someday he'll just wake up, as if from a bad dream."


"He's legally brain-dead! I signed the papers myself."


"Not brain-dead - cerebrally challenged. Seeing these Borg will be a good thing. He can have the chance to face his nightmares."


As Baxter continued to rail away at the blithely smiling nurse, amused spectators watching, Wilcox pointed at an unoccupied chair. "Dog," he solemnly stated. "Yellow dog." Finger stabbed in the air towards Conway. "Targ." Pause. "Jello targ. Jello jello jello."


Holly smiled. "Very good," she cooed. "Very good." She nodded at the staring Baxter. "See? He's been consistent at stringing together two, or even more, words as of late. I'm sure he'll be speaking in complete sentences in a few more weeks. Half a year at the outside."


"He just called my first officer a jello targ. And that chair a yellow dog. I know two-year olds who can do better."


Sensors, who had been standing patiently contemplating the paradox of photonic waves and packets (actually, she was musing why other beings thought the duality a paradox), regarded the human male as he spoke. With growing excitement she listened as Commander Conway was named a targ. No one was watching her at the moment, not physically nor in the dataspaces, so she sidled closer to Wilcox.


"[Grape plaster moose]?" she whistled, indicating a console. Wilcox looked startled.


He answered: "Orange. Banana and orange and apple." Five words, two repeated, seemed to take a lot of effort.


"Sensors think you raise very interesting philosophical issues."


"Catnip spider?"


"Sensors [nods] completely."


Wilcox seemed put off at being spoken to as if he were an intelligent being. He rallied. "Borgie buggy! Paperclip! Dog! Jello jello jello!"


Sensor's forward walking legs momentarily pranced as she waggled her antennae. "Yes, right now! Sensors rarely has a decent [radio] now a'days. Why don't we [jump] elsewhere?"


"Borgie buggy."


The turbolift doors whooshed open, then closed again. No one seemed to notice the departure of the pair until Baxter looked around in puzzlement. "Where'd Wilcox go? And wasn't there a giant Borgified insect here a minute ago as well?"





*****





Repairof damage taken in the battle with the swarm of medium tactical units wasproceeding satisfactorily. Overall injury was relatively light considering the odds of survival, even with trap deployment, had been very low, approaching the single digits for many scenarios. From the exterior, Cube #347 looked like Hell warmed over, but inside all was functioning. Level of efficiency, ignoring the breech of Bulk Cargo Hold #8, prior to the fight would be achieved in a few hours.


Captain observed through the eyes of both Deltas as a task group worked on removing the bone spur impaling face #5. The portion sticking out from the hull had already been cut away. Notches were being carved in the remaining stump in preparation to attach block and tackle. Delta A leaned on Delta B to remove a vacuum-dried gob of tissue which had adhered to her foot.


{Could you not have driven us a bit more carefully?}


{You know as well as I do that punching holes through the medium tactical units is the only proven way for an Exploratory-class cube to kill them. This vessel does not, despite Weapons' belief, have the power to go one-on-one with a medium, shields or no shields on our opponent. Biological systems on They units can be as decentralized as Borg,} rejoined Captain.


Delta tossed the glob on a trajectory which would eventually impact against one of Waystation's exterior view ports. {We know that,} she chided. {The mess is just so, unsanitary, inefficient. I request the cube is taken through the exterior edge of a star's corona to burn off the junk. Those teams who continue to wash down the faces to free us of the jamming material are complaining about the extra work.}


{Noted,} said Captain as he posted the petition to the general dataspaces as a low priority matter requiring consensus. Notches complete, heavy cable was threaded through several pulleys. In his alcove Captain shifted body position slightly, then focused his attention to the heart of Cube #347's collective consciousness. A very important decision had to be made.


{GWF! Galactic Wresting Federation! I say we watch that program next!} spouted 37 of 79. 


{'GWF,'} mused Captain. {'GWF'...wait a minute.... No, the status of subspace entertainment is irrelevant. We have more vital deliberations demanding consensus.}


{But...} began 37 of 79. He was cut off.


{No buts.} Captain performed the intranet equivalent of clearing his throat, then gathered four thousand threads of wandering awareness in preparation to weave them into an acceptable whole. {They have certainly retreated by now, at least for several Cycles, on the belief the Collective unequivocally controls this area. We will continue to monitor They signs for confirmation. The question thusly poised is: shall we begin assimilation of this Federation outpost now, or wait until contact with the Collective and allow the Greater Consciousness to decide for us?}


The Starfleet present, if they could eavesdrop into flow of mind and rapid numerical calculations which were the heart of a working sub-collective, would call the question treachery, a stab in the back by an assumed ally. No remorse, nor other such irrelevant emotion, was attached to what was a fundamental Borg fact of life: assimilation of technological and physiological distinctiveness into the Whole. For the drone seemingly absorbed by a poker game or another busy demonstrating exotic flambe techniques, no outward clue was given of impending doom. All participated in the cascade, knowing an affirmation of the primary decision fork would turn comrade into foe. It was the Borg way.


{Matrix complete. As a sub-collective, we do not have enough analytical power to foresee all possible complications. We will allow the Greater Consciousness to make the final decision.}


Starfleet, from plotting Section 31 admiral to drunken soldiers to Explorer's aged janitor taking a break from scrubbing the deck while wondering where an odd echoing song was originating, never realized how close they had come to meeting the true Collective. A marine frowned, certain the drone he was playing against was bluffing. Or cheating.


{Assimilation,} ordered Captain, {continue to worm us into all their systems. Acquire as much information as possible.}


{Is that all?} asked Assimilation. {And here I thought events might become slightly exciting. My hierarchy just seems to be along for the ride. A shake here, a rattle there.} Captain ignored Assimilation. 


{We may have a slight problem,} said Delta.


{With the bone?} queried Captain. He stepped from his alcove and moved at a sedate pace down the walkway to his nodal intersection.


{No. Inventory shows we are short of wiring. Most of our stocks were employed to produce superconducting cables for the trap. The wiring can be replicated, but it would be easier to salvage what we can from the ambush site.}


The time required to present pros and cons and come to a decision was brief. {Fine,} replied Captain, {but I require you to reorganize the details first. In addition to continuing promised alterations to the smaller Federation vessels, we must install additional hardware on Waystation to ensure the eventual undertaking of station seizure and assimilation will be easier. I will inform Waystation of our departure to...} random generation of plausible lies, {...scan the ambush system for signs of They origination. Spoor might indicate direction and heading of They main fleet.}


{Compliance,} acknowledged Delta as she brought up the engineering drone manifest.





*****





The cube returns to this system: have the Borg seen us? asked Atom. Prickles of tension fluidly erupted on his hull as iridescent orange waves. Gene-ancestors, long absorbed into Chaos, had spoken to each other with sound and bioluminescent color under the ice-encased surface of their oceanic homeworld. The tattered remnants of a once complex and poetically rich visual language was now emotion driven. Atom was given no response. Shall we attack now?


Calm, soothed Nova, be calm. They have not seen us, but surely come for another reason. Review your memories. Do you remember Order ever successfully adapting sensors to find passive units among the background clutter of rock and ice?


No.


Then calm.


Yes, calm yourself, Atom, whispered They. The plan as formulated will succeed.


Both Nova and Atom had been decanted in the long dark between galaxies, heavy tactical units born in anticipation of strife. Not knowing what to expect when the target was reached, Atom and two now-deceased siblings had been modified as zygotes to exhibit an excess of specific neurological chemicals and appropriate receptors. The end product was an attempt to install the ability of heavies to "think like the enemy" and extrapolate their next action. Unfortunately, the experiment, while successful under battle conditions, led to an overactive imagination - paranoia - by the heavies during times of inaction. Atom's siblings, Ion and Null, had succumbed to mistakes made while raving of impossible scenarios. They had to keep a tight rein on Atom to prevent his premature attack.


But what if Order has developed cloaked probes that can rip the thoughts right out of my mind? questioned Atom. One could look like anything...an asteroid, a comet nucleus, or be completely invisible.


Nova's tone was sharp. Atom! How many times my I, as your gene-mate, remind you such objects are not possible! Moons shooting death rays are plausible; a device reading your mind is not. Be still. Calm down. Why don't we play a game.


Atom subsided, color of epidermis stabilizing to a mottled tan. A game? I choose?


You choose.


I spy.


Okay. Nova sighed relief. Destroying the cube would be easy, as would taking control of Waystation and decimating every Borg drone in the area. However, They plan had to be followed. Nova began: I spy with my dermal eye something that begins with 'zoot'.





*****





"Is it alive, does it writhe..." sang a voice in a precise melody, eight tones blending smoothly together. 


"Can it survive under the sun?" croaked a second throat, obviously not adept in the art of song. By paradox, this rendition was closer to the original than its musically perfect opposite.


Together: "I can't put my finger on it."


"Is it green, is it red..." trilled Voice One


"Is it alive or is it dead," Voice Two rasped.


"I can't put my finger on it," rang the chorus once more. The corridor added a nice reverberation to the whole twisted piece.


A woman scurried out of a turbolift halfway down the hallway, head moving rapidly back and forth as she searched for her quarry. "Dean? Where are you, boy? Here, Dean! Time to take your medicine. Are you on this deck? You shouldn't take off your com badge, except when we play hide-and-seek, because it makes it very hard for me to find you."


"Scathe with a lathe..."


"All the days in the path..."


"I can't put my finger on it."


The owner of the choir quieted, half shrouded multifaceted eyes sparkling under artificial light as torso slightly pivoted. Mandibles smacked together as one metallic leg clicked against the deck. "Your keeper comes. Sensors say we move to another level." The melodic chords which formed the words - without benefit of the universal translator - originated from four pairs of spiracles along the insectoid's upper body. Occasionally the translator did kick in when native language was substituted for concepts not possible to understand unless one was also a large black bug in the general shape of a praying mantis. The badly extrapolated phrases did not seem to bother the human half of the duet.


"I see Holly. We not sing?" Entire understandable sentences; Holly would have been proud.


Front walking legs clicked in agitation. Abdomen was pressed against the human's waist, subtly pushing him out of the nurse's line of sight. She had not seen the pair yet. "Sensors say we sing. These 'Ween' songs from late 20th century Terra are [zinc velvet], are begging to be released to the cosmos. They speak of universal [lime jello] truths."


Wilcox's face frowned. "We sing, yes, Borgie Buggy? Jello jello, lime jello."


"Yes." Pause. "We will take Jefferies tube 5A to junction 62F. Three internal conduits meet at that point to form an open area. Once there we will finish 'I Can't Put My Finger On It.' Do you still retain the sacred song list?"


Wilcox happily waved a PADD. "We sing!"


"We sing!" echoed Sensors. She eyed the nurse, who was proceeding in the wrong direction. "Open that hatch and enter it. Sensors will be directly behind."


The human tucked the PADD away, opening the directed Jefferies tube entrance to easily slide inside. With agility one would not suspect from a species sporting a stiff exoskeleton, Sensors folded herself up and backed in, pulling the panel closed.


"Is it brown, is it white..."


"Is it really outta sight..."


"I can't put my finger on it."





*****





Cube #347 returned to Waystation following an uneventful task. Retrieved fragments had been split among three Bulk Cargo Holds, and drones from all hierarchies worked at unweaving superconducting cabling to its constituent wires. As Waystation came within transporter range, drones were swapped on and off the vessel, some to regeneration, others to be reassigned to new duties.


Captain materialized within one of Waystation's storage/shuttle bays, crates stacked high against the walls and on racks. Five barrels sat in the middle of an open area where the absent runabout would have normally been parked. Unknown was if the ship was not present due to the barrels, or the barrels had been left out because the ship was not there. Captain checked drone locations.


{Transfer complete,} said Captain. He eyed the rows of marines. {And our escorts await.} Drones began to move off to their tasks, accompanied by squads dressed in black or tan.


Sensory hierarchy supplied a navigational grid chart to command and control, several sectors highlighted. Odd They signatures had been spotted in the indicated areas. {The cube will head to those coordinates and begin patrol. Second, you have propulsion control and immediate moderation duties. Delta, concentrate on completing our repairs such that we may contact the Collective as soon as possible to request directives and report upon They.}


{They signs appear to be retreating,} inserted Sensors helpfully. Captain ran through the location manifest again, noting the insectoid was not on Cube #347.


{Sensors, return to the cube. You are required to be in close proximity to grid input.}


A drawn out silence. {Sensors complies. [Jello] Voodoo Lady.}


Captain mentally shook his head, ignoring the cryptic comment. He felt as Second linked command of cube propulsion to his signature, complaining the whole time he was Second, not Captain. Captain listened as he verified everyone was where they should be. He paused, digging into a suspicious secondary thoughtstream Second was maintaining. {Yeoman Tina Jones? Why is that human on the cube?}


{Because.}


{Why? Answer.}


{We are...linked. She gave me a tour of Waystation, therefore I must perform a reciprocal action. She will not detract from my efficiency and I already have a place to put her.}


Captain dug deeper into Second's thoughts. {You are planning to install her in my nodal intersection,} accused Captain. {You know the rules, no pets except for the rock variety! If Doctor cannot keep pets, neither can you.}


Second replied indignantly, {Tina is not a pet. Technically her designation is 26 of 152. She is Borg, albeit not at the moment.}


{She is species #5618, human.}


{She is Borg with a Borg designation. Her base species is human.}


{You are twisting my words, Second,} warned Captain.


{I am not that crazy pet-loving Doctor. Therefore, Tina is not a pet. She is Borg,} said Second with conviction.


The discussion was going nowhere, and the matter was not important enough to force compliance. Damn assimilation imperfection. Captain acquiesced, {This argument has required fully five seconds of time; the marines are becoming antsy. You may have Yeoman Jones on board, but if I find a single crumb of nutritional supplement or fleck of garbage when I return, she will become 26 of 152. Permanently.}


{Acknowledged. Preparations for departure will be completed in ten minutes.}






Two days later, Banshee and Explorer left Waystation, heading for Borg designated sectors to patrol for They presence. Both ships were fully functional once more, necessary repairs expedited by drones able to toil in vacuum without a spacesuit. Various dings and dents remained, but Captain declared the cosmetic damage irrelevant.


Cube #347 itself was out of Waystation's sensor range, chasing phantom signatures of a hypothetical retreating They force. One profile matched a They mothership, a vessel type never captured by Borg and rarely seen directly. A deep scan, even a fleeting one made while running from hostile defenders, would be a coup to present to the Greater Consciousness when contact was reestablished. On the communication front, only one face remained to be washed and half of the wiring was complete.


Three hundred fifteen drones, most from engineering with a scattering of command and control and assimilation, remained within Waystation's sphere. Progress to convert tugs and runabouts into small vehicles to fight an increasingly distanced They presence had been mostly abandoned, energy concentrated on adding bits and pieces of hardware to Waystation itself to facilitate its eventual incorporation into the Collective. Neither Waystation personnel nor Section 31 appeared to realize installation of the additional nodes was unnecessary. Suspicious were tempered by the fact tampering with the hardware led to painful shocks and burns. The computer was completely compromised; hidden code which stripped Starfleeters of all access, from internal sensors to the ability to order a sonic shower, was being laid.


All was smoothly proceeding according to plan. Too smoothly. Somewhere a figurative thermonuclear device was waiting to explode, if only it could be found. Yet, the only snag thus far encountered had been a request from Explorer's captain to delay deployment in order to search for a missing crewman by the name of Wilcox. After a quick examination of the sub-collective for new mentalities attempting to link with the only local Borg presence (none were "heard"), the request was denied. Wilcox was listed in Explorer's medical database as being brain-dead: he was not a suitable candidate for assimilation (accidental or otherwise). The location of a misplaced walking not-quite corpse was irrelevant


Still, the disappearance was disturbing.





*****





They often employed guile and subterfuge to gain Their ends, methodology contrary of the forthright Borg approach. Chaos versus Order. However, heavy tactical units are anything but subtle, and the subspace ripples of Atom and Nova nearing Waystation could be likened to a cruise ship bearing down on a dinghy dock at full throttle. 


We near the station. Order has seen us, remarked Nova. The update was not necessary as They knew all of Theyself from symbiont to cerebrate, but They did not protest; one of Nova's quirks of individuality included running narratives.


Atom was silent, his earlier paranoid restlessness replaced with growing hunger for battle. He focused on the target, examining it with his own senses as well as those of available probes.


Assault units ready. Dischargers powering. Torpedo compliment full with additional embryos in developmental stasis. Webbing spun. Metabolism levels optimum, prattled Nova, deep mental "voice" repeating the entire pre-battle checklist.


Atom scoffed, We are still half a Home rev from the target. You told me to calm, and now I tell you to relax. One of our unit type could burn out the Order cancer. Two of us is overkill, especially as the primary battleships and cube will not be able to return before we have completed our task.


Nova said, Right. He paused. Current organic matter storage is...





*****





"Sir?" called Ensign Taylor. The older woman was at one of the science stations, performing an extra-long-range sensor sweep for the absent Astrometrics department. Astrometrics was attempting to map minutely every spatial imperfection for twenty light years surrounding Waystation, and refused to have their project halted due to forced deportation. Ensign Taylor had been bribed to continue basic protocols, the price of which she refused to divulge.


"What?" asked Lisa as she looked up from the novel she had been reading on her PADD. Much more interesting than the latest security update of drunken brawls at Dillon's open-air bar. It seemed the Borg who was mixing drinks served as a bouncer as well: marines occasionally bounced off the far wall of the Mall and into Dr. Nelson's sickbay. 


"I have something big, very big, heading our direction. If I didn't know better, I'd say a pair of small asteroids had managed to outfit themselves with warp drives. The bow wave signatures I'm picking up are massive!"


"Put it on screen." Lisa stood from her chair and set down the PADD. Ensign Taylor punched a pair of buttons to transfer visual data to the command deck's main screen.


A green dot representing Waystation sat in the middle of the two-dimensional display, concentric circles two light years apart radiating outward like contour lines. Yellow dots were local star systems; a pair of light blue specks symbolized Explorer and Banshee with Cube #347 nowhere to be seen. At the very edge of the picture, out of range for normal long-range sensor sweeps, a pair of red question marks made a bee-line for the station.


Lisa's brows crunched together in puzzlement. "What does the computer identify it as?"


Ensign Taylor consulted her readout. "It's wavering between spatial anomaly and 'supersized Bird of Prey'. Hey," she protested as Lisa glanced at her, "I'm just reading what it says. I didn't write the program, someone in Astrometrics did."


"Well," began Lisa, "as I really don't think it is a 'supersized Bird of Prey', it must be a spatial anomaly. Not even the Borg build things that big, and I'm sure the vibe here would be quite a bit different if those were approaching Borg cubes." She hummed. "Speaking of Borg, maybe I'll pass the readings on to our resident drones and see what they make of it." Ensign Taylor nodded in rhetorical agreement.


"Computer, location of the Borg known as Captain," ordered Lisa.


"Captain is located in Dillon's Pioneer Depot."


"Beck to..." Lisa paused as she always did: Captain was a rank or position, not a name, "...Captain. Respond." 


The drone's tenor voice sounded on a speaker, "What? I'm busy."


Lisa grumbled, "You and your crew have been mooching off my station long enough and I want some repayment. Astrometric sensors have picked up what our computer is identifying as a 'spatial anomaly' sporting an unusual warp drive, only it is too big to match anything in our database. Maybe the Borg with their vast collection of files might have an answer."


"We only retain a small percentage of the information we would have available if we were able to link with the Collective. We are accessing the sensor data now..." Captain's voice trailed off.


"Sir," yelped Ensign Taylor, "this console has gone loopy! Someone is running a series of scans through it, and it isn't me. The output is all numbers scrolling by so fast I can't make heads or tails of it." On the viewscreen, millisecond flashes of visual data appeared at strobe-light pace.


At Ops, Lieutenant K'toh, quarter Klingon and all attitude, swore fluently in a variety of languages. "Captain. The Borg have penetrated our computer systems deeply."


"Oh great, just what I need," muttered Lisa. Louder: "Beck to Captain, I did not give you free reign to muck around in our computer." The distinctive whine of a transporter announced a visitor. Lisa turned in time to see Captain materialize on her command deck. "And that is an illicit use of station transporters! How many times must I tell you Borg to use the turbolifts?" she scolded.


"Inefficient use of available resources," complained Captain quietly.


"And what's that you are holding?"


"Data crystal for 'Saga Six of Jumba the Wise Lizard: Jumba Meets Elvis, the Terror Demon.' Very difficult to find in the Delta Quadrant." The tone was...sulky. Captain palmed the crystal, hiding it somewhere on his person.


"Talk about inefficient use resources. You did pay Dillon, didn't you?"


"Money is irrelevant."


Lisa sighed, "That's what I thought. He'll be after me for recompensation. Anyway, about our spatial anomaly? And I have several additional questions concerning intrusions into the computer."


Captain stared at Lisa, blue eye unblinking. "It is simple. The signatures belong to two They heavy tactical units. Even if Cube #347, Explorer, and Banshee could return before They arrived, the outcome would be the same. We are dead."


"Dead?" Lisa noticed the drone had switched from the singular to the plural. 


"We will be terminated. If you are lucky, you will also join us in death. If you are unlucky, you will be absorbed into They. We, Borg, on the station can prevent this occurrence, but small beings such as yourself tend to object to assimilation..."


"Damn right we do," interjected Lisa.


"...therefore, you will die or become They. Cube #347 is returning. We have told Explorer and Banshee to do so as well. We will fail. We prepare for final oblivion." Captain paused. "Because of Starfleet, we cannot even link with the Collective and download our essence into the One." A regretful sigh. "I'd better start reading my novel, then. They will be here in fourteen hours."


Captain began to turn away. Lisa barked, "Wait just a minute, Captain Borg." Predictably, Captain's head whipped around to voice a protest; as Vorezze had confided to her, the drone appeared to absolutely despise 'Captain Borg.' "Where is all your 'Resistance is futile' jargon? There must be options beyond death, assimilation, or They, and I want a meeting to determine them."






"So, mighty scion of the Collective, what are we to do now?" asked Beck.


Captain frowned. He was becoming weary of this conference room and the need to discuss face-to-face events and tactics. The soldiers lining the walls and presence of phaser rifles did not help. "We have already told you the outcome: we will be terminated. We do not have the firepower nor the bodies to withstand assault by one heavy tactical unit, much less two. The Collective believed all heavies had been eradicated; it is unknown if these vessels are veterans of the war, or newly grown units."


"Would it matter?" asked Baxter from the split viewscreen. Both Explorer and Banshee captains were present via Borg carrier wave.


"No."


Silence. Delta was attempting to squeeze every ounce of speed out of Cube #347's drive, but there was an upper limit to transwarp conduit velocity. The wild goose chase the sub-collective had embarked upon had drawn the cube far from the station, not that an Exploratory-class had much of a chance. Simulations currently underway by weapons hierarchy were all returning negative endings, even under the most favorable beginning scenario.


Vorezze idly scratched one ear. Since the assimilation hierarchy had solidified its data link to Waystation and begun to riffle on-site files at will, Captain had not paid much attention to the Betazoid. As a tool he was of very little use at the moment. "What about a Trojan Horse? The concept has worked against you Borg often enough."


"Trojan Horse?" Captain accessed the linguistic dictionary. "You refer to incidents of sneaking crews aboard Borg cubes. We have adapted to that Federation attack."


"But would it work against They?" Vorezze squinted at the motionless, vacantly staring drone. "Are you even listening to me?"


Weapons had shifted the focus of his simulation runs, now funneling in known data of They responses. Captain linked command and control and idling drone maintenance mental resources to weapon hierarchy. Massive parallel processing of several simultaneous runs brought forth possible answers within thirty minutes. The process would have been much easier for a normal sub-collective: the argument about the validity of including the chance of spontaneous formation of a spatial anomaly composed of cheese had been highly irrelevant.


Captain returned self-awareness to his body. No one was paying attention to him. The viewscreen showed two empty command chairs, behind which moved various bridge crew performing routine tasks. Marines lounged against the wall, rifles slung, conversing quietly about sexual encounters, alcohol, sexual encounters, target practice, sexual encounters, and bar brawls. Admiral Neumann, captain Beck, and lieutenant commander Morales sat in chairs and read PADDS. The last had his feet propped up on the table near a mug of gently steaming liquid.


"An 82.9% chance exists a Trojan Horse will work. We require a Section 31 construction runabout, a tri-cobalt device, and seven containers of oil, quarter liter size. We have already begun construction of an apparatus to mask life signs, but proper modifications to the aforementioned vessel will require twenty minutes."


"Oil?" asked Morales as he set down his PADD, regaining an upright posture.


"Oil is a generic term, denoting a flammable lubricant, often made from botanical products. We prefer something with the consistency of light syrup, but anything which spreads well will do."


"Oil?" repeated Morales. Captain ignored him.


Beck was quick with inevitable questions, "How many in this excursion?"


"Eight. Seven of engineering hierarchy, and one from command and control to serve as immediate consensus monitor." Random generation of designations returned seven "volunteers" from those drones aboard Waystation, who responded with various degrees of enthusiasm. A similar lottery for the eighth member returned...4 of 8, himself. "Drones are now chosen; I am among those included."


"No!" roared Neumann as he rose from his chair. "I will not have you traipsing around the quadrant in one of my runabouts, not without someone to keep an eye on you. A dozen marines will accompany you." He crossed his arms in defiance.


Retorted Captain, "Unacceptable. Their presence will detract from our efficiency."


Beck stood up. "As much as I dislike the admiral, I must agree. Twelve marines. However, to keep watch on them, I propose sending, um, Morales and Russel." The named present stared at his commanding officer. 


"Uh, sir?" began Morales.


Captain's words drowned the lieutenant commander's protest, "Unacceptable."


"No marines, no runabout. I will self-destruct or destroy everything warp capable near Waystation if I have to," countered Neumann. He gave a small grin of triumph.


Captain internally fumed as consensus was reached. "We accept."






The trip to meet the heavy tactical units stretched until Captain and the seven engineering drones were in agreement that an unknown temporal anomaly was dilating time. Calypso, even after quick modifications to enhance transporters, remained a Federation construction runabout. Although the habitation area was expanded to transport work crews between base and site at shift change, twenty-two beings, eight of whom did not sit, crowded the small space.


Captain had explained several times, each repetition utilizing increasingly terse sentence structure, the task. They were to match speed with the heavy tactical units and draw in close, acting as if the vessel was a remote scout. They, especially the capital units, tended to ignore obviously harmless probes. Once a target had been chosen, six engineering and Captain (AND marines AND Morales AND Russel) would beam on board with the tri-cobalt device. Power cores were buried too deeply for direct transport, so a trek of indeterminate length would be required. One drone, 127 of 230, would remain on Calypso to control the runabout and its transporters. 


127 of 230 currently piloted the vessel through the expedient manner of direct computer link to the ship systems. She also maintained a connection to the sensors, passing information to the distant sensor hierarchy on Cube #347 for analysis. The sub-collective had already determined the target unit, choosing the bulk which exhibited only one primary core signature to its compatriot's multiple weaker signatures. A former race shuttle driver, 127 of 230 expertly slipped Calypso into the combined warp bubble of the heavies. Neither unit reacted.


"We are here," announced Captain.






Twenty-one humanoid shapes solidified to a dim and humid environment dominated by shades of red and pink. The still air held a distinct animal smell, offset by a slight metallic tang reminiscent of blood. The Federation part of the contingent glanced uneasily at each other. An unnatural silence loomed ominous to those used to background whirrs and clatters present on even the most well maintained ship or station. Approximately a minute later, a large oblong object materialized nearby.


Morales watched as two drones, one at each end, picked up the tri-cobalt device as if it was nothing more than a heavy crate packed with books. He did not know which was more unsettling: the alien ambiance, the overt demonstration of strength by the Borg, or the fact no obvious communication had passed between the drones as to who was to carry the torpedo. The lieutenant commander decided to focus on his surroundings.


One of the marines prodded at the wall with the muzzle of his rifle. It came back coated in mucus. "Gross! Who did the decorating?"


Two unburdened Borg set off down the corridor, leading the way. They paused after a few steps when it became apparent the marines were lollygagging. Captain replied, "Move. We must get the weapon to the core before this unit realizes we are inside it. If it floods the area with fluids or removes oxygen from the corridor, you will not survive. Similar consequences await if it dispatches assault units to attack us."


The marine poked the wall again. "It's like snot! I wonder why it looks like that. The minds that built this ship must have been really odd."


"For the last time," began Captain, irritation in his tone obvious to Morales, "this unit was grown. It is alive. There is no biological equivalent on your species' body as to this structure, but you might understand we are like bacteria oozing down a capillary. The host body has a myriad of defenses it can and will use to eradicate us."


"Alive?"


"Yes."


The man gulped, imagining a tiny invader jabbing holes through his own blood vessels. It was not a pleasant thought, the picture of a small being taking a stroll through his large intestines.


The order of march was quickly determined. Two drones led the way, followed by half of the marines. Next came Captain, another Borg, and the torpedo with its porters. Morales and Russel crowded together in a knot, followed by the final drone. The rest of the soldiers brought up the rear of the pack.


Through living corridors the small army slunk. Occasional openings split away, winding towards unknown destinations, all lit with the same sourceless bioluminescent light. Once movement was seen in the far distance, but the leading Borg paid it no attention. The party paused in front of an aperture notably larger than any passed thus far.


"We must pass through this chamber. The engine core is just beyond," said Captain. Unassimilated nodded, gripping their weapons tighter.


Russel stopped; Morales bumped into him. A traffic jam ensued. "My God," whispered the security officer, "I didn't know anything could be so big."


83 of 230, the final Borg in the train, swiveled his head, targeting laser catching Russel square in the forehead. "Impressive for organic technology. However, the Borg routinely build larger. Keep moving."


Flesh arched up into darkness and spread out to encompass a huge volume. As with the rest of the living dreadnought, the air was still and warm. Unlike the corridors, audible sound - throbbing, hissing, thumping - hovered in the background, filling the space with a muted roar. Honeycomb structures rose from the floor, dividing the chamber into a series of corridors. Within each backlit cell, a humanoid form could be faintly discerned beneath an otherwise opaque film.


The Borg shuffled to a stop. Their eyes peered sightlessly to the near distance, taking in sights unseen by mere Federation peons. The marines muttered uneasily, looking to Morales or Russel for leadership. Hands tightened on rifle stocks. One cursed as the thing in a nearby cell fluidly moved.


"F***!" exclaimed private Walter as he aimed at the creature.


"NO!" barked Captain, moving with speed Morales did not believe possible for a drone. Pincher of prosthetic limb clamped onto rifle barrel, crunching it into uselessness. The moment of communal reflection was broken. "Do that, human, and we will all be terminated." Voice turned harder, directed no longer at the Federation personnel, "And we have consensus, agreement. The device must be placed near the core, not here."


"What is here?" asked Morales.


A look of clear distaste passed over the normally impassive Borg facade. "Biostasis cells for assault units. Here lies your doom, human, should we not succeed. They cannot assimilate Borg into Chaos; you would not be so lucky."






The biostasis chamber was passed, each step torture for Captain. Blocs from the sub-collective clamored for the tri-cobalt device to be set, for They assault units to be destroyed; root commands screamed along Captain's synapses to do likewise. Enough control remained in the form of sane voices and catalogued weaknesses of heavy tactical units to forge ahead despite mounting collective will. Detonation of the weapon anywhere but the central core would only cause localized, nonfatal harm. The assault unit cells would be destroyed, but it was likely the creature had several additional chambers also stocked floor to ceiling with They.


{Radiation levels are rising. The core is directly ahead,} reported 8 of 240. She broadcast the readings. {The system is very dirty; the Starfleeters will require decontamination.}


Captain bade the two at point to proceed. Aloud: "Increase in radiation. Depending on species, nonBorg will absorb a lethal dose within three to seven hours."


The Waystation officer in charge of the Federation element opened his eyes wide. "Radiation?" Morales squeaked. "Nothing was said about me spending my last few hours puking while watching my hair fall out."


"Yah," chimed Russel, "it's not like you have to worry. You don't eat and you're already bald."


"The radiation is a minor annoyance to Borg. Our systems are already compensating. Success will see us beamed away with sufficient time to decontaminate you, or consumed in the resultant explosion. Either way, radiation from the core will not be your death."


"Oh, joy," muttered an eavesdropping marine.


8 of 240 stepped through an opening at the end of the short corridor. {We are here,} she said, gaze turning upward in concert with 23 of 240 to provide the sub-collective a view of the engine core. Captain urged the Starfleeters to continue.


The chamber was a compact dome overarching an efficiently manufactured power core. It sat on a fleshy pedestal, tendons reaching from wall to innervate and steady the two meter high structure. Nerve clusters infiltrated the form, and huge elastic conduits of an organic nature swept away to merge with the floor. The engines themselves were long nacelles located as segments hundreds of meters below the epidermal surface near shield matrix bone spurs, but the energy to move the massive unit came from this relatively small machine. They were many distasteful things, but They were also masters of blending inorganic with living tissue until it was nearly impossible to discern built from organic.


Creatures, some as small as a hand, but none more than knee high, scurried around the room intent on unknown duties. Shapes ranged from miniature bipeds to something that looked like a millipede with three pairs of feathered wings. Blind eyes focused solely on the task at hand, which often included long moments of motionlessness followed by energetic bursts of speed. They ignored the intrusion, devolved brains incapable of registering novel situations for which They were not specifically programmed.


The engineering hierarchy took over, carefully setting the tri-cobalt device near the core. The symbionts detoured around (or over in a few cases) the new obstacle, as focused as a well-integrated Borg drone - outside stimuli were not relevant, were not a part of the immediately perceived universe. 101 of 310 swiftly removed the casing covering the guts of the torpedo using a tool on his artificial limb.


"We are arming the device. Once ready, we will have eight minutes to reach an area transparent to transporter lock," remarked Captain. He eyed a marine with upraised foot. "Do not step on the symbionts."


Several minutes passed with the six engineering drones clustered around the tri-cobalt device. In the process the sub-collective not only recorded additional information about the new family of Federation weapons, but began to improve upon the concept by mentally inserting several gizmos assimilated from three other martial species. Morales, Russel, and the marines nervously swept eyes from corridor opening to drones to symbionts. Captain observed reactions as the occasional symbiont ran over toes in its haste to go from point A to point B. Finally 23 of 240 reported completion of the task with timer set.


"We are ready to leave," Captain stated as he shifted a leg to move. Additional commentary died in his throat as foot came down to a wet pop. A puddle of red oozed from beneath his sole, soaking into the resilient floor. The previously hyperactive symbionts stood or sat immobile, eyes and other senses peering at the intruders. As one, throats lifted in an undulating cry, those without voice mimicking the positions of others able to vocalize alarm. "Oops."


{Oops?} came the distant mental voice of Second. {That is all you can say for yourself?}


Returned Captain, {Shut up.}


Marines began to fire randomly at the wailing creatures. The result was not unlike an amusement shooting gallery. Symbionts either messily exploded or vaporized, depending on phaser rifle setting. The six engineering hierarchy drones had already left the scene at the best speed a heavily cybernized being could attain. "If you value your small existence, I suggest you run. They will focus on us and not the torpedo." Captain knew his personal life was not important within the greater Collective, but little would be gained by dying now that the weapon was set.


Morales quickly caught up with Captain as the biostasis chamber was entered. Russel and the marines lagged behind, taking potshots at anything which moved. Unfortunately, many of the cells showed writhing figures in the final stages of waking. Covers punctured by phaser fire drained a viscous yellow liquid. Morales puffed. "I didn't realize Borg could actually move faster than a walk."


"My years in the Collective has added considerable mass to my frame in the form of implants and prosthesis; I currently weigh twice as much as you. You try to move such bulk quickly. Second, situations rarely necessitate haste because another drone is usually in a position to intercept wayward beings. Lastly, at the moment I am well motivated." He had consciously stopped breathing other than to answer Morales' ill-timed question - why did humans ask such irrelevancies during moments of stress? Oxygen to muscles was directly supplied via the same mechanism which allowed a drone to function in a vacuum. In front, 15 of 42 passed into the main artery and caught sight of shapes massing down the hallway. {Oil!} Captain barked.


In the corridor, the six drones deftly removed the small canisters of flammable liquid they had secreted on their person. Captain joined the line, removing his own container from the thigh storage area of his right leg. As one, three vessels went arcing towards the dimly seen assault units and the other four into the biostasis chamber. The containers shattered, allowing liquid to spray all over the place. 


Captain pointed at a pair of loitering marines, "You and you. Phasers on low and fire at the oil." Lances of light streaked out; milliseconds later flames plumed. A keening shriek split the air. "We have three minutes until the tri-cobalt device detonates. Two minutes are required to reach a beam out location."


The party trundled off at best speed.


Morales shouted over the never-ending screech, hands held close to ears, "What did you do?"


"Heartburn, emphasis on burn. It is too moist in here for anything to actually scorch, but this unit appears to be very unhappy about the incident of fire inside it."


"I would be too! And what is this about three minutes? We should have another five!"


"We lied. The timer was set for six minutes. Adequate time to escape, had this drone not stepped on the symbiont by accident."


Morales frowned, then returned to the task of jogging. Beam out to Calypso occurred with thirty seconds to spare.






The closest Terran analogue of a They heavy tactical unit was a wrinkled sea cucumber. The target unit now resembled a latex glove inflated to the bursting point, fingers pointing in every direction from taunt palm. Its coloration was a very pale yellow verging on clear which abruptly became ash gray as body deflated like a pricked balloon. The ailing unit made an uncontrolled deceleration from warp, emerging to the Einstein universe as galactic baco-bits. The question of termination was academic.


Calypso threw her engines into overdrive, escaping the immediate vicinity of the unreactive surviving unit. A showdown at Waystation would occur soon enough.





*****





Atom is dead, cried Nova, and I will avenge him. Locking onto offending vessel...


Interrupted They, No. We will proceed to our objective. The shuttle must return to the station.


Anger drained from Nova as They activated proper biochemical pathways. They did not often alter the emotions of individual units - one's feelings were one's own - but sensibility towards the task had to be maintained. Heated rage for loss of a gene-mate of ten millennium was replaced with icy calm. Nova mulled the situation as he was drawn deeper into They and the seductive whispers of Chaos.


The loss is a minor one, acknowledged Nova. Atom will be remembered for his accomplishments, but his death will also provide advancements for Chaos. All future heavy tactical units will be of the type with multiple small cores throughout the body. I am preparing myself against future invasion by reprogramming symbionts to react to nonThey presence, sealing my cores, and secreting transporter scattering mucus around vital areas. Metabolic efficiency decrease is 0.24%. 


The station will be easily overwhelmed, said They.


Yes, replied Nova. Order will become Chaos; the universal law of Entropy demands it.





*****





The They heavy tactical unit exited warp smoothly, its bulk piloted with a precision only a mind intimately meshed with body could manage. Over six times the length of Waystation's longest axis, it literally cast a shadow over the Federation structure. The scaffolding originally meant for Cube #347 shattered on the unit's epidermis as it heedlessly plowed closer, metal spars tumbling like a game of zero-gee pick-up sticks. It slowed to a halt less than two kilometers from the station proper, a living wall ominously looming.


Speakers throughout Waystation came to life as a communique was intercepted. Squealing moans ratcheted up and down the auditory spectrum - an intergalactic cetacean. A sexy soprano, courtesy of Borg translation algorithms, overlaid background groaning. The words of the inappropriate voice did not match with disgorged harsh words.


"Order," cooed the unit, "I am Nova. You will submit to They, be one with Chaos, join with Entropy, or I will destroy these drones. You will also surrender unassimilated sentients unto myself." The background liturgy suddenly changed from single whale to chattering pod on caffeine and LSD; a new voice, electronic wails emanating from a deranged choir, replaced Miss Sex Kitten. "They demand it! You will submit to They and contribute to our individuality!"


The answer boomed out in Borg multivoice stereo: "We are Borg. We will not comply. You will lower shields and prepare to be boarded and stripped of biological technologies. Resistance is futile."


On Waystation's command deck, Morales listened to the exchange with head cocked at an angle. "Well, as far as mottoes and ultimatums go, the Borg are ahead in the style category. I give them a ten and They three. However, we are still going to get our butts kicked."


Lisa glanced over at Captain, who was staring sightlessly at a point several centimeters in front of his nose. An utterance came from him, issued with mechanical precision sans the drone's usual conversational demeanor, "Initialize the security system before the unit begins a deep scan. And before it starts to transport assault units to the station. Our words will not stall They much longer."


Lisa nodded at Porter, who was manning the engineering station. He punched a series of buttons and said, "If we blow a fuse...." The rest of the sentence was left unfinished.


Lights immediately dimmed, as if someone had plugged in a very large hairdryer or Browning had turned on her pizza oven. Environmental support - hundreds of years removed from archaic fan ventilation - whined alarmingly before compensating. At every doorway, every juncture, every Jefferies tube access point, internal security fields leapt into life. Invisible walls of pain sprouted every ten meters in corridors, and numerous barriers bisected Starfleet Square Mall. Hundreds of newly replicated emitters created force fields where none had been designed.


Powering the jury-rigged system was not only Waystation's own core, but the cores of three tugs buried as deeply as possible within the two saucer sections. They had been stripped from the vessels against Starfleet engineers' better judgment and connected to the local grid. Everyone had been employed in the desperate bid for survival: if one could hold a spanner, solder a wire, or wave a tricorder while spouting technobabble, one was drafted.


The end result was the densest collection of security fields ever attempted by Federation hardware. Not only was the heavy tactical unit forced to beam an assault force into the exterior docking rings (all left open to vacuum), but modulation tweaking by Borg produced barriers opaque to scanning. The primary flaw with the gesture was an unknown concerning They's intent. Assuming units attempted to take Waystation, They would be forced to disassemble shield emitters every few meters. However, if They planned on simple destruction, the heavy tactical unit would roll over Waystation with no more notice than a driver would take of a bug impacting the windshield.


On the down side, from the nonassimilated point of view, only Borg could pass through the myriad of security fields with ease. All personnel were concentrated in the bowels of the saucer sections, with a double handful on the command deck ready to evacuate at a moment's notice. Unescorted drones had the run of the station, much to the annoyance of Admiral Neumann, Lieutenant Russel, and anyone else remotely security conscious.


"Everything appears to be stable," noted Russel. "Now what?"


Eyes turned toward Captain. The drone responded, "We wait; and we attempt come to a consensus on a plan which doesn't include termination."





*****





Kee, Ra, Tu, Yo, and Xi fell to the deckplates, bodies twitching under the onslaught of electrical current. Od, Wy, and Klo wailed with telepathic pain from terminal cranial disrupter burns; Nova euthanized the trio, allowing them to join hundreds of other assault units already one with Entropy. 


Order was defying They, was not behaving as expected. Of course, during the years of war with the Borg, They had primarily fought naval battles, assaults occurring with purpose of killing, not securing property. Still, They had not fully calculated the potential for Borg to adapt to and use guerrilla tactics.


Every meter gained towards the objective of the station's central engineering and computer cores was a meter brimming with danger. Booby traps both high-tech and simple, ambush points, and physical barriers took their toll on assault units; and that short list did not include the damn (Nova rarely swore) force fields. Force field after force field after force field required dismantlement. No easy way into the station existed as even "Jefferies tubes" were lined with pitfalls meant to kill units.


Nova's target was the engineering area. From the most basic scans available to the unit - everything deeper than three levels was a blur - it could be seen that the security fields were a huge drain on the power cores energizing it. The destruction of one core should disrupt the entire system; three stripped vessels floating nearby attested to potential instability of the overall grid via adaptation of parts not designed for the purpose employed.


Qua, Lek, and Pleep stumbled around a corner and into a dozen waiting drones. The resulting carnage ended as Lek's telepathic thread of consciousness was extinguished following a vicious blow to the head. Nova grumbled as he completed preparation of another hundred assault units, transporting them to secured portions of Waystation. Frustration! 


I will kill every drone personally, swore Nova. I retain sufficient assault units to perform my mission.


As long as the station remains intact, reminded They. Our latest plan requires us to become "friends" with the Federation, and this purpose would be best served with a gift.


Groused Nova, I understand as I assisted in forming the plan. However, all drones here will be destroyed. Order killed Atom. It is my privilege.


They does not disagree, responded They.


Nova noticed as the small Borg cube arrived in the system, dropping from a transwarp conduit. While the drones on board had stalled long enough to allow reinforcements to arrive, the action would be futile. Nova was slowly gaining ground to the objective through sheer force of overwhelming numbers.





*****





{Cappy! Cappy Borgie! Lime jello jello jello! Cappy Borgieeeee!}


{Quiet, Dean. Desist! This sub-collective has important actions to contemplate.}


{Cappeeeeeeeeeeee! Borgieeeeeeee! Carve out a pumpkin and rely on your destiny!}


Captain suppressed the urge to scream. As was, he had been forced to leave the Waystation command deck and seek a semi-quiet corner of Main Engineering near the core. Sensors had pulled a real boner; unlike another cube long destroyed, the sub-collective of Cube #347 was not connected to the Collective and had been able to adapt to Dean's...mental state.


{Cappy Cappy Cappy Cappy! I love Cappy Borgie! Throw that pumpkin at the tree. Watermelon jello targs!}


Some impulse had passed through Sensors' brain, one which prompted her to first smuggle Wilcox to the cube before it left Waystation, then to assimilate the certifiably brain-dead crewman. He had undergone the procedure once before, to the detriment of the sub-collective involved. Dean (Captain refused to authorize a designation to be attached to his signature) not only displayed erratic impulses and mental ambiguities solely understood by Sensors, he was utterly uncontrollable. Captain could not turn the human off!


{I love Cappy!} sang Dean. {I love Cappy! Cappy loves me! We are a happy family!}


{I do not...WE do not. Love is irrelevant. And don't call me Cappy!} Captain shoved Dean to the back of his awareness so that he could continue his conversation with Second. {So, your pet human wishes to return to Waystation?}


Second sent assent; unlike Captain, Dean had not latched onto him. {She says she has had an interesting time, but she'd like to go back to the station.} Second replayed the long discussion which had occurred between himself and Tina. Parts of it had been obviously removed, much to Captain's curiosity.


{What about those blank periods?}


Second cagily replied, {Nothing relevant.}


{Fine,} said Captain, {we will allow her to return. Dean! Stop that! No...no, no, no, no! Do not play with the warp engines! Warp while in a conduit is a Bad Thing. You will go Boom, along with most of the sub-collective.}


{Cappy go Boom?}


{No, but Dean will go Boom. So will Sensors.}


{Dean don't want Borgie Buggy to go Boom.} 


Sensors interjected, {Sensors doesn't want Sensors to go [Boom], neither.}


{Sensors, this is your fault. Return to your duties,} ordered Captain. Sensors complied, acutely aware of her disgraced status. Captain kept finding himself resorting to baby-talk while speaking with Wilcox. He opened half an eye as a shape paused in front of him, then closed it again in dismissal as it proved to be a marine.


{We arrive in fifteen minutes,} called Weapons, {and my hierarchy is prepared.} Weapons had been keeping an eye on the internal chronometer with uncharacteristic persistence, reporting status of readiness to Blow Things Up. Captain knew Weapons didn't care if the target was assault units, the heavy tactical unit, or Federation: something was to be vaporized (in T-minus fifteen minutes).


{I know, Weapons,} answered Captain.


{Engineering hierarchy is performing everything wrong. If weapons hierarchy was on Waystation, They would be destroyed by now.}


{Says you,} argued 81 of 240 from Waystation. She had acquired acid damage to her leg during They's last push. {These boogers keep coming, no matter how many are terminated. One could stuff an entire Cargo-class cube in that heavy tactical unit with room to spare; and Cargo-classes can be outfitted to transport half a million drones in stasis! It is unknown how many more assault units the They vessel can support.}


{Irrelevant,} snorted Weapons.


81 of 240 retorted, {You are delusional! I, for one, cannot wait until the cube is within transporter range. I wish to leave Waystation and return to tasks for which I have been specifically modified, such as scanning stress fractures along the sub-hull nacelles or assisting with calibration of the static warp shell to maintain high propulsion efficiency.}


Weapons sneered, {Engineering wuss. Seven minutes to Waystation.}


{Call my hierarchy a wuss again, Weapons, and you will regret it,} interrupted Delta. {I concur with the consensus to remove engineering drones from battle and replacing them with more appropriate units...such as yourself, maybe?}


Captain surfed the wave of internal dissent, smoothing things as warranted while trying to avoid the mental babbling of "Cappy." While Second retained propulsion systems, other duties befitting the consensus monitor and facilitator had been returned. In spades. A mental dip into the processes originating from those drones aboard Banshee and Explorer...


***


"Come out of there Borg, I want to talk to you," yelled J'hana with bat'leth partially hidden behind her back. "I won't hurt you...the captain just wants to know what is going on at Waystation." She was standing at the parameter of the force field separating the Explorer drone contingent from the rest of the ship. Several security officers stood nonchalantly at a greater distance, phaser rifles openly displayed.


"We don't believe that assessment. We will stay here where our chance of dismemberment is low," responded 206 of 300, the perception of whom Captain was currently tapping. Visual slipped sideways to receive signals of agreement from the others on the battle bridge; nonverbal assent accompanied species specific gestures.


"I told you to come out!" screamed J'hana. "Out! I. Will. Not. Hurt. You! My schnarzing wimp of a captain forbids it."


"No."


Meanwhile on Banshee, a similar display was playing out, minus screaming Andorian. One might think the lack of a blood-thirsty being would be a good thing, but if anything, it was worse. Banshee had...Counselor Emily Stokes, their secret weapon.


"Hell! Hell and damnation I tell you! The Book of the Lord - updated and unabridged version year 2465 - speaketh of the sins of dependence upon machinery, upon technologies! One must be able to do without, be like our ancestors, should we be forced to live like savages and have to microwave our dinners or type on a computer. Repent, repent and come to the Lord, who will let you go with only the slightest of smiting. The all-powerful Lord is all-forgiving." The counselor was practically foaming at the mouth. As she paused, a nearby ensign whispered something to her. She straightened up. "Oh yes, the Lord may dismiss with the boils and pestilence if you tell us how the battle goes at Waystation. Very, very forgiving, is God."


All of the drones on Banshee were cowering next to the shield generator, praying as much as it was relevant for a Borg to pray, that it would not fail. 101 of 230 (whom Captain was "riding") watched as 42 of 42 whispered in defiance, "Religion is irrelevant." The human's hearing was obviously much better than the racial norm.


"Irrelevant? Irrelevant?! For that, Borg, I damn thee to the deepest circle of HELL!"


***


{Cappy Borgie! Cappy Borgie! Guess what?}


Captain was bounced out of the datastreams by Dean. {What?} he asked warily while investigating the location and tasks of Doctor and Assimilation aboard Cube #347.


{Dean jello jello jello.}


{I...do not understand. I do not want to understand.} Doctor and Assimilation were found, neither engaged with an assignment of vital importance. Captain pinged for their attention.


{I didn't do anything. You can't blame Dean on me,} hurriedly replied Doctor, always quick to redirect the blame associated with accidentally assimilated pets.


{No. Both of you, listen up. Restrain Dean. I don't care who does what in what order, but I do not want to hear 'Cappy Borgie' anymore! Deassimilate him, terminate him, I have no preference.}


{Cappy Borgieeeeee!} happily echoed Wilcox, oblivious to his possible doom.


{Cube #347 arrives,} uttered Weapons, {and my hierarchy will destroy They!}


Captain watched with a doubled internal vision, one from the perspective of Waystation's grid and the other riding the coattails of the sensor hierarchy processing cube sensor input. Either way, the cavalry was not very impressive.






Browning was tired of sitting in the little anteroom off engineering, forced to remain passive under glares from Ih'mad and Baughb, whom had also been stuck in the storage closet with her. She knew the Andorians were plotting against her business enterprise as per the calculating looks she was receiving. The Borg which occasionally clanked by outside gave her the creeps. Even Dillon was elsewhere, lending his help in some matter while the restaurateurs were deemed useless baggage. Worst of all, the replicators were only producing roasted turkey and Swiss on rye or lukewarm tomato soup. However, there were ways to work around that particular problem.


"Well," Browning announced to no one in particular, "I'm feeling a mite peckish. How about some pizza?" She plugged in the machine she had insisted accompany her into engineering exile on pain of temper tantrum.





*****





Nova was preparing one thousand hibernation cells to wake their assault unit occupants when he noticed the brownout. While most of the Borg-assimilated station's system of security fields remained steady, flickers in the overall grid due to an unknown energy drain had leeched power from one section. Nova hurriedly performed a superficial scan, noting the presence of life signs gathered in an open volume, presumably a storage area. Risking a gamble, Nova snatched fifty half-awake assault units from their cells and transported them to Waystation's depths. 


Although Order was rapid to diagnose the problem and mend it, reinitializing the transporter and scan block surrounding the internal cargo hold, twenty-two units successfully arrived.





*****





Captain's eye flew open as the lights flickered; engineering drones not engaged fighting They units yelped of power drains and began internal traces to determine what was causing the problem. The leak was tracked to the central engineering area of Waystation's top saucer, specifically Storage Closet 16B. An enraged bellow floated out to Captain's position as a drone physically sighted the device causing the brownout and pulled its plug. Browning was not a happy woman as she pounded on 8 of 240's armored back while wailing of tomato soup.


"We have an incident in one of the cargo holds, sir," called a voice from the other side of Main Engineering. Waystation's command staff had evidently evacuated into the depths of their station.


"Have some marines started a fight over their confinement?" asked Beck's tired voice. Captain moved himself closer to the speakers, eavesdropping even as he completed coordinating the massive job of reciprocal transportation which was about to begin.


"No sir. Twenty-two...things...have beamed aboard and the marines are shooting at them."


"Sh**," swore Captain aloud as he personally scrambled along Waystation's compromised computer system, examining output from internal sensors in the indicated hold area. They assault units. {Transporting commencing now,} sent Captain into the intranets, ignoring protests of individual drones who were not prepared. "We do not apologize about events which are about to transpire. The fiction must be maintained," said Captain to the clueless faces peering at him.


A complex series of commands flooded Cube #347's dataspaces, triggering mass transporter beamings. Most of the engineering hierarchy aboard Waystation was to leave and be replaced milliseconds later by weapons drones; emergency action diverted fifty bodies to the compromised bay along with an equal number of assimilation hierarchy. Concurrently, Tina was to be sent to a secured section of the upper saucer of Waystation. Or, at least, that was the plan. Unfortunately, Dean took that particular moment to think happy thoughts.


The reciprocal transportation occurred smoothly, drones materializing in the appropriate places. Dean's reflection upon orange dogs redirected Tina's signature to the They occupied hold, now a no-man's land of drones, assault units, and phaser fire. Dean, on the other hand, accidentally initiated a lock upon himself. He disappeared from the restraints Doctor had looped around ankles, waist, and wrist in preparation for deassimilation.


{Cappy!} called Dean. {Cappy Borgie!} Pause. {Oh, yuckies. Slimy yucks. Jello jello jello.} Wilcox's mental signature now originated from inside the They heavy tactical unit.


"Beck to anyone: what is going on in that bay?" Screams, human screams, sounded over the intercom. Captain Beck focused on Captain, "What did you mean by 'The fiction must be maintained'?"


Captain locked Waystation's transporters on himself; in the distance, he could hear Porter chewing out Browning about her pizza oven. "Sorry, we are experiencing minor technical difficulties. This drone is required elsewhere." He sent himself to the comparatively lesser danger represented by the clash between They units and the Weapons-led detachment of tactical drones.


Captain materialized at the edge of the ruckus. Half of the They assault units were terminated, overwhelmed by numerical superiority. The other half were in a fighting retreat towards an exit, one unit already at the door attempting to remove the forcefield. A query as to the location of Tina was rewarded with a visual from a drone in the front line: an unconscious human female slung over the shoulder of a (literally) faceless unit.


The human(oid) screams Beck had heard over the intercom in Main Engineering had been the cries of astonished rage as fifty drones from the assimilation hierarchy had attacked marines. Of the eighty-five soldiers bivouacked in the cargo bay, all now instinctively reached for a Collective which was not present. If the Starfleet command officers thought hijacking a pair of ships was bad, they were going to go through the hull over the impromptu assimilations. Unfortunately, it had been necessary to maintain the fiction for They that the Borg were in firm control.


Captain heaved a long sigh as he watched the new drones in their post-assimilation fugue state stare sightlessly at each other, the floor, the wall. Three They assault units, with Tina, had successfully escaped, leaving him with this mess. The last thing the sub-collective needed, or wanted, was eighty-five bodies to process, to attempt to keep separate from the corrupting influence of assimilation imperfection. A consensus cascade was run. Outcome? Deassimilation.


{Doctor, Assimilation, assign a duty roster and beam over nanoprobe denaturing agent. Weapons, continue to stall the assault force as long as possible. Delta, We demand a link with the Collective, and We demand it now.} Yes, this was indeed a mess.


{Cappy! Cappy Borgie! Yucky place.}


Captain concentrated, delicately lifting a visual from Dean's damaged brain. Sensors added her confirmation. The heavy tactical unit seemed not to have noticed the intrusion. {Dean...just don't think about anything. We will terminate you when we get the chance - the universe will be a more efficient place without your presence. Remember, don't think. Comply.}


{Jello jello jello jello jello!}





*****





Nee was proud. She had absorbed the human into They. It (Nee was fuzzy on the concept of gender, she being "she" a matter of genetic convenience as her assault type was easiest to propagate as female) had materialized in the middle of the battle, prompting They to change tactics as a new opportunity had been seen. Nee had sunk her nails, organic hypodermic needles, into the target's soft flesh and triggered release of They virus from special glands in her fingers. The human had subsequently drifted into post-absorption stupor, requiring Nee to carry it on her shoulder, which had severely hampered her ability to fight.


They virus was similar in many respects and function to Borg nanoprobes, much to the chagrin of each. In part because of the semblance, neither could assimilate/absorb the other's drones/units, leading to skirmishes where the objective was to kill the other. On unabsorbed targets, the pervasive virus swiftly rode the bloodstream to the brain, where it stimulated an often rudimentary or atrophied telepathic center to reach for the nearest They unit. At the same time, insertion of genetic code - the assault virii carried a diversity - into cells produced secretion of a hypnotic calming agent which not only sapped a potentially struggling being of the will to resist, but opened the target's mind to the budding link with They.


Newly absorbed species were rarely good candidates for immediate submersion into the Chaos of They. Often several generations of selected breeding and genetic manipulation was required before a species could be fully integrated into They as a true individual. Initial linkages were very tenuous connections consisting of hypnotic secretions and telepathy tuned to They frequencies. Eons of experience had perfected They's pacification of a sentient through biofeedback methods which relied on the target to trick him/her/itself into believing it had no recourse but to submit. However, unless individuals were suitably modified through species-specific retrovirus engineering, there was danger a strong-willed mind could shake off They's influence. Those few races without any telepathic sense were designated as biologically inferior and promptly exterminated such that a successor could evolve in its place.


Nova directed Nee, Hru, and Tum along a secured passage, using additional units to block the drones that were attempting to follow. Order retreated as it realized its foray was futile. Bloody stalemate re-established, They began to delicately probe into the captive human's mind.


Who are you? What are your duties? interrogated They.


The dreamy, nearly incoherent answer came from a mind unaware of its new link to They and Chaos. Yeoman Tina Jones, Starfleet liaison to incoming ships at Waystation.


Why were you transported with Order drones? You are not an assimilated unit.


Tina's mind was dazedly wandering. It did not reply immediately, instead posing a query of its own. Who are you?


They. You are now of They. Why were you transported with Order drones?


Order?


Borg. Why were you transported with Order drones?


I asked to return, but I wasn't supposed to go there, responded Tina. A barrage of impressions, mental babbling, welled up from visual, memory, and cognitive centers. They seized upon the information, swiftly deciphering it.


Order had tricked us! raged They. Tina shrunk back from the exclamation; still slung over Nee's shoulder, she whimpered despite her unconscious state. Somewhere, a dozen sensitive symbionts were struck dead with hemorrhages by a strategy-bred cerebrate's emotive outpouring. Order has bluffed us! Lured us! 


Tina quailed, But...but all those soldiers! I know some of them! Second didn't say anything about assimilation. What about Captain Beck? My friends?


Order is as order does, reminded They to the increasingly panicked human. Order assimilates, that is its nature. They spread the final oblivion of Entropy through introduction of Chaos, that is They nature.


No...no...it can't be...


They left Tina to her commiseration, unable to do much other than offer comfort. Although she was low in the hierarchy of Starfleet and could provide little tactical knowledge, she would make excellent genetic rootstock to begin domestication of humans. The easiest course of action would be to recast them as a symbiont, although potential existed (maybe) as a new cerebrate type; their species physiology, without extensive manipulation, was not suited for the rigors of assault or vacuum work. Part of They was already studying the problem. Whatever the outcome, the final path would eventually allow humans to experience true individuality as a part of They.


They noted, These Borg are not even linked with Order.


Affirmative, said They, the Borg are alone.


The Collective does not know of our presence, insinuated They.


They mused, The display of assimilation by these Borg means the sub-collective realizes their bluff has been called. It is unlikely unassimilated sentients now exist on the station, nor on the two Starfleet vessels, assuming a drone presence there. The Borg are contained.


Continued They, following They's train of thought, We can proceed at a slow pace. No reinforcements will arrive and we can "rescue" this station from Order. Psyche profiles of the Federation indicates our actions will be regarded as heroic. Our toehold in the quadrant is assured.


We agree, declared They.


But I may still exterminate these Borg drone by drone? queried Nova, worry peaking as his revenge appeared to be taken away.


You may, affirmed They.


Nova breathed a mental sigh of relief, purples of stress spiraling over his exterior epidermis calming to a neutral tan. As he began to finalize preparations for the next wave of assault units, he noticed a physiological anomaly at nerve cluster alpha-three. The twinge of pain, mere annoyance, was repeated.


Heavy tactical units were blind to their insides: symbionts and other free-roving units served as mobile eyes and ears. Cameras were the providence of Order. Unfortunately, internal units were both more and less flexible than mechanical sensors, and the current situation showed the limitation as something had to be directed to the area of pain.


A symbiont pattered down a corridor once part of a respiratory system long altered to serve other purposes. Nova nudged the unit's simple mind, allowing it to move at its own pace. He saw, smelled, heard, felt what the unit sensed as he voyaged within his own body. Whereas the symbiont lived in the now, belief of individuality restricted to ME, Nova was cataloguing himself, trying to ascertain the cause of the minor damage.


The symbiont halted, focusing on a being not-They. It sucked in breath to call an alarm as programmed, but Nova stopped the impulse, urging the unit to advance for a closer look. The intruder was obviously Borg, unprocessed beyond recent nanoprobe injection and likely an ex-Waystation crewman. The garments it wore were unlike those of Tina, but military dress was proven to follow many codes, especially when civilians were integrated into the overall hierarchy. As to its current actions, it was systematically severing the pained nerve cluster fiber by fiber.


Nova was uncertain. How did this Borg arrive? What was its purpose? Was its presence and behavior an indication of cognitive breakdown on the part of the controlling sub-collective due to severance of link with the Collective? Nova sent the symbiont closer.





*****





Dean was happy. This strange place was odd and gooey, but he had found something fun to do. The white fibers sounded like guitar strings when he plucked them and broke with a satisfying "twang" noise. A small voice at the far reaches of his damaged brain - Wilcox before a fifteen meter header - was aghast at this second assimilation, but it was easily ignored by all the bright and fluffy things of the world.


"Jello," mumbled Dean as another string split. "Does it glow, will it shine, will it leave a trail of slime?"


Movement out of the corner of his eye caught Dean's attention. He turned his head towards it, seeing a small person with oversized head, floppy elephant ears, and huge eyes. If Wilcox had possessed the appropriate IQ, the term "bipedal Chihuahua" might have crossed his mind. Unfortunately, Dean was not that smart. The symbiont looked like...


"Puppy!"


Explorer had a complete compliment of pets. They all tended to run and hide if Nurse Holly brought her husband around during his daily walk.


Nanoprobes are versatile quasi-machines. The multiple varieties are capable of many things if programmed correctly, able to adapt and function in a wide range of environments. Unknown to any of Cube #347, the nanites had met their match in Wilcox as they tried to alter very damaged mental pathways to fit a standard Borg profile. In response, the nanoprobes which circulated in Dean's blood had changed themselves, and now were highly divergent compared to the normal nanoprobe.


"Puppy puppy jello puppy!" coaxed Dean at the top of his voice.


The symbiont crept closer, huge eyes riveted on Dean. It entered grabbing distance.


"Gotcha Puppy!" crowed Dean. He concentrated, feeling for that weird place in his mind where Cappy Borgie lived. {Cappy Borgie! Puppy! I love Puppy!}


The response was curt. {We are busy. Do not think. Thinking is bad.}


Dean peered down at the struggling, squeaking symbiont. Dean thought happy thoughts. Assimilation tubules emerged from the back of his hand and sunk into the captive's side.





*****





Nova's link with the symbiont was lost. He assumed it was dead. The final visual from the unit had been the sight of hands reaching down and the sensation of being lifted off the ground. No matter. It had been advanced in age and would have been euthanized soon so as to save it a painful decline into senility. Five assault units were on the way and they would deal with the loose Borg.


Nova's primary consciousness rode that of the assault units jogging down the corridor towards nerve cluster alpha-three. Ji, whom possessed the best auditory reception of the five, heard the noise first. A final bend brought a disturbing sight into view.


"Twang! Jello Borg jello? Twang!" The Borg broke a nerve fiber with each "Twang!", watching the white thread curl back on itself. Perched on its shoulder was the symbiont, throat working as it tried to mimic the drone's verbalizations. Large ears twitched; head turned. The assault units recoiled as They made out the mottled gray blotches which were slowly materializing on the small biped's skin.


"Jewo-wo-wo," squealed the assimilated symbiont. The Borg's head swiveled to see what had captured the small unit's attention.


Attack! roared Nova. Destroy the monstrosity!





*****





Dean smiled - more people had come to be friends! He had tried to tell Cappy Borgie and Borgie Buggy about his new puppy, but neither would listen. They told him they were busy fighting something called They. Dean thought "They" a very silly name.


{Friends for Puppy? Friends for Dean?} Dean asked Puppy. Puppy had been thrilled to be given a name. It seemed Puppy had never had a name before, although it had always wanted one. Intellect-wise, the symbiont had less IQ than Wilcox, which wasn't saying much considering the latter was officially brain-dead.


Puppy's answer came as pictures rather than actual words, true cognitive ability bred from his symbiont genetic line twenty thousand years ago. The impression was one of "more friends!" And lime jello.


The pair thought happy thoughts. The assault units never had a chance to escape...Deanification.





*****





"Return! Return and be terminated!" bellowed Weapons towards the retreating backs of the most recent They assault. {They will not comply,} pouted the head of the weapons hierarchy. His violent tendencies and desire to follow They were reined in by the narrowest of command and control margins.


{You are acting very unBorg,} sternly said Captain. {You will cease the irrelevant threats. Even if it is They.} Weapons fumed, but began to reorder and redeploy his hierarchy onboard Waystation in light of the latest advance. He desired to attack the heavy tactical unit head-on, but was in the minority.


{Sensors sees more transporter signs originating from the They unit,} reported Sensors.


Second, still on Cube #347, intercepted the incoming information. {To or from Waystation?}


{From.}


{They are planning something. Partition #3, calculate probability of regrouping in preparation of overwhelming attack versus They are giving up the assault ahead of a campaign to destroy all structures in the vicinity.} Second was not looking on the bright side of death. {Partition #1, report on progress towards modifying nanoprobes to affect They units.}


{Zilch,} chorused the drones currently comprising partition #1. {We need input from the Greater Consciousness.}


{Dandy,} growled Second, {we, a bunch of imperfectly assimilated freaks, are supposed to unravel a problem which the Collective has not been able to solve, and apply it before we are terminated or reduced to a level of extreme inefficiency. Captain, these tasks are useless.}


Captain was having troubles of his own.


{Cappy! Cappy Borgie! I got a jello puppy! Pumpkin! Ween!}


{That's nice. Remember what I told you about thinking?}


{Don't?}


{Very good. Don't think. This includes talking to me. We are very busy right now.}


{Puppy?}


{Not now. Do. Not. Think.}


Dean was very good at not thinking. Captain swore he could hear the brain damaged drone "click" off. Back to more relevant things, like the situation threatening to explode in Main Engineering.


All drones forced to work near Main Engineering had put one, if not more, force fields between themselves and the pissed off demon-woman who was Captain Lisa Beck. Captain periodically eavesdropped on the comm line from Engineering; the human had yet to stop swearing, but at least objects were no longer flying through the air. He would not have believed an unaugmented human female could shot-put a pizza oven, if he had not witnessed the action via Waystation's internal sensors.


Anticipating a momentary break in the battle with They, Captain gingerly prodded the computer to open an intercom channel to Main Engineering. "We have things to discuss," he began.


"You bet your sweet metallic a** we do!" shouted Beck. "You went and assimilated Federation personnel on MY watch. I may not like the marines, I may not like Section 31, but I like having them turned into drones even less." A masculine mumble. "Admiral, begging your pardon, I really don't care what you think. You are going to be leaving the station eventually, while I have to stay here and pick up the pieces."


Captain ignored the secondary comments. "They have been deassimilated and returned to Waystation. We cannot deal with the distraction of new drones while in battle with They. This sub-collective does have its limits."


"Well, Mister Captain Borg, I want your butt back here in Main Engineering, or at the very least turn off these damn force fields."


"We may be imperfectly assimilated, but we are not stupid. And neither is this drone." The conversation, such as it was, fell apart after that point. Captain turned the intercom system off.


{Second, report,} ordered Captain.


{You know the answer.}


Captain sighed, {I do.}


Sensors flooded Captain's perceptions with grid data, both Waystation and Cube #347. {Explorer arrives. And Sensors has seen another series of transportations to the heavy tactical unit.} Captain shunted the information aside. As much as he hated to admit it, resistance was becoming quite futile.






Dean's circle of friends was growing. In fact, he was now wandering the pinkish hallways of this yucky place looking for more friends, Puppy sitting on his shoulder. Some of his new friends were smarter than him, and most were more spiky. These people had all manner of odd appendages, often of the sharp variety. Nurse Holly didn't like him to play with sharp objects, but it was probably okay in this case since he wasn't the one actually possessing them.


Not all of Dean's new friends could speak aloud, but those who could were now singing "Spinal Meningitis Got Me Down." Borgie Buggy would be proud. Jup asked why they didn't ask Nova to be a friend.


{No-va?} asked Dean. {Purple chairs. I love Cappy Borgie.}


Jup was hard to understand at times. The difficulty may have had more to do with Dean's ambiguous thought processes than that of the more coherent unit. {Nova. Individual all around. We are in Nova.}


Dean halted in the middle of the verse he was leading. His friends also stopped. {Nova?} questioned Dean, finger pointing at a slimy wall.


Jup clapped his claws in assent. {Yes, Nova! Shall we let Nova be a friend?}


Dean cracked a wide grin as he scratched Puppy's bald head. {All friends! Nova friend!} Wilcox and over a thousand Deanified units thought many happy thoughts.





*****





Nova was panicking as he felt parts of himself become unresponsive. The sensation the heavy tactical unit was experiencing was akin to watching a degenerative disease wither a previously healthy body. No matter how many assault units he transported back to himself or brought out of hibernation, all failed, all fell to leprous Order; and now the Borg were attacking him.


Giant heart pumps and perfectly controlled rings of muscle restricted fluid flow to the afflicted areas. Nanoprobes traveled swiftest in the bloodstream as they searched for higher order nerve centers. Unfortunately, Nova was losing the internal battle with himself. Five kilometers is a large bulk to assimilate, but continuous input from over a thousand jello-chanting nanite factories is difficult to resist.


They were in a state of alarm, as it appeared the Borg had successfully broken the microscopic stalemate which prevented assimilation of units and absorption of drones. Cerebrates spun tales of paranoia, of fantasy, individuals shouting to be heard over the milling mental crowd.


The drone was bait, a trap, declared They, to lure us. We swallowed it whole, and now we are doomed!


They wailed, The Tina was wrong, was fed false information! The sub-collective was a part of Order the entire time, waiting for the correct conditions to present before striking.


It must go beyond that, knowingly said They. The Federation was a part of the larger trap. They "brought" the cube to this quadrant, after all, and sacrificed their own citizens to assimilation.


This galaxy is out to get us, whispered They fearfully, nonexistent facial tic working overtime.


Symbionts scrambled over their cerebrate charges, massaging ganglions and spitting out the They version of a chill pill. The titanic motherships themselves, placid creatures of low intellect of a size to dwarf heavy tactical units, broadcast empathic distress. Hormonal depressants slowly brought They back from the black pit of hysteria.


We must pull our expedition force back, decided They with a semblance of calm. The Borg may know of our location and attempt to strike now that they know their nanoprobes work.


They concurred, And we must devise a new virus, one which will not only protect units from assimilation, but bring Order into Chaos. Entropy will prevail!


Entropy will prevail! The colonization fleet will meet with the expedition in less than a millennium; and what is another ten centuries after a hundred thousand Home years of Chaos? They posed the rhetorical question to Theyself upon a note of drug-induced triumph.


Nova raised a mental appendage and plaintively asked, But what about me? These conclusions are all well and good, but I am losing myself to Order. I can feel my individuality falling from the safety of Chaos.


They boomed, You know what to do. Individuality is about sacrifice.


Nova did know what to do, had known what the answer would be despite a wisp of self-delusional hope. His purpose as a heavy tactical unit was fulfilled, and he had failed most spectacularly. Limitless Entropy was not his soul's destination, but rebirth into the confining shell of a heavy tactical unit. Splotches of dark blue streamed across an increasingly gray epidermis as Nova wept.


Suicide was easy to implement. Release of nerve paralyzing toxins into the bloodstream required mere milliseconds. The action was followed by relaxation of offensive acid glands, allowing the powerful liquids to eat into the body proper. Nova disengaged his pain centers as the first waves of agony swept along his five kilometer frame. The assault units, torpedoes, symbionts, and other support They under the heavy's direct supervision were not neglected, for they too would be denied to Order.


Nova let his mind wander as the battle between death and lime jello pumpkins began to overtake his higher cognitive pathways. I am coming gene-mate Atom, he called.





*****





"I have something on my boards," shouted Porter to Beck. He glanced across Engineering to the spacious closet in which Browning was now locked, minus pizza oven. "Sensors. Banshee has arrived in system." He paused, "And we have an incoming communication as well."


Beck levered herself up from under a console, multitool in hand. She had finally given up her tirade and was helping others in Main Engineering to reroute the severely Borg-compromised systems back to Starfleet control. She had not realized how extensively the self-proclaimed imperfect sub-collective had wormed into Waystation's computers. "Is it for us from the Banshee?"


Porter shrugged, "I don't think so. It is from the heavy and is being broadcast to anyone with a receiver. Right now we appear to have control of the com system. Shall I put it on speakers?"


"Yes," said Beck.


The moaning tones of singing whales thundered through Main Engineering. It quieted to a background roar as translation algorithms deciphered the otherworldly speech. Miss Sex Muffin of the Month was back. "Jello jello jello. Jello jello jello. I can't put my finger on it," she cooed seductively.


"What the hell?" asked Beck to an equally puzzled crew.






"Jello jello jello. Jello jello jello. I can't put my finger on it," babbled a voice from many a male's favorite dream. "We love Cappy Borgie. Aren't you surprised when I touch the dwarf inside?"


Baxter was on the bridge, sitting in his chair. He peered at Larkin at Ops, then commented to no one in particular, "You know, except for the woman's voice, that sounds an awful lot like Wilcox."





*****





The epidermis of the heavy tactical unit had lost its chameleonlike luster and was now a necrotic gray. Large sections of skin bubbled in slow motion as digestive acids strong enough to dissolve the strongest starship metals ate through defenseless flesh. A fissure five hundred meters long ripped through exterior armor, exposing innards to the destructive desiccation of vacuum. Vital liquids entered a freeze-evaporation cycle as they leaked into the uncompromising medium of space. The unit was dying.


A shudder ran the five kilometer length of the enormous space-faring creature, muscles contracting in a final death spasm. Mind ravished courtesy of Dean, body quickly followed. Neural poisons floated in non-circulating blood, their work complete. Acids ate deeper and deeper into the giant corpse, finally entering into power cores. The universe never paused in its on-going subatomic dance as Nova lit Waystation's vicinity with the brilliance of his namesake.





*****





"Cappy Borgie! Puppy! Look Dean's Puppy!" spouted an unfortunately familiar voice behind Captain following the sound of a transporter materialization. He carefully turned his body and winced as his fears were realized. Wilcox stood holding a They symbiont up for Captain's inspection. The devolved biped blinked solemnly as it fluttered its unsupported legs.


Captain locked a transporter beam onto Dean and his "Puppy," sending both to Maintenance Bay #2. {Priority level compulsion, target drone maintenance and assimilation hierarchies: deassimilate Dean, NOW! Comply.} Startled acknowledgments trickled in from both hierarchies. Captain did not notice the assimilated state of the symbiont; Deanified units had never linked to Borg fractal subspace frequencies.


The few assault units left on Waystation were dropping dead, much to Weapons' vocal frustration. Captain was reining the weapons hierarchy, not allowing them to charge forward into a possible trap, when background datastream from the sensor grid overwhelmed his senses. As with every other drone, he flinched as a fireball lit up in his mind, heavy tactical unit vaporizing with atomic fury. Automatic programs initiated to filter the glare to more tolerable levels. Cessation of light and a scan by Cube #347 sensors revealed charred hunks of flesh. The They threat was unexplainably...gone.


With a "pop" and a mass of static, the white noise produced by billions of conversations occurring at the speed of electronic thought filled an uncomfortable void in Captain's mind. He stood motionless, mind blank, a blissful smile stretching little used facial muscles, and basked in the security of the Greater Consciousness. The simple pulsating, rushing river of the Collective informed him Cube #347's severance had not been afforded much importance in the greater scheme of things. {Our link is re-established,} needlessly informed Delta.


{All drones return to the cube,} ordered Captain.






Starfleet personnel emerged hesitantly from Waystation's nooks and crannies. Security fields disappeared as Porter ordered the extraneous (and dangerous) cores powered down and physically detached from the grid. Repairs were underway on the station and aboard Starfleet vessels to eradicate Borg presence from computer systems.


The Borg. The human mind is extremely flexible in accepting what hours earlier might have been adamantly denied; other Alpha Quadrant species appear to have similar mentalities. All drones, alive and dead, seemed to have returned to their cube, intent unknown. Hours of waiting passed, during which the most basic of primal urges demanded fulfillment - clean up. If the Borg were to attack the utterly defenseless Federation outpost, at least they would find toilet seats freshly sanitized for their protection and decks recently mopped.


Less than half an hour after the mass exodus of drones, Dean Wilcox of the Explorer was found wandering Starfleet Square Mall clutching what appeared to be a personified Chihuahua. No one was quite sure how he had (1) managed to travel from Explorer to Waystation, and (2) emerged from the Borg versus They battles with not a scratch on him. Wilcox was in no mental condition to relate his adventure. Reunited with wifely caretaker Holly on Explorer, he had simply said "I love jello Cappy Borgie" as if the nonsense phrase explained all. Holly had been ecstatic over the complete sentence, pronouncing his experience a good one.


One of the messy consequences of the Borg/They skirmishes was a preponderance of dead assault units. For the first time Starfleet people were able to take a close look at the less mutilated forms. Spikes and spines, talons and claws, venom sacs and quills, skin impermeable to phaser fire...the list of attributes continued until even the most skeptical marine was convinced of They's mincemeat-making ability. Eventually a dazed Yeoman Tina Jones was found under the bodies of outwardly unmarked units. She was rushed to Sick Bay; and unlike Dean, she was perfectly able to relate her encounter in minute detail.






"Are you feeling better, Tina?" asked Doctor Nelson.


Tina rubbed her temples as she sat on the side of the biobed. She kept her eyes closed. "It depends on what you mean by better. I'm alive, I think."


Beck broke in, "This is all heartwarming, and such, but I want to know: what was it like?"


Tina squinted at the captain of Waystation. The lights in the sick bay were too bright. She remembered everything. "Well, you know, courtesy of Lieutenant Russel, I spent several days on and off in a Borg's body. While in 3 of 8's mind, I knew without a doubt that the Collective views drones as tools, nothing more, nothing less. Very honest way of thinking, I guess." Tina drew in a deep breath and continued. "They...They...They promote individualism where none really exists. Think back to high school and all the cliques. Each one claims to be unique with each person different, but if you look at it, all whom are part of the group look and think alike. And if you are on the outside.... Anyway, They civilization is based on a self-delusional lie. A very big and very dangerous lie. We'd do better with the Borg."






The Greater Consciousness expressed surprise (and disappointment) over Cube #347's survival. It had not shed any tears after the sub-collective had been drawn into the ring, instead ratcheting up the speed of the science platform to its maximum with a desire to arrive at the target star while interesting things were still occurring. All the cube's experiences, from initial trap to They assault upon Waystation, was downloaded from the sub-collective's memories.


The Collective processed data, leaving Cube #347 on the Borg version of "hold". Neo-classical muzak echoed through still corridors and over alcove tiers. Hours passed as the Borg mind exhaustively calculated odds, ran simulations, and pondered upon They's next moves. A decision concerning They was reached, in conjunction with new data from automated probes high above the galactic plane: They were in full retreat. The Federation, on the other hand...


The order, the compulsion, from the Greater Conscious was clear, unambiguous. And expected.


<<The chance of assimilation imperfection infection is outweighed by possible gain. Assimilate them all.>>





*****





Meanwhile, in a galaxy far distant from the Milky Way -


"Minor planetoid in the corner pocket" called Q as he carefully aimed. The asteroid swung around a gas giant at high speed, missing the pinpoint black hole by mere kilometers. The billiards game was not going well.


Q snorted. "Lousy shot. Let me show you how a pro does it. Terrestrial, side pocket." The earth-sized planet, red with shifting iron-oxide sands interlaced with occasional glimmer of dying lakes, spun on its axis, careening at a rapid pace towards another of the system's six black holes. The cloud-capped globe - lifeless but for a few self-replicating molecules any proper paleoxenobiologist would deem belonging to the realm of exotic chemistry - disappeared. 


"You're cheating," groused Q. He didn't want to admit he was lousy at solar billiards. A board game like 'Paradoxes and Time Lines' was much more enjoyable.


Q ignored Q. "And for my next trick, bolonite asteroid off that comet, around the sun, and into the far corner pocket. Nothing but net. Any bets I can't pull it off?"


"I'll place the evolution of the Hydrins on it; you can fiddle with their destiny if the rock goes in. If you make it, then I'll know you've been cheating," claimed Q.


Q mildly replied, "Hydrins? The hairy ostriches with two heads? You obviously have no faith in my talent. I'm already making big plans for them as we speak."


The named asteroid began its odyssey across the Q-doomed system. It had absolutely no bearing on the outcome of events a billion light years away.





*****





Traveling great distances, eeling between the threads of space-time, leaves no wayfarer unscathed. The ancient builders of the lambda transportation system, the same ring Cube #347 had passed through, were many things. They were kind to animals, very intelligent, had an exquisite recipe for fresh salsa, and firmly believed in the adage "There is no such thing as a free lunch." Therefore, all ships (and material within) that used the ring system without first paying a toll were branded on the sub-atomic level with a resonate gate "bar code." Once out the other side, a preset grace period was allowed for the vessel to pay the toll. Money removed the brand. If no payment was forthcoming after a set time, the gate latched onto the delinquent resonant pattern and pulled all things - ship, people, possible illegal goods - back to the point of departure. Regardless of era, species, or moderating effects of civilization, all custom agents are similar in one respect - absolutely no sense of humor.


Cube #347 was tardy on paying its toll to a race long scattered to dust among universe's cosmic winds. Tens of thousands of light years distant, the final functional lambda gate of a transportation system once linking galaxies counted down to zero. The simple computer tagged the cube for non-payment, sent a request to a nonexistent office for absentee custom officials, and began preparations to retrieve the offenders. There was no such thing as a free lunch.





*****





"We are the Borg. Prepare to be assimilated. Your technological and biological distinctiveness will be adapted to service us. Resistance is...." The Collective Voice booming over every Waystation speaker and echoing through the hallways of all local Federation ships abruptly cut. Almost immediately, damage reports began to roll in.






On Banshee -


Vorezze rolled around on the floor as his brain was subjected to a horrible sensation of microphone feedback. The screaming went on and on and on and on....


He awoke to the white ceiling of the sickbay, Benzra's armored back looming nearby. A shift of head showed many biobeds occupied, crewmen sporting a wide range of injuries and levels of consciousness. Lolling his head the other direction brought into view a surgical tray with medical instruments surrounding a fat metallic oval reminiscent of a bloated tick. The object, complete with tattered umbilicus, reminded Jad of something.


"Crud," whispered Vorezze, hand struggling up to feel behind his neck. The neural transceiver was gone, replaced by a slight divot. His frantic patting and increasingly vulgar curses attracted Benzra's attention.


The Flarn peered at Vorezze, "I ssssssee you are awake. I removed the thing which wassssssss caussssing your problemsssss. It wasssssss easssssy to yank out." Benzra motioned to a nurse to tranquilize a thrashing patient.


"No, you don't understand," moaned Vorezze, "you have to remove every last microfiber with the main body, otherwise the bits and pieces may grow back."


Benzra stared. "Oh well. Your problem, not mine. I have a ssssssick bay full of people. Your doctor asssked if I could asssist for several hoursss on thissss ship. I agreed. Why doessssss your sssssspeciesss' promote such weaknessssessss? It would be eassssier to terminate the lot and breed a sturdier sssssstock. At the very leasssst, you would have a lot of meat in the freezer."


Jad blanched. "That is disgusting." Benzra shrugged - cultural differences - and turned to leave. "Wait! Can I go? How is the ship doing?"


Benzra paused. "The ship ssssurvivesssss. A lot of the Borg sssstuff dissssappeared with the cube. Engineering issss in a sssssstate of chaossss. Many injuriessss from sssysstem malfunctionsssss. You are sssstill here, ergo, the ship is ssstill here." The Flarn stared at Vorezze, daring him to dispute such an obvious truth. "If you can move, you should leave. I have tonssss of people to fix. I do not need a voice whining that I didn't do my job right. I think Commander Charlotte will be mildly dissssappointed you did not die, or at leasssst were not sssseriously maimed to the point of irreparable brain damage. That isssss my impressssion of the situation."


On Explorer -


Baxter peered behind the open ceiling, water streaming off his face and soaking his uniform, puddling on the seat of his captain's chair, the arms of which upon he balanced. He studied the pipes for a few seconds, then ordered, "Wrench." The tool was handed to him. His socks were wicking up the minor waterfall, threatening to flood his already squishy shoes.


Bang, bang, bang! Bang, bang, bang! The business end of the wrench was applied to a certain sprinkler head. Gush eventually became mere torrent, and finally dripping trickle. Baxter would complain to Hartley for engineering to do something, but before the internal communication system shorted out, she had been cursing in languages he could have sworn were unpronounceable by the human throat. The gist was she was so swamped (pun unintended) by other, more vital concerns, a ship-wide failure of the back-up fire suppressant system was a very minor incident.


The bridge crew was isolated from the rest of the ship - turbolifts dead, local computer systems shorted out or nonfunctional. The sprinkler deluge was not possible to escape because the doors to the various bridge anterooms were locked closed. Of all the times for the emergency "what if we have a decompression" system to work....


A primal scream of rage arose from the direction of the munchie replicator. Conway began to pound on the inoffensive machine. "Coffee! Coffee! Give me my coffee!"


Baxter nodded, flipping wet hair out of eyes. Things seemed to be puttering along normally. "Everyone okay? Other than the commander, that is."


Wet yesses were returned from everyone. J'hana seemed to have taken out her anger on her assigned pipe, which was now leaking the entire contents of the fire suppressant system all over the science consoles. Someone had pried up a deckplate to allow the water to drain. Hopefully it wouldn't short out a vital system, like life support or the Bolian lavatory.


Baxter sat heavily in his chair. Splash. Wet underwear was highly uncomfortable, but he didn't want the others see him trying to fix a developing wedgie. He sighed, "I guess we wait, then. Hopefully someone will remember to rescue us before the deck floods. Oh, and remind me later to have a talk with Starfleet Command about the concept and necessity of sprinklers on a starship."


On Waystation -


"Repeat again," ordered Beck, speaking into a Fun Time Walkie-Talkie with Real Short-wave Capability and Nifty Color Scheme commandeered from Dillon's Supply Depot, "the last part was fuzzy."


Porter's tinny voice emerged from the hand-held device; all internal (and external) communications were shot. "I'm down <buzz> sewage reclamation. There was a node <buzz> computer junction here. <buzz> out life support for the lower saucer. We'll have it fixed before <buzz>. The only major problem I foresee is the station smelling like <buzz> and old socks for the next several days. The air sterilizers are <buzz> as well."


"As much as I'd not mind losing the marines and Section 31 bastards stuck below, it probably wouldn't look too good in my report. Fix it."


"<buzz>. Over and out." The connection clicked dead.


Beck examined her walkie-talkie. "Ensign," she called to a passing woman with PADD in hand and budding insanity to her eyes, "go find Dillon. Tell him if he can't find something other than Perky Purple and Yummy Yellow, I'll ask Russel to take a closer look at his stock. That store's security system is anything but standard, and I know," Beck paused significantly, "there are other quasi-illegal items in his inventory. Or there will be if I don't receive a decently colored walkie-talkie." The ensign nodded and left.


The day, all one hour of it thus far, was not proceeding well. First she had been woken to red alert klaxons and the information the Borg were finally acting like Borg. A quick change of clothing and an emergency transport to the command deck was rewarded with the cube disappeared, along with every single bit of Borg hardware installed on the station. Unfortunately, the very busy drones had rerouted many systems through the vanished nodes. It was amazing Waystation had not subsequently disintegrated or exploded. Beck wondered how Explorer, Banshee, and the various tugs and minor ships orbiting the station fared.


"Help! Help!" screamed Porter's voice from the discarded walkie-talkie. Beck grabbed it, pressing down the transmit button with her thumb.


"I'm here. What's happening?"


"There's been a major backwash of raw replicator sludge. I don't think I can hold her together much <buzz>!"


"Hold what together?" Beck could feel a vague rumbling shaking her bones. Oh-oh. Waystation was theoretically too big and stable to vibrate, hence the "station" part of the name.


"I have to vent it all!" Pause. "Ah, s<buzz>!"


Waystation's inertial dampers and associated gyros, one of the few uncompromised systems, whined in complaint as hundreds of thousands of gallons of replicator sludge, the basic matter replicators drew upon to make a variety of objects, was flushed. The high speed ejecta impacted a Section 31 tug which had otherwise avoided major Borg-related damage, consolidating around the poor vessel and freezing. Crippled station sensors recorded the action, relaying it to a single functional viewscreen at Ops.


Beck groaned and covered her face with one hand. The day had just begun.






Several hours later, the worst of the problems controlled, captains Beck and Baxter met with Section 31 admiral Neumann. While Vorezze was also present, back of neck heavily bandaged, he remained silent, distant. Two aides hovered nearby; the marines whom had been ever-present over the last three weeks were conspicuously absent. 


Admiral Neumann leaned on the conference table, hands flat against the surface. "I have asked you here to tell you of events as they are going to happen over the next several days. Beck, you can protest all you like, but you really should be flattered I'm informing you and Baxter at all." 


Lisa's eyes narrowed. "I think I liked the Borg better," she said. "At least you knew what to expect from them. Section 31 seems to be a bunch of silver-tongued changelings in Federation clothing claiming the ends justify the means."


Neumann harrumphed. "The ends do justify the means. You just can't see the bigger picture from your vantage point, while Section 31 can. We plan for the long term. Anyway, we have begun packing and will leave within the week, as soon as everything has been put back together the way it was when we arrived. Before we leave, all Waystation computers and logs remotely associated with this mission will be wiped and data reentered to reflect the reality-to-be: an infection by spaceborne siliconian parasites. Explorer will receive a similar treatment, except a month worth of meaningless tasks will be substituted, all occurring several sectors away."


"Gad, not that BS again. I didn't believe the story when I first heard it. Why will I, or anyone else here for that matter, believe it after you've altered a few computer files?"


Baxter glanced at Beck, then at Neumann. He carefully held his face expressionless, willing himself to become invisible.


"Why? Because Section 31's parting gift will be deployment of the Mass Telepathic Coercion Broadcasting System, or MTCMS."


Baxter interrupted, "Is it anything like the Emergency Broadcasting System? You know, the periodic tests subspace stations run in the event of a planetary natural disaster? I really hate that drawn out tone."


"Captain Baxter," said Neumann crossly, "special care will be taken in your adjustment. No one must ever guess the true reason behind the EBS."


Meanwhile, Beck leaned towards Vorezze, catching the latter's attention. "Does Section 31 really have such a device? It sounds highly illegal."


Vorezze nodded slowly. "Unfortunately, yes. Cardassians were developing it, until all the blueprints were lost in a fire and the primary researcher 'disappeared'. Section 31 doesn't use it often. The side-effects in some individuals can be difficult to explain without suggesting hallucinatory drugs."


"Enough," barked Neumann, "as I was saying, the MTCMS will be deployed, providing everyone with suitable memories complimentary with the altered files. As far as Waystation personnel who remained on board are concerned, the period of decontamination was extremely boring. Explorer will be towed out and dumped at a suitable location and undergo similar conditioning. Any questions?"


Beck asked, "Yah, one actually...what about Section 31? The paper trail of what happened here will remain in your department, open to scrutiny. Eventually this whole misadventure, from Borg to They, will come to light, with damning evidence pointing at your department's jealousy of Inventory's access to Borg technology."


Vorezze answered before the increasingly red Neumann could explode. "I've been told all those involved here will undergo the MTCMS processing, including the admiral. Everything remotely related to this project will be burned or scrambled. The original 'Project Fish On' file will be labeled as unfeasible and hidden at the bottom of a pile of administrative papers so big it is on the verge of becoming its own black hole. The potential embarrassment factor for Section 31 is just too high, even if the Admiral Neumann won't admit it."


Beck smiled, baring her teeth at the admiral in a wicked grin. "Good. I hope he experiences the side-effects you mentioned."


"You just don't know when to quit, Captain Beck," Neumann snarled. "This briefing is at an end. I hope we never have to cross paths again." The admiral sharply waved at his aides to follow him. Jad shrugged, following his superior out of the room. Baxter looked at Beck curiously.


"Why do you agonize him?"


Beck levered herself out of the chair she had been sitting in. "Well, if I'm not to remember any of this, I might as well get as much satisfaction as possible. Come on," Lisa headed for the door leading to the command deck proper, "I have to see how the crew is doing chipping that tug out of the frozen sh**, and then I have a few ideas I'll need your help on to make the admiral's stay here even more miserable. And afterwards, I hope you are up to a little writing, because I plan to make hardcopies of everything that transpired here and hide them. I will not give in to Section 31 so easily."


Baxter pursed his lips and reminded himself for the umpteenth time to not put himself on Lisa's bad side: the Borg were preferable. He did not envy Admiral Neumann, nor Section 31, the grudge they had fostered.





*****





EPILOGUE






"We are the Borg. Prepare to be assimilated. Your technological and biological distinctiveness will be adapted to service us. Resistance is..."


The universe blinked. Gone was Waystation, gone were its irrelevant defenders, gone was all traces of Federation. In its place was a dim white dwarf and a very large ring of dull metal surrounding a small sea of liquid silver. A cloud of debris surrounded the cube. By slow increments, the dwarf was steadily brightening towards its original luminosity.


"...futile."


{What the hell?} asked Second. {What happened?}


A crowd of similar sentiments was raised. Over the chaotic, directionless hubbub, Sensors bemoaned, {Sensors has lost her exterior antennae clusters again. The [pickled herring of love] is fuzzy!}


It quickly became very clear with the ample evidence around that the ring had brought Cube #347 back to the start of its odyssey. The debris cloud around the cube consisted of the various components which had been installed on Waystation and in the Starfleet ships. Whoever the ancient builders of the ring were, they were very efficient: all technologies, down to the smallest screw, were accounted for. Compromised Federation systems tens of thousands of light years distant probably resembled hardware Swiss cheese.


On the plus side, the link with the Collective was strong and as immediate as it could ever be between the Whole and one wayward imperfect sub-collective. The response to Cube #347's abrupt return to the Delta quadrant and failure to perform as ordered was a billion-mind sigh. Inefficient, imperfect. <<Return to previous task.>> Cube #347 would go back to stalking species #8511 while sub-collectives specialized for research studied the ring and how best to adapt its representative technologies to the Borg.


As Captain split his attention between directing the cube out of the system, plotting a course to intersect the last known spoor trace of species #8511, coordinated repair priorities, and the multitudes of additional tasks he had to oversee, a hail was received.


"We apologize for the delay, but multiple translation algorithms had to be devised to allow for mutual understanding. The scans we employed only examined language database; no other computer systems were probed. Please remain in this system. Custom agents of Transgalactic Shipping Unlimited will be arriving shortly. This message will automatically repeat."


Captain stepped on the gas, ignoring Delta's protests and warnings indicating extreme stress upon engine cores. 






---------------


Here concludes
"A Fish Story." Cube #347 is back in the Delta Quadrant, the Alpha
Quadrant regulars are returned to their postings, and life in the Star Traks
universe continues its winding, drunken weave. 
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